EQUINIX INC Form 10-Q

November 03, 2017

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q

QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF \circ_{1934}

For the quarterly period ended September 30, 2017

OR

..TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to

Commission File Number 000-31293

EQUINIX, INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware 77-0487526

(State of incorporation) (I.R.S. Employer

Identification No.)

One Lagoon Drive, Redwood City, California 94065

(Address of principal executive offices, including ZIP code)

(650) 598-6000

(Registrant's telephone number, including area code)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports) Yes \circ No " and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes \circ No "

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files). Yes \circ No "

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting company or an emerging growth company. See definitions of "large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer," "smaller reporting company," and "emerging growth company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):

Large accelerated filer ý Accelerated filer

Non-accelerated filer "Smaller reporting company"

Emerging growth company "

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. "

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes "No \circ

The number of shares outstanding of the registrant's Common Stock as of November 2, 2017 was 78,233,697.

Table of Contents

EQUINIX, INC.

INDEX

		Page No.
Part I - I	Financial Information	1,0,
Item 1.	Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited):	<u>3</u>
	Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets as of September 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016	<u>3</u>
	Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Three and Nine Months Ended September 30 2017 and 2016	<u>*4</u>
	Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the Three and Nine Months Ended September 30, 2017 and 2016	<u>5</u>
	Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2017 and 2016	<u>l</u> 6
	Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements	7
Item 2.	Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	<u>36</u>
Item 3.	Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk	<u>58</u>
Item 4.	Controls and Procedures	<u>59</u>
Part II -	Other Information	
Item 1.	Legal Proceedings	<u>61</u>
Item 1A	Risk Factors	<u>61</u>
Item 2.	Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds	<u>79</u>
Item 3.	<u>Defaults Upon Senior Securities</u>	<u>79</u>
Item 4.	Mine Safety Disclosure	<u>79</u>
Item 5.	Other Information	<u>79</u>
Item 6.	<u>Exhibits</u>	<u>80</u>
Signatuı	<u>res</u>	<u>82</u>
Index to	<u>Exhibits</u>	<u>83</u>
2		

Table of Contents

PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

EQUINIX, INC.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in thousands, except share and per share data)

(in thousands, except share and per share data)		
	September 30	, December 31,
	2017	2016
	(Unaudited)	
Assets		
Current assets:		
Cash and cash equivalents	\$1,599,988	\$748,476
Short-term investments	29,572	3,409
Accounts receivable, net	597,242	396,245
Other current assets	217,006	319,396
Total current assets	2,443,808	1,467,526
Long-term investments	10,885	10,042
Property, plant and equipment, net	9,006,171	7,199,210
Goodwill	4,226,490	2,986,064
Intangible assets, net	2,335,175	719,231
Other assets	285,967	226,298
Total assets	\$18,308,496	\$12,608,371
Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity		
Current liabilities:		
Accounts payable and accrued expenses	\$657,229	\$581,739
Accrued property, plant and equipment	205,444	144,842
Current portion of capital lease and other financing obligations	60,201	101,046
Current portion of mortgage and loans payable	84,455	67,928
Other current liabilities	149,295	133,140
Total current liabilities	1,156,624	1,028,695
Capital lease and other financing obligations, less current portion	1,612,188	1,410,742
Mortgage and loans payable, less current portion	2,551,510	1,369,087
Senior notes	5,717,276	3,810,770
Other liabilities	728,681	623,248
Total liabilities	11,766,279	8,242,542
Commitments and contingencies (Note 10)		
Stockholders' equity:		
Common stock, \$0.001 par value per share: 300,000,000 shares authorized; 78,233,670	79	72
and 71,409,015 shares outstanding	19	12
Additional paid-in capital	9,718,580	7,413,519
Treasury stock, at cost; 402,575 and 408,415 shares	(146,369)	(147,559)
Accumulated dividends	(2,433,600)	(1,969,645)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss	(783,947)	(949,142)
Retained earnings	187,474	18,584
Total stockholders' equity	6,542,217	4,365,829
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity	\$18,308,496	\$12,608,371
See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.		

Table of Contents

EQUINIX, INC. CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS (in thousands, except per share data)

	Three Months Ended		Nine Months Ended		
	September 3	30,	September 3	0,	
	2017	2016	2017	2016	
	(Unaudited)				
Revenues	\$1,152,261	\$924,676	\$3,168,207	\$2,669,342	
Costs and operating expenses:					
Cost of revenues	582,360	470,302	1,573,524	1,354,949	
Sales and marketing	157,619	110,936	428,112	325,358	
General and administrative	185,336	181,239	558,090	515,605	
Acquisition costs	2,083	12,505	31,510	64,635	
Impairment charges		7,698		7,698	
Gains on asset sales		(27,945)		(33,187)	
Total costs and operating expenses	927,398	754,735	2,591,236	2,235,058	
Income from continuing operations	224,863	169,941	576,971	434,284	
Interest income	2,291	762	9,820	2,528	
Interest expense	(121,828	(92,200)	(352,554)	(293,395)	
Other income (expense)	(1,076	2,938	545	(56,217)	
Loss on debt extinguishment	(22,156	(9,894)	(42,103)	(10,499)	
Income from continuing operations before income taxes	82,094	71,547	192,679	76,701	
Income tax expense	(2,194	(22,778)	(24,912)	(25,957)	
Net income from continuing operations	79,900	48,769	167,767	50,744	
Net income from discontinued operations, net of tax		2,681		14,306	
Net income	\$79,900	\$51,450	\$167,767	\$65,050	
Earnings per share ("EPS"):					
Basic EPS from continuing operations	\$1.02	\$0.69	\$2.20	\$0.73	
Basic EPS from discontinued operations		0.04		0.21	
Basic EPS	\$1.02	\$0.73	\$2.20	\$0.94	
Weighted-average shares	78,055	71,190	76,283	69,689	
Diluted EPS from continuing operations	\$1.02	\$0.68	\$2.18	\$0.72	
Diluted EPS from discontinued operations		0.04		0.20	
Diluted EPS	\$1.02	\$0.72	\$2.18	\$0.92	
Weighted-average shares for diluted EPS	78,719	71,908	76,948	70,389	
Cash dividends declared per common share	\$2.00	\$1.75	\$6.00	\$5.25	
See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated final	ncial stateme	nts.			

Table of Contents

EQUINIX, INC.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) (in thousands)

	Three Mor	ths Ended	Nine Mont	hs Ended
	September 30,		September	30,
	2017	2016	2017	2016
	(Unaudited	d)		
Net income	\$79,900	\$51,450	\$167,767	\$65,050
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:				
Foreign currency translation adjustment ("CTA") gain (loss)	100,909	(32,603)	408,830	(215,065)
Net investment hedge CTA gain (loss)	(60,723)	(34,721)	(191,121)	4,163
Unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale securities, net of tax effects of \$(108), \$(693), \$(178) and \$(1,113)	243	1,487	(85)	2,382
Unrealized gain (loss) on cash flow hedges, net of tax effects of \$4,379 \$1,384, \$17,670 and \$(1,263)	(13,070)	(4,153)	(52,468)	3,789
Net actuarial gain on defined benefit plans, net of tax effects of \$(4), \$(3), \$(14) and \$(9)	13	7	39	21
Total other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax	27,374	(69,983)	165,195	(204,710)
Comprehensive income (loss), net of tax	\$107,274	\$(18,533)	\$332,962	\$(139,660)
See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statement	s.			

Table of Contents

EQUINIX, INC.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in thousands)

(III tilousalius)	Nine Months Ended September 30,
	2017 2016
	(Unaudited)
Cash flows from operating activities:	
Net income	\$167,767 \$65,050
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:	
Depreciation	622,135 534,026
Stock-based compensation	129,602 115,730
Amortization of intangible assets	128,068 93,384
Amortization of debt issuance costs and debt discounts	20,100 13,709
Provision for allowance for doubtful accounts	6,889 6,541
Impairment charges	
Gain on asset sales	— (33,187)
Gain on sale of discontinued operations	— (4,242)
Loss on debt extinguishment	42,103 10,499
Other items	3,437 14,843
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:	
Accounts receivable	(202,430) (72,807)
Income taxes, net	(53,608) 1,021
Accounts payable and accrued expenses	44,952 (11,526)
Other assets and liabilities	35,339 (22,004)
Net cash provided by operating activities	944,354 718,735
Cash flows from investing activities:	
Purchases of investments	(57,926) (31,736)
Sales and maturities of investments	32,867 41,796
Business acquisitions, net of cash and restricted cash acquired	(3,628,526) (1,767,227)
Purchases of real estate	(64,964) (28,118)
Purchases of other property, plant and equipment	(946,048) (727,044)
Proceeds from sale of assets	47,767 828,197
Net cash used in investing activities	(4,616,830) (1,684,132)
Cash flows from financing activities:	
Proceeds from employee equity awards	41,625 34,143
Payment of dividends	(463,914) (374,151)
Proceeds from public offering of common stock, net of offering costs	2,126,341 —
Proceeds from senior notes	2,449,700 —
Proceeds from loans payable	1,059,800 710,404
Repayments of capital lease and other financing obligations	(60,252) (100,863)
Repayments of convertible debt, mortgage, and loans payable	(63,520) (986,465)
Repayment of senior notes	(500,000) —
Debt extinguishment costs	(23,020) (10,181)
Debt issuance costs	(56,886) (11,751)
Other financing activities	(900) —
Net cash provided by (used) in financing activities	4,508,974 (738,864)
Effect of foreign currency exchange rates on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash	26,450 13,130
Change in cash balances included in assets held for sale	- (3,755)

Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash	862,948	(1,694,886)	
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of period	773,247	2,718,427	
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period	\$1,636,195	\$1,023,541	
Code and each combact and	¢ 1 500 000	¢007.015	
Cash and cash equivalents	\$1,599,988	\$987,915	
Current portion of restricted cash included in other current assets	25,079	25,305	
Non-current portion of restricted cash included in other assets	11,128	10,321	
Total cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash shown in the condensed consolidated statement of cash flows	\$1,636,195	\$1,023,541	

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.

Table of Contents

EQUINIX, INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unaudited)

1. Basis of Presentation and Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared by Equinix, Inc. ("Equinix" or the "Company") and reflect all adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring adjustments, which in the opinion of management are necessary to fairly state the financial position and the results of operations for the interim periods presented. The condensed consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2016 has been derived from audited consolidated financial statements as of that date. The condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"), but omit certain information and footnote disclosure necessary to present the statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America ("U.S. GAAP"). For further information, refer to the Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto included in Equinix's Form 10-K as filed with the SEC on February 27, 2017. Results for the interim periods are not necessarily indicative of results for the entire fiscal year. Consolidation

The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Equinix and its subsidiaries, including the acquisitions of certain Verizon data center assets from May 1, 2017, the IO UK data center operating business from February 3, 2017, the Paris International Business ExchangeTM ("IBX") data center from August 1, 2016 and Telecity Group plc ("TelecityGroup") from January 15, 2016. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Income Taxes

The Company began operating as a real estate investment trust for U.S. federal income tax purposes ("REIT") effective January 1, 2015, and thereafter received a favorable private letter ruling ("PLR") from the U.S. Internal Revenue Service ("IRS") that validated the Company's position with respect to specified REIT compliance matters. As a result, the Company may deduct the distributions made to its stockholders from taxable income generated by the operations of the Company parent and its qualified REIT subsidiaries ("QRSs"). The Company's dividends paid deduction generally eliminates the U.S. taxable income of the Company parent and its QRSs, resulting in no U.S. income tax due. However, the Company's taxable REIT subsidiaries ("TRSs") will continue to be subject to income taxes on any taxable income generated by them. In addition, the foreign operations of the Company will continue to be subject to local income taxes regardless of whether the foreign operations are operated as a QRS or TRS.

The Company provides for income taxes during interim periods based on the estimated effective tax rate for the year. The effective tax rate is subject to change in the future due to various factors such as the operating performance of the Company, tax law changes and future business acquisitions.

The Company's effective tax rates were 12.9% and 33.8% for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016, respectively. The decrease in effective tax rate is primarily driven by the realization of unrecognized tax benefits in the current period related to the Company's tax positions as a result of the expiration of a statute of limitations. Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations

Assets and liabilities to be disposed of that meet all of the criteria to be classified as held for sale as set forth in the accounting standard for impairment or disposal of long-lived assets are reported at the lower of their carrying amounts or fair values less costs to sell. Assets are not depreciated or amortized while they are classified as held for sale. A component of a reporting entity or a group of components of a reporting entity that are disposed or meet the criteria to be classified as held for sale should be reported in discontinued operations if the disposal represents a strategic shift that has (or will have) a major effect on an entity's operations and financial results. The accounting guidance requires a business activity that, on acquisition, meets the criteria to be classified as held for sale be reported as a discontinued operation. For further information on the Company's assets held for sale and discontinued operations, see Notes 4 and 5.

Reclassifications

Certain amounts in prior periods have been reclassified to conform to current period presentation.

<u>Table of Contents</u>
EQUINIX, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued)
(Unaudited)

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Accounting Standards Not Yet Adopted

In August 2017, Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") No. 2017-12 Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815): Targeted Improvements to Accounting for Hedging Activities. This ASU was issued to improve the financial reporting of hedging relationships to better portray the economic results of an entity's risk management activities in its financial statements and to simplify the application of the hedge accounting guidance in current GAAP. This ASU permits hedge accounting for risk components involving nonfinancial risk and interest rate risk, requires an entity to present the earnings effect of the hedging instrument in the same income statement line item in which the hedged item is reported, no longer requires separate measurement and reporting of hedge ineffectiveness, eases the requirement for hedge effectiveness assessment, and requires a tabular disclosure related to the effect on the income statement of fair value and cash flow hedges. This ASU is effective for annual or any interim reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2018 with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact that the adoption of this standard will have on its consolidated financial statements.

In May 2017, FASB issued ASU No. 2017-09 Compensation—Stock Compensation (Topic 718). This ASU was issued primarily to provide clarity and reduce both diversity in practice and cost and complexity when applying the guidance in Topic 718 to a change to the terms or conditions of a share-based payment award. This ASU affects any entity that changes the terms or conditions of a share-based payment award. This ASU provides guidance about which changes to the terms or conditions of a share-based payment award require an entity to apply modification accounting in Topic 718. This ASU is effective for annual or any interim reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017 with early adoption permitted. The adoption of ASU 2017-09 is not expected to have a significant impact on its consolidated financial statements.

In March 2017, FASB issued ASU No. 2017-07 Compensation—Retirement Benefits (Topic 715). This ASU was issued primarily to improve the presentation of net periodic pension cost and net periodic post-retirement benefit cost. This ASU requires that an employer reports the service cost component in the same line item or items as other compensation costs arising from services rendered by the pertinent employees during the period. It also requires the other components of net periodic pension cost and net periodic post-retirement benefit cost to be presented in the income statement separately from the service cost component and outside a subtotal of income from operations, if one is presented. Additionally, only the service cost component is eligible for capitalization, when applicable. This ASU is effective for annual or any interim reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017. While the Company is currently evaluating the impact that the adoption of this standard will have on its consolidated financial statements, the Company does not expect the adoption of ASU 2017-07 to have a significant impact on its consolidated financial statements due, in part, to the immateriality of a retirement benefit plan it holds.

In February 2017, FASB issued ASU No. 2017-05 Other Income—Gains and Losses from the Derecognition of Non-financial Assets (Subtopic 610-20). This ASU is to clarify the scope of the non-financial asset guidance in Subtopic 610-20 and to add guidance for partial sales of non-financial assets. This ASU defines the term in substance non-financial asset and clarifies that non-financial assets within the scope of Subtopic 610-20 may include non-financial assets transferred within a legal entity to a counterparty. The ASU also provides guidance on the accounting for what often are referred to as partial sales of non-financial assets within the scope of Subtopic 610-20 and contributions of non-financial assets to a joint venture or other non-controlled investee. This ASU is effective for annual or any interim reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017. Early adoption is permitted for interim or annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2016. The Company is currently evaluating the impact that the adoption of this standard will have on its consolidated financial statements, but does not expect to early adopt this ASU.

In January 2017, FASB issued ASU No. 2017-04 Intangibles - Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Simplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairment. This ASU is to simplify the subsequent measurement of goodwill. The ASU eliminates step

2 from the goodwill impairment test and the requirements for any reporting unit with a zero or negative carrying amount to perform a qualitative assessment and, if it fails that qualitative test, to perform step 2 of the goodwill impairment test. An entity still has the option to perform the qualitative assessment for a reporting unit to determine if the quantitative impairment test is necessary. This ASU should be applied on a prospective basis. This ASU is effective for the Company for its annual or any interim goodwill impairment tests in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019. Early adoption is permitted for interim or annual goodwill impairment tests performed on testing dates after January 1, 2017. The Company is currently evaluating the impact that the adoption of this standard will have on its consolidated financial statements.

In January 2017, FASB issued ASU No. 2017-01, Business Combinations (Topic 805): Clarifying the Definition of a Business. The ASU provides new guidance to assist entities with evaluating when a set of transferred assets and activities is a business. The

<u>Table of Contents</u>
EQUINIX, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued)
(Unaudited)

definition of a business affects many areas of accounting including acquisitions, disposals, goodwill, and consolidation. The ASU is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2017, including interim periods within those periods with early adoption being permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact that the adoption of this standard will have on its consolidated financial statements and expects to adopt the standard prospectively on January 1, 2018.

In October 2016, FASB issued ASU 2016-16, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Intra-Entity Transfers of Assets Other Than Inventory. This ASU requires the recognition of the income tax consequences of an intra-entity transfer of an asset other than inventory when the transfer occurs. This ASU is effective for fiscal years and interim period within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2017, with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact that the adoption of this standard will have on its consolidated financial statements.

In June 2016, FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments. The ASU requires the measurement of all expected credit losses for financial assets held at the reporting date based on historical experience, current conditions, and reasonable and supportable forecasts. The ASU requires enhanced disclosures to help investors and other financial statement users better understand significant estimates and judgments used in estimating credit losses, as well as the credit quality and underwriting standards of an organization's portfolio. These disclosures include qualitative and quantitative requirements that provide additional information about the amounts recorded in the financial statements. In addition, the ASU amends the accounting for credit losses on available-for-sale debt securities and purchased financial assets with credit deterioration. The ASU is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after

the accounting for credit losses on available-for-sale debt securities and purchased financial assets with credit deterioration. The ASU is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2019, with early adoption permitted for all organizations for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2018. The Company expects this ASU to impact its accounts receivable and is currently evaluating the extent of the impact that the adoption of this ASU will have on its consolidated financial statements.

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842) ("ASU 2016-02"). In September 2017, the

FASB issued ASU 2017-13 ("ASU 2017-13"), which provides additional implementation guidance on the previously issued ASU 2016-02. Under the new guidance, lessees will be required to recognize the following for all leases (with the exception of short-term leases) at the commencement date: (1) a lease liability, which is a lessee's obligation to make lease payments arising from a lease, measured on a discounted basis; and (2) a right-of-use asset, which is an asset that represents the lessee's right to use, or control the use of, a specified asset for the lease term. The new lease guidance simplified the accounting for sale and leaseback transactions primarily because lessees must recognize lease assets and lease liabilities. Lessees (for capital and operating leases) and lessors (for sales-type, direct financing, and operating leases) must apply a modified retrospective transition approach for leases existing at, or entered into after, the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented in the financial statements. The modified retrospective approach would not require any transition accounting for leases that expired before the earliest comparative period presented. Lessees and lessors may not apply a full retrospective transition approach. The ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, including interim periods within those fiscal years, with early adoption permitted. The Company continues to assess the impact of adopting this standard will have on its consolidated financial statements and believes the ASU will have a significant impact on its consolidated financial statements due, in part, to the substantial amount of leases it has. The Company expects to record a significant increase in assets and liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet at adoption due to the recording of right-of-use assets and corresponding lease liabilities.

In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-01, Financial Instruments- Overall (Subtopic 825-10) ("ASU 2016-01"), which requires all equity investments to be measured at fair value with changes in the fair value recognized through net income other than those accounted for under equity method of accounting or those that result in consolidation of the investees. The ASU also requires that an entity present separately in other comprehensive income the portion of the total change in the fair value of a liability resulting from a change in the instrument-specific credit risk when the

entity has elected to measure the liability at fair value in accordance with the fair value option for financial instruments. In addition, the ASU eliminates the requirement to disclose the fair value of financial instruments measured at amortized cost for entities that are not public business entities and the requirement to disclose the method(s) and significant assumptions used to estimate the fair value that is required to be disclosed for financial instruments measured at amortized cost on the balance sheet for public business entities. ASU 2016-01 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017, including interim periods within those fiscal years. The Company currently holds publicly traded equity securities that are classified as "available-for-sale" and are carried at fair value with unrealized gains and losses reported in stockholders' equity as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). Upon the adoption of this ASU, the unrealized gains and losses will be recognized through net income. The Company has not elected to measure its financial liabilities at fair value therefore, does not expect to have an impact on the accounting for its financial liabilities. The Company is currently evaluating the impact that the adoption of this standard will have on its consolidated financial statements.

<u>Table of Contents</u>
EQUINIX, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued)
(Unaudited)

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers ("ASU 2014-09") Topic 606 and issued subsequent amendments to the initial guidance with ASU 2015-14, ASU 2016-08, ASU 2016-10, ASU 2016-11, ASU 2016-12, ASU 2016-20 and ASU 2017-13, collectively referred as "Topic 606." Topic 606 will replace most existing revenue recognition guidance in U.S. GAAP. The core principle of Topic 606 is that an entity should recognize revenue for the transfer of goods or services equal to the amount that it expects to be entitled to receive for those goods or services. Topic 606 requires additional disclosure about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from customer contracts, including significant judgments and changes in judgments. Topic 606 allows entities to adopt with one of these two methods: full retrospective, which applies retrospectively to each prior reporting period presented, or modified retrospective, which recognizes the cumulative effect of initially applying the revenue standard as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings in the period of initial application. The Company currently anticipates adopting the standard using the modified retrospective method. Topic 606, as amended, is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017, including interim reporting periods therein (i.e. January 1, 2018, for a calendar year entity). Early application is permitted only as of annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2016, including interim reporting periods within that reporting period. The Company will adopt the standard on January 1, 2018.

While the Company is continuing to evaluate all potential impacts of the standard, the Company believes the most significant impact relates to its accounting for installation revenue and the cost to obtain contracts. Under the new standard, the Company expects to recognize installation revenue over the contract period rather than over the estimated installation life. Under the new standard, the Company is also required to capitalize and amortize certain costs to obtain contracts. Therefore, these costs to obtain contracts will not be immediately expensed, but will be capitalized and amortized.

Furthermore, the Company is making investments in systems and processes and designing operational and internal control structural changes in order to report under the new standard.

Accounting Standards Adopted

In January 2017, FASB issued ASU No. 2017-03, Accounting Changes and Error Corrections (Topic 250). The ASU adds SEC disclosure requirements for both the quantitative and qualitative impacts that certain recently issued accounting standards will have on the financial statements of a registrant when such standards are adopted in a future period. Specially, these disclosure requirements apply to the adoption of ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606); ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842); and ASU No. 2016-13, Financial Instruments-Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments. This ASU is effective immediately. The Company adopted ASU 2017-03 in the three months ended March 31, 2017 by including appropriate disclosure requirements within its condensed consolidated financial statements to adhere to this new ASU. In December 2016, FASB issued ASU No. 2016-19, Technical Corrections and Improvements. This ASU covers a wide range of Topics in the Accounting Standards Codification. Certain aspects of this ASU were effective immediately, while a few of the corrections are effective for the Company for its fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2016, and interim periods within those fiscal years. The Company adopted ASU 2016-19 in the three months ended March 31, 2017. The adoption of ASU 2016-19 did not impact the Company's condensed consolidated financial statements.

In November 2016, FASB issued ASU No. 2016-18, Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Restricted Cash. This ASU applies to all entities that have restricted cash or restricted cash equivalents and are required to present a statement of cash flows. The ASU requires that a statement of cash flows explain the change during the period in the total of cash, cash equivalents, and amounts generally described as restricted cash or restricted cash equivalents. As a result, amounts generally described as restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents should be included with cash and cash equivalents when reconciling the beginning-of-period and end-of-period total amounts shown on the statement of cash flows. This ASU is effective for the Company for its fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017, and interim periods within those fiscal years with early adoption being permitted. This ASU should be applied using a

retrospective transition method to each period presented. The Company adopted ASU 2016-18 in the three months ended March 31, 2017 and applied this ASU retrospectively to the periods presented in the Company's condensed consolidated statements of cash flows. As a result, net cash used in investing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 was adjusted to exclude the change in restricted cash and increased the previously reported amount by \$444.4 million. Restricted cash amounts are primarily time deposits or cash set side as a pledge for our mortgage loan in Germany, an escrow

<u>Table of Contents</u>
EQUINIX, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued)
(Unaudited)

account for a data center project and collateral for the Company's various bank guarantees for the periods ended September 30, 2017 and 2016.

In October 2016, FASB issued ASU No. 2016-17, Consolidation (Topic 810): Interests Held through Related Parties That Are under Common Control. This ASU alters how a decision maker needs to consider indirect interests in a variable interest entity ("VIE") held through an entity under common control. Under this ASU, if a decision maker is required to evaluate whether it is the primary beneficiary of a VIE, it will need to consider only its proportionate indirect interest in the VIE held through a common control party. This ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2016, including interim periods within those fiscal years, with early adoption permitted. The Company adopted ASU 2016-17 in the three months ended March 31, 2017. The adoption of this standard did not impact the Company's condensed consolidated financial statements as it does not hold any interests in a VIE through related parties that are under common control.

In August 2016, FASB issued ASU 2016-15, Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Classification of Certain Cash Receipts and Cash Payments. This ASU provides guidance on the classification of eight cash flow issues to reduce the existing diversification in practice, including (a) debt prepayment or debt extinguishment costs; (b) settlement of zero-coupon debt instruments or other debt instruments with coupon interest rates that are insignificant in relation to the effective interest rate of the borrowing; (c) contingent consideration payments made after a business combination; (d) proceeds from settlement of insurance claims; (e) proceeds from the settlement of corporate-owned life insurance policies, including bank-owned life insurance policies; (f) distributions received from equity method investees; (g) beneficial interests in securitization transactions; and (h) separately identifiable cash flows and application of the predominance principle. The ASU is effective for fiscal years and interim period within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2017, with early adoption permitted. The Company adopted ASU 2016-15 in the three months ended March 31, 2017 and applied this ASU using a retrospective transition method to each period presented in the Company's condensed consolidated statements of cash flows. The adoption of ASU 2016-15 did not impact the Company's condensed consolidated statements of cash flows.

In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-09, Compensation - Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Improvements to Employee Share-Based Payment Accounting ("ASU 2016-09"). This ASU simplifies several areas of the accounting for share-based payment award transactions, including (a) income tax consequences; (b) classification of awards as either equity or liabilities; and (c) classification on the statement of cash flows. This ASU is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2016, and interim periods within those annual periods, with early adoption permitted. The Company adopted ASU 2016-09 in the three months ended March 31, 2017. Beginning on January 1, 2017, the Company began to record the excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation as income tax expense through the statement of operations instead of additional paid-in capital as required under the previous guidance. There was no adjustment to excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation recorded as additional paid-in capital in prior years. Excess tax benefits that were not previously recognized, as well as a valuation allowance recognized for deferred tax assets as a result of the adoption of this ASU, were recorded on a modified retrospective basis through a cumulative-effect adjustment to retained earnings as of the beginning of 2017 totaling \$1.1 million. As a part of the adoption of this ASU, stock compensation awards will have more dilutive effect on the Company's earnings per share prospectively.

Under this guidance, cash flows related to excess tax benefits will no longer be separately classified as financing activities apart from other income tax cash flow. The Company elected to apply this part of the guidance retrospectively, which resulted in a change of \$1.5 million in both net cash provided by operating activities and net cash used in financing activities in the Company's condensed consolidated statement of cash flows for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 to conform with the current period presentation. Additionally, this guidance permits entities to make an accounting policy to estimate forfeitures each period or to account for forfeitures as they occur. The Company elected to continue to estimate forfeitures.

In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-06, Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815), Contingent Put and Call Options in Debt Instruments ("ASU 2016-06"). This ASU clarifies the requirements for assessing whether contingent call (put) options that can accelerate the payment of principal on debt instruments are clearly and closely related to their debt hosts. An entity performing the assessment under the amendments in this ASU is required to assess the embedded call (put) options solely in accordance with the four-step decision sequence. This guidance is to be applied on a modified retrospective basis to existing debt instruments as of the beginning of the fiscal year in which the amendments are effective, and is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2016, including interim periods within those fiscal years. The Company adopted ASU 2016-06 in the three months ended March 31, 2017. The adoption of this standard did not impact the Company's condensed consolidated financial statements. In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-05, Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815), Effect of Derivative Contract Novations on Existing Hedge Accounting Relationships ("ASU 2016-05"). This ASU clarifies that a change in the counterparty to a derivative instrument that has been designated as a hedging instrument under Topic 815 does not, in and of itself, require dedesignation of

Table of Contents

EQUINIX, INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued)

(Unaudited)

that hedging relationship provided that all other hedge accounting criteria continue to be met. This ASU may be applied prospectively or using a modified retrospective approach, and is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2016, including interim periods within those fiscal years. The Company adopted ASU 2016-05 in the three months ended March 31, 2017. The adoption of ASU 2016-05 did not impact the Company's condensed consolidated financial statements.

Three Months

Nine Months

2. Earnings Per Share

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share ("EPS") for the periods presented (in thousands, except per share amounts):

	Tince Wolling		TAILC MION	uis
	Ended		Ended	
	September 30,		September	r 30,
	2017	2016	2017	2016
Net income:				
Net income from continuing operations	\$79,900	\$48,769	\$167,767	\$50,744
Net income from discontinued operations	_	2,681		14,306
Net income	\$79,900	\$51,450	\$167,767	\$65,050
Weighted-average shares used to calculate basic EPS	78,055	71,190	76,283	69,689
Effect of dilutive securities:				
Employee equity awards	664	718	665	700
Weighted-average shares used to calculate diluted EPS	78,719	71,908	76,948	70,389
Basic EPS:				
Continuing operations	\$1.02	\$0.69	\$2.20	\$0.73
Discontinued operations	_	0.04		0.21
Basic EPS	\$1.02	\$0.73	\$2.20	\$0.94
Diluted EPS:				
Continuing operations	\$1.02	\$0.68	\$2.18	\$0.72
Discontinued operations	_	0.04		0.20
Diluted EPS	\$1.02	\$0.72	\$2.18	\$0.92

The following table sets forth weighted-average outstanding potential shares of common stock that are not included in the diluted EPS calculation above because to do so would be anti-dilutive for the periods indicated (in thousands):

	Three	2	Nin	ie	
	Mont	hs	Mo	nths	
	Ende	d	Enc	led	
	Septe	mber	Sep	tember	
	30,		30,		
	2017	2016	201	2 016	
Shares reserved for conversion of 4.75% convertible subordinated notes	_		—	1,193	
Common stock related to employee equity awards	73	22	88	17	
Total	73	22	88	1,210	

12

<u>Table of Contents</u>
EQUINIX, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued)
(Unaudited)

3. Acquisitions

Certain Verizon Data Center Assets Acquisition

On May 1, 2017, the Company completed the acquisition of certain colocation business from Verizon Communications Inc. ("Verizon") consisting of 29 data center buildings located in the United States, Brazil and Colombia, for a cash purchase price of approximately \$3.6 billion (the "Verizon Data Center Acquisition"). The Company funded the Verizon Data Center Acquisition with proceeds of debt and equity financings, which closed in January and March 2017 (See further discussions on the term loan borrowing and senior notes issuance in Note 9 and common stock issuance in Note 11). The Verizon Data Center Acquisition constitutes a business under the accounting standard for business combinations and therefore was accounted for as a business combination using the acquisition method of accounting.

In connection with the Verizon Data Center Acquisition, the Company entered into a commitment letter (the "Commitment Letter"), dated December 6, 2016, pursuant to which JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., Bank of America, N.A. and Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated committed to provide a senior unsecured bridge facility in an aggregate principal amount of \$2.0 billion for the purposes of funding a portion of the cash consideration for the Verizon Data Center Acquisition and the fees and expenses incurred in connection with the Verizon Data Center Acquisition. Following the completion of the debt and equity financings associated with the Verizon Data Center Acquisition in March 2017, the Company terminated the Commitment Letter. See further discussions on the senior notes issuance in Note 9 and common stock issuance in Note 11. The Company paid \$10.0 million of commitment fees associated with the Commitment Letter and recorded \$2.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2016 and \$7.8 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 to interest expense in the condensed consolidated statements of operations.

The Company included the Verizon Data Center Acquisition's results of operations from May 1, 2017 in its condensed consolidated statements of operations and the estimated fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in its condensed consolidated balance sheets beginning May 1, 2017. The Company incurred acquisition costs of approximately \$1.2 million and \$27.6 million during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017, respectively.

Purchase Price Allocation

Under the acquisition method of accounting, the total purchase price is allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed measured at fair value on the date of acquisition. As of September 30, 2017, the Company has not completed the detailed valuation analysis to derive the fair value of the following items including but not limited to, property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and deferred taxes. Therefore, the allocation of the purchase price to assets acquired and liabilities assumed is based on provisional estimates and is subject to continuing management analysis, with assistance from third party valuation advisers. As of September 30, 2017, the Company has updated the preliminary allocation of purchase price for the Verizon Data Center Acquisition from the provisional amounts reported as of June 30, 2017 and the adjustments made during the three months ended September 30, 2017 were not significant. The adjustments in fair value of acquired assets and liabilities assumed did not have a significant impact on the Company's condensed consolidated statements of operations for the three months ended September 30, 2017.

Table of Contents

EQUINIX, INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued)

(Unaudited)

The Company may further adjust these amounts as valuations are finalized and the Company obtains information necessary to complete the analyses, but no later than one year from the acquisition date. The preliminary purchase price allocation is as follows (in thousands):

Cash and cash equivalents	\$1,073	
Accounts receivable	319	
Other current assets	7,319	
Property, plant, and equipment	841,401	
Intangible assets (1)	1,706,100	
Goodwill	1,083,789	
Total assets acquired	3,640,001	
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities	(1,725)
Other current liabilities	(320)
Capital lease and other financing obligations	(17,659)
Deferred tax liabilities	(19,544)
Other liabilities	(6,067)
Net assets acquired	\$3,594,686	6

The nature of the intangible assets acquired is customer relationships with an estimated useful life of 15 years.

(1) Included in this amount is a customer relationship intangible asset for Verizon totaling \$246.1 million. Pursuant to the acquisition agreement, the Company formalized agreements to provide pre-existing space and services to Verizon at the acquired data centers.

The fair value of customer relationships was estimated by applying an income approach. The fair value was determined by calculating the present value of estimated future operating cash flows generated from existing customers less costs to realize the revenue. The Company applied discount rates ranging from 7.7% to 14.4%, which reflected the nature of the assets as they relate to the risk and uncertainty of the estimated future operating cash flows. Other significant assumptions used to estimate the fair value of customer relationships include projected revenue growth, customer attrition rates, sales and marketing expenses and operating margins. The fair value measurements were based on significant inputs that are not observable in the market and thus represent Level 3 measurements as defined in the accounting standard for fair value measurements.

The fair value of property, plant and equipment was estimated by applying the cost approach. The cost approach is to use the replacement or reproduction cost as an indicator of fair value. The premise of the cost approach is that a market participant would pay no more for an asset than the amount for which the asset could be replaced or reproduced. The key assumptions of the cost approach include replacement cost new, physical deterioration, functional and economic obsolescence, economic useful life, remaining useful life, age and effective age. Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the net tangible and intangible assets acquired. The goodwill is attributable to the workforce of the acquired business and the revenue increase from future customers expected to arise after the Verizon Data Center Acquisition. The goodwill is not expected to be deductible for local tax purposes. Goodwill will not be amortized and will be tested for impairment at least annually. Goodwill recorded as a result of the Verizon Data Center Acquisition was attributable to the Company's Americas region. For the three months ended September 30, 2017, the Company's results of continuing operations include the Verizon Data Center Acquisition's revenues of \$137.0 million and net income from continuing operations of \$29.2 million. The Company's results of continuing operations of \$23.7 million and net income from continuing operations of \$23.7 million and net income from continuing operations of \$23.7 million and net income from continuing operations of \$23.7 million and net income from continuing operations of \$23.7 million and net income from continuing operations of \$23.7 million and net income from continuing operations of \$23.7 million and net income from continuing operations of \$23.7 million and net income from continuing operations of \$23.7 million and net income from continuing operations of \$23.7 million and net income from continuing operations of \$23.7 million and net income from continuing oper

On February 3, 2017, the Company acquired IO UK's data center operating business in Slough, United Kingdom, for a cash payment of approximately \$36.3 million ("IO Acquisition"). The acquired facility was renamed London 10 ("LD10") data center. The IO Acquisition constitutes a business under the accounting standard for business

combinations and as a result, was accounted for as a business combination using the acquisition method of accounting. Under the acquisition method of accounting, the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination shall be measured at fair value at the date of the acquisition. As of September 30, 2017, the Company has not completed the detailed valuation analysis to derive the fair value of deferred taxes. The

<u>Table of Contents</u>
EQUINIX, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued) (Unaudited)

Company has updated the preliminary allocation of purchase price for the IO Acquisition from the provisional amounts reported as of June 30, 2017 and the adjustments made during the three months ended September 30, 2017 were not significant. The adjustments in fair value of acquired assets and liabilities did not have a significant impact on the Company's condensed consolidated statements of operations for the three months ended September 30, 2017. The purchase price has been allocated primarily to property, plant and equipment of \$40.3 million, goodwill of \$16.2 million, intangible assets of \$6.3 million, deferred tax assets of \$6.3 million and financing obligations of \$33.1 million on a provisional basis. The nature of the intangible assets acquired is customer relationships with an estimated useful life of 10 years. Goodwill is not expected to be deductible for local tax purposes and is attributable to the Company's EMEA region. Goodwill will not be amortized and will be tested for impairment at least annually. The Company included IO UK's data center operating results from February 3, 2017 in its condensed consolidated statements of operations and the estimated fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in its condensed consolidated balance sheets beginning February 3, 2017. For the three months ended September 30, 2017, the incremental revenues from the IO Acquisition were not significant and for the nine months ended September 30, 2017, the incremental revenues were \$4.0 million. The incremental net losses and acquisition costs were not significant to the Company's condensed consolidated statements of operations for both periods.

Paris IBX Data Center Acquisition

On August 1, 2016, the Company completed the purchase of Digital Realty Trust, Inc.'s ("Digital Realty's") operating business including its real estate and facility, located in St. Denis, Paris for cash consideration of approximately €193.8 million or \$216.4 million at the exchange rate in effect on August 1, 2016 (the "Paris IBX Data Center Acquisition"). A portion of the building was leased to the Company and was being used by the Company as its Paris 2 and Paris 3 data centers. The Paris 2 lease was accounted for as an operating lease and the Paris 3 lease was accounted for as a financing lease. Upon acquisition, the Company in effect terminated both leases. The Company settled the financing lease obligation of Paris 3 for €47.8 million or approximately \$53.4 million and recognized a loss on debt extinguishment of €8.8 million or approximately \$9.9 million in the third quarter of 2016. The Paris IBX Data Center Acquisition constitutes a business under the accounting standard for business combinations and as a result, the Paris IBX Data Center Acquisition was accounted for as a business combination using the acquisition method of accounting.

The Company included the incremental Paris IBX Data Center's results of operations from August 1, 2016 in its condensed consolidated statements of operations and the estimated fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in its condensed consolidated balance sheets beginning August 1, 2016. The Company incurred acquisition costs of approximately \$12.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2016 related to the Paris IBX Data Center Acquisition.

Table of Contents

EQUINIX, INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued)

(Unaudited)

Purchase Price Allocation

Under the acquisition method of accounting, the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination shall be measured at fair value at the date of the acquisition and the Company completed the valuation analysis. The purchase price allocation, which excludes settlement of the Paris 3 financing obligations, was as follows (in thousands):

\$4,073
1,507
794
143,972
11,758
48,835
81
211,020
(2,044)
(2,798)
(42,395)
(755)
\$163,028

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the net tangible and intangible assets acquired. Goodwill is not expected to be deductible for local tax purposes. Goodwill will not be amortized and will be tested for impairment at least annually. Goodwill is attributable to the Company's EMEA region.

The following table presents certain information on the acquired identifiable intangible assets (dollars in thousands):

Intengible Assets	Fair	Estimated Useful Lives	Weighted-average Estimated Useful Lives
Intangible Assets	Value	(Years)	(Years)
In-place leases	\$7,485	0.9-9.4	4.3
Favorable leasehold	4.273	1.9-6.7	5.3
interests	.,_,_	1., 0.,	

The fair value of in-place leases may consist of a variety of components including, but not necessarily limited to the value associated with avoiding the cost of originating the acquired in-place leases. The fair value of favorable leases was estimated based on the income approach, by computing the net present value of the difference between the contractual amounts to be paid pursuant to the lease agreements and estimates of the fair market lease rates for the corresponding in-place leases measured over the remaining non-cancellable terms of the leases. The fair value measurements were based on significant inputs that are not observable in the market and thus represent Level 3 measurements as defined in the accounting standard for fair value measurements.

The fair value of the property, plant and equipment was estimated by applying the income approach or cost approach, such as cash flows or earnings that an asset can be expected to generate over its useful life or the replacement or reproduction cost.

For the three months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016, the incremental revenues and incremental net losses from the Paris IBX Data Center Acquisition were not significant to the Company's condensed consolidated statements of operations. For the nine months ended September 30, 2017, the incremental revenues from the Paris IBX Data Center Acquisition were \$9.1 million, and for the nine months ended September 30, 2016, the incremental revenues were not significant to the Company's condensed consolidated statements of operations. The incremental net losses were not significant to the Company's condensed consolidated statements of operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016.

Table of Contents

EQUINIX, INC.

 $NOTES\ TO\ CONDENSED\ CONSOLIDATED\ FINANCIAL\ STATEMENTS-(Continued)$

(Unaudited)

TelecityGroup Acquisition

On January 15, 2016, the Company completed the acquisition of the entire issued and to be issued share capital of TelecityGroup. TelecityGroup operates data center facilities in cities across Europe. The acquisition of TelecityGroup has enhanced the Company's existing data center portfolio by adding new IBX metro markets in Europe including Dublin, Helsinki, Istanbul, Manchester, Milan, Sofia, Stockholm and Warsaw. As a result of the transaction, TelecityGroup became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

Under the terms of the acquisition, the Company acquired all outstanding shares and all vested equity awards of TelecityGroup at 572.5 pence in cash and 0.0336 new shares of Equinix common stock for a total purchase consideration of approximately £2,624.5 million or approximately \$3,743.6 million. In addition, the Company assumed \$1.3 million of TelecityGroup's vested employee equity awards as part of consideration transferred. The Company incurred acquisition costs of approximately \$42.5 million during the year ended December 31, 2016 related to the TelecityGroup acquisition.

In connection with the TelecityGroup acquisition, the Company placed £322.9 million or approximately \$475.7 million into a restricted cash account. The cash was released upon completion of the acquisition.

Purchase Price Allocation

Under the acquisition method of accounting, the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination shall be measured at fair value at the date of the acquisition and the Company completed the valuation analysis. As of December 31, 2016, the Company updated the final allocation of purchase price for TelecityGroup from the provisional amounts reported as of March 31, 2016, which primarily resulted in increases to intangible assets of \$36.8 million and deferred tax liabilities of \$19.5 million and decreases in capital lease and other financing obligations of \$34.4 million, goodwill of \$22.5 million and assets held for sale of \$36.9 million. The changes did not have a significant impact on the Company's results from operations for the year ended December 31, 2016.

The final allocation of the purchase price is as follows (in thousands):

Cash and cash equivalents	\$73,368	
Accounts receivable	24,042	
Other current assets	41,079	
Assets held for sale	877,650	
Property, plant and equipment	1,058,583	
Goodwill	2,215,567	
Intangible assets	694,243	
Deferred tax assets	994	
Other assets	4,102	
Total assets acquired	4,989,628	
Accounts payable and accrued expenses	(84,367)
Accrued property, plant and equipment	(3,634)
Other current liabilities	(27,233)
Liabilities held for sale	(155,650)
Capital lease and other financing obligations	(165,365)
Mortgage and loans payable	(592,304)
Deferred tax liabilities	(176,168)
Other liabilities	(40,021)
Net assets acquired	\$3,744,886	5

Table of Contents

EQUINIX, INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued)

(Unaudited)

The purchase price allocation above, as of the acquisition date, includes acquired assets and liabilities that were classified by the Company as held for sale (Note 4).

The following table presents certain information on the acquired intangible assets (dollars in thousands):

Intangible Assets	Fair Value	Estimated Useful Lives (Years)	Weighted-average Estimated Useful Lives (Years)
Customer relationships	\$591,956	13.5	13.5
Trade names	72,033	1.5	1.5
Favorable leases	30,254	2.0 - 25.4	19.7

The fair value of customer relationships was estimated by applying an income approach. The fair value was determined by calculating the present value of estimated future operating cash flows generated from existing customers less costs to realize the revenue. The Company applied a weighted-average discount rate of approximately 8.5%, which reflected the nature of the assets as they relate to the estimated future operating cash flows. Other significant assumptions used to estimate the fair value of the customer relationships include projected revenue growth, customer attrition rates, sales and marketing expenses and operating margins. The fair value of the TelecityGroup trade name was estimated using the relief of royalty approach. The Company applied a relief of royalty rate of 2.0% and a weighted-average discount rate of approximately 9.0%. The fair value of the other acquired identifiable intangible assets was estimated by applying a relief of royalty or cost approach as appropriate. The fair value measurements were based on significant inputs that are not observable in the market and thus represent Level 3 measurements as defined in the accounting standard for fair value measurements.

The fair value of the property, plant and equipment was estimated by applying the income approach or cost approach. The income approach is used to estimate fair value based on the income stream, such as cash flows or earnings that an asset can be expected to generate over its useful life. There are two primary methods of applying the income approach to determine the fair value of assets: the discounted cash flow method and the direct capitalization method. The key assumptions include the estimated earnings, discount rate and direct capitalization rate. The cost approach is to use the replacement or reproduction cost as an indicator of fair value. The premise of the cost approach is that a market participant would pay no more for an asset than the amount for which the asset could be replaced or reproduced. The key assumptions of the cost approach include replacement cost new, physical deterioration, functional and economic obsolescence, economic useful life, remaining useful life, age and effective age.

The Company determined the fair value of the loans payable assumed in the TelecityGroup acquisition by estimating TelecityGroup's debt rating and reviewing market data with a similar debt rating and other characteristics of the debt, including the maturity date and security type. On January 15, 2016, the Company prepaid and terminated these loans payable. In conjunction with the repayment of the loans payable, the Company incurred an insignificant amount of pre-payment penalties and interest rate swap termination costs, which were recorded as interest expense in the condensed consolidated statement of operations.

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the net tangible and intangible assets acquired. The goodwill is attributable to the workforce of the acquired business and the significant synergies expected to arise after the TelecityGroup acquisition. The goodwill is not expected to be deductible for local tax purposes. Goodwill will not be amortized and will be tested for impairment at least annually. Goodwill recorded as a result of the TelecityGroup acquisition, except for the goodwill associated with assets held for sale, is attributable to the Company's EMEA region. For the three months ended September 30, 2016, the Company's results of continuing operations include TelecityGroup revenues of \$107.3 million and net loss from continuing operations include TelecityGroup revenues of \$299.0 million and net loss from continuing operations of \$54.4 million.

Table of Contents

EQUINIX, INC.

 $NOTES\ TO\ CONDENSED\ CONSOLIDATED\ FINANCIAL\ STATEMENTS-(Continued)$

(Unaudited)

Unaudited Pro Forma Combined Financial Information

The following unaudited pro forma combined financial information has been prepared by the Company using the acquisition method of accounting to give effect to the Verizon Data Center Acquisition as though it occurred on January 1, 2016. The Company completed the Verizon Data Center Acquisition on May 1, 2017. The operating results of the Verizon Data Center Acquisition for the period May 1, 2017 through September 30, 2017 are included in the condensed consolidated statements of operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017. The unaudited pro forma combined financial information includes adjustments for amortization expenses of acquired intangible assets, transaction related costs, bridge loan commitment fee in connection with the Verizon Data Center Acquisition and the consequential tax effects of these adjustments.

The Company and Verizon entered into agreements at the closing of the Verizon Data Center Acquisition pursuant to which the Company will provide space and services to Verizon at the acquired data centers. These arrangements are not reflected in the unaudited pro forma combined financial information. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017, the Company recognized approximately \$137.0 million and \$223.7 million, respectively, of revenues attributed to the Verizon Data Center Acquisition, which included these arrangements.

The unaudited pro forma combined financial information is presented for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily indicative of the results of operations that would have actually been reported had the Verizon Data Center Acquisition occurred on January 1, 2016, nor is it necessarily indicative of the future results of operations of the combined company.

The following table sets forth the unaudited pro forma combined results of operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016 (in thousands, except per share amounts):

	Three months ended		Nine months ended		
	September 30,		September 30,		
	2017	2016	2017	2016	
Revenues	\$1,152,261	\$1,034,999	\$3,309,381	\$3,000,31	1
Net income (loss) from continuing operations	80,135	35,069	194,504	(37,410)
Basic EPS	1.03	0.45	2.50	(0.49))
Diluted EPS	1.02	0.45	2.48	(0.49)

4. Assets Held for Sale

In June 2016, the Company approved the divestiture of the solar power assets of Bit-isle. In October 2016, the Company entered into a Share Transfer Agreement for the transfer of common stock of Terra Power Co., Ltd., relating to the divestiture of the solar power assets of Bit-isle. The Company received ¥400.0 million upon the closing of the transaction, or approximately \$3.8 million at the exchange rate in effect on October 31, 2016. In November 30, 2016, the Company received an additional ¥2,500.0 million, or approximately \$22.1 million at the exchange rate in effect at the time of receipt. The Company received the remaining payment of ¥5,313.4 million in the first quarter of 2017, or approximately \$47.8 million at the exchange rate in effect on March 31, 2017. During the three months ended September 30, 2016, the Company evaluated the recoverability of the carrying value of its assets held for sale related to the sales agreement signed in October, as discussed above, and concluded that the Company would not recover the carrying value of certain assets. Accordingly, the Company recorded an impairment charge on other current assets of \$7.7 million at September 30, 2016, reducing the carrying value of such assets from \$79.5 million to the estimated fair value of \$71.8 million.

During the fourth quarter of 2015, the Company and TelecityGroup agreed to divest certain data centers, including the Company's London 2 ("LD2") data center and certain data centers of TelecityGroup in the United Kingdom, Netherlands and Germany, in order to obtain the approval of the European Commission for the acquisition of TelecityGroup. The assets and liabilities of LD2, which were included within the EMEA operating segment, were classified as held for sale in the fourth quarter of 2015 and, therefore, the corresponding depreciation and amortization expense was ceased at that time. This divestiture was not presented as discontinued operations in the condensed

consolidated statements of operations, because it did not represent a strategic shift in the Company's business, as the Company continued operating similar businesses after the divestiture. The divestiture was completed on July 5, 2016 and the Company recognized a gain of \$27.9 million on the sale of the LD2 data center, which is included in gains on asset sales in the condensed consolidated statements of operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016.

Table of Contents

EQUINIX, INC.

 $NOTES\ TO\ CONDENSED\ CONSOLIDATED\ FINANCIAL\ STATEMENTS-(Continued)$

(Unaudited)

The revenue and net income generated by LD2 during the three months ended September 30, 2016 were not significant. During the nine months ended September 30, 2016, LD2 generated revenues of \$6.1 million and net income of \$2.3 million.

During the fourth quarter of 2015, the Company entered into an agreement to sell a parcel of land in San Jose, California. The sale was completed in February 2016 and the Company recognized a gain on sale of \$5.2 million. 5. Discontinued Operations

In order to obtain the approval of the European Commission for the acquisition of TelecityGroup, the Company and TelecityGroup agreed to divest certain data centers of TelecityGroup in the United Kingdom, Netherlands and Germany. These TelecityGroup data centers, on acquisition, met the criteria to be classified as held for sale and were therefore reported as discontinued operations. As of January 15, 2016, the date of TelecityGroup acquisition, depreciation and amortization of the reported discontinued operations were ceased.

On July 5, 2016, the Company completed the sale of these data centers and related assets to Digital Realty for approximately €304.6 million and £376.2 million, or approximately \$827.3 million at the exchange rates in effect on July 5, 2016. The Company recognized a gain on sale of the TelecityGroup data centers in discontinued operations of \$4.2 million for the three months ended September 30, 2016. The results of operations for these data centers that were divested have been reported as net income from discontinued operations, net of tax, from January 15, 2016, the date of TelecityGroup acquisition, through July 5, 2016 in the Company's condensed consolidated statements of operations. The results of operations for these data centers during the three months ended September 30, 2016 were not significant. Capital expenditures from the date of acquisition through the date of sale were \$31.5 million. The Company did not record income from discontinued operations, net of tax for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017. The following table presents the financial results of the Company's discontinued operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 (in thousands).

Nine

	TVIIIC		
	Months		
	Ended		
	September		
	30, 2016		
Revenues	\$48,782		
Costs and operating expenses:			
Cost of revenues	24,795		
Sales and marketing	1,030		
General and administrative	7,026		
Total costs and operating expenses	32,851		
Income from discontinued operations	15,931		
Interest and other, net	(1,286)		
Income from discontinued operations before income taxes	14,645		
Income tax expense	(4,581)		
Gain on sale of discontinued operations, net of income taxes	4,242		
Net income from discontinued operations, net of tax	\$ 14,306		

Table of Contents

EQUINIX, INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued)

(Unaudited)

6. Derivatives and Hedging Activities

Derivatives Designated as Hedging Instruments

Net Investment Hedges. The Company is exposed to the impact of foreign exchange rate fluctuations on the value of investments in its foreign subsidiaries. In order to mitigate the impact of foreign currency exchange rates, the Company has issued various foreign currency debt which is designated as hedges against the Company's net investments in foreign subsidiaries. As of September 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016, the total principal amounts of foreign currency debt, which was designated as net investment hedges, were \$2,499.4 million and \$646.2 million, respectively. The Company also uses foreign currency forward contracts to hedge against the effect of foreign exchange rate fluctuations on a portion of its net investment in the foreign subsidiaries. For a net investment hedge, changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument designated as a net investment hedge, except the ineffective portion and forward points, are recorded as a component of other comprehensive income in the condensed consolidated balance sheets.

The Company recorded net foreign exchange losses of \$60.7 million and \$191.1 million in other comprehensive income (loss) for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017 and net foreign exchange gains of \$5.5 million and \$44.4 million in other comprehensive income (loss) for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016, respectively. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016, the Company reclassified net foreign exchange gains of \$40.0 million to gain on sale of discontinued operations. The Company recorded no ineffectiveness from its net investment hedges for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016.

Cash Flow Hedges. The Company hedges its foreign currency translation exposure for forecasted revenues and expenses in its EMEA region between the U.S. Dollar and the British Pound, Euro, Swedish Krona and Swiss Franc. The foreign currency forward and option contracts that the Company uses to hedge this exposure are designated as cash flow hedges under the accounting standard for derivatives and hedging. The Company also uses net purchased collar options to manage a portion of its exposure to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations, where the Company writes a foreign currency call option and purchases a foreign currency put option. When two or more derivative instruments in combination are jointly designated as a cash flow hedging instrument, they are treated as a single instrument.

The Company enters into intercompany hedging instruments ("intercompany derivatives") with wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company in order to hedge certain forecasted revenues and expenses denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar. Simultaneously, the Company enters into derivative contracts with unrelated third parties to externally hedge the net exposure created by such intercompany derivatives.

The following disclosure is prepared on a consolidated basis. Assets and liabilities resulting from intercompany derivatives have been eliminated in consolidation. As of September 30, 2017, the Company's cash flow hedge instruments had maturity dates ranging from October 2017 to August 2019 as follows (in thousands):

	Notional Amount	Fair Value (1)	Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) (2) (3)		
Derivative assets	\$111,080	\$ 5,441	\$ 5,059		
Derivative liabilities	492,159	(29,762)	(34,017)	
Total	\$603,239	\$ (24,321)	\$ (28.958)	

- (1) All derivatives related to cash flow hedges are included in the condensed consolidated balance sheets within other current assets, other assets, other current liabilities and other liabilities.
- (2) Included in the condensed consolidated balance sheets within accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).
- (3) The Company recorded a net loss of \$19.9 million within accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) relating to cash flow hedges that will be reclassified to revenues and expenses as they mature in the next 12 months.

Table of Contents

EOUINIX, INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued)

(Unaudited)

As of December 31, 2016, the Company's cash flow hedge instruments had maturity dates ranging from January 2017 to November 2018 as follows (in thousands):

	Notional Amount	Fair Value (1)	Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) (2) (3)
Derivative assets	\$545,638	\$ 44,570	\$ 42,634
Derivative liabilities	42,207	(1,815)	(1,453)
Total	\$587,845	\$ 42,755	\$ 41,181

- (1) All derivatives related to cash flow hedges are included in the condensed consolidated balance sheets within other current assets, other assets, other current liabilities and other liabilities.
- (2) Included in the condensed consolidated balance sheets within accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).
- (3) The Company recorded a net gain of \$31.9 million within accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) relating to cash flow hedges that will be reclassified to revenues and expenses as they mature over the next 12 months. During the three months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016, the ineffective and excluded portions of cash flow hedges recognized in other income (expense) were not significant. During the three months ended September 30, 2017, the amount of net losses reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) to revenues and the amount of net gains reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) to operating expenses were not significant. During the three months ended September 30, 2016, the amount of net gains reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) to revenues was \$10.1 million and the amount of net losses reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) to operating expenses was \$5.0 million. During the nine months ended September 30, 2017, the amount of net gains from the ineffective and excluded portions of cash flow hedges recognized in other income (expense) was \$3.6 million. During the nine months ended September 30, 2016, net gains from the ineffective and excluded portions of cash flow hedges recognized in other income (expense) were not significant. During the nine months ended September 30, 2017, the amount of net gains reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) to revenues was \$25.8 million and the amount of net losses reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) to operating expenses was \$13.4 million. During the nine months ended September 30, 2016, the amount of net gains reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) to revenues was \$22.7 million and the amount of net losses reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) to operating expenses was \$11.7 million.

Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging Instruments

Embedded Derivatives. The Company is deemed to have foreign currency forward contracts embedded in certain of the Company's customer agreements that are priced in currencies different from the functional or local currencies of the parties involved. These embedded derivatives are separated from their host contracts and carried on the Company's balance sheet at their fair value. The majority of these embedded derivatives arise as a result of the Company's foreign subsidiaries pricing their customer contracts in the U.S. dollar. Gains and losses on these embedded derivatives are included within revenues in the Company's condensed consolidated statements of operations. During the three months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016, gains (losses) associated with these embedded derivatives were not significant. During the nine months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016, the losses associated with these embedded derivatives were \$6.3 million and \$7.3 million, respectively.

Economic Hedges of Embedded Derivatives. The Company uses foreign currency forward contracts to manage the foreign exchange risk associated with the Company's customer agreements that are priced in currencies different from the functional or local currencies of the parties involved ("economic hedges of embedded derivatives"). Foreign currency forward contracts represent agreements to exchange the currency of one country for the currency of another country at an agreed-upon price on an agreed-upon settlement date. Gains and losses on these contracts are included within revenues in the Company's condensed consolidated statements of operations along with gains and losses of the

related embedded derivatives. The Company entered into various economic hedges of embedded derivatives during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017, the gains (losses) associated with these contracts were not significant. During the three months ended September 30, 2016, the gains (losses) associated with these contracts were not significant. During the nine months ended September 30, 2016, the gains associated with these contracts were \$5.3 million.

Table of Contents

EOUINIX, INC.

 $NOTES\ TO\ CONDENSED\ CONSOLIDATED\ FINANCIAL\ STATEMENTS-(Continued)$

(Unaudited)

Foreign Currency Forward and Option Contracts. The Company also uses foreign currency forward and option contracts to manage the foreign exchange risk associated with certain foreign currency-denominated assets and liabilities. As a result of foreign currency fluctuations, the U.S. dollar equivalent values of its foreign currency-denominated assets and liabilities change. Gains and losses on these contracts are included in other income (expense), net in the Company's condensed consolidated statements of operations, along with foreign currency gains and losses of the related foreign currency-denominated assets and liabilities associated with these foreign currency forward and option contracts. The Company entered into various foreign currency forward and option contracts during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017, the Company recognized net losses of \$23.1 million and \$60.2 million, respectively, associated with these contracts. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016, the Company recognized net gains of \$3.2 million and \$44.6 million, respectively, associated with these contracts.

Offsetting Derivative Assets and Liabilities

The following table presents the fair value of derivative instruments recognized in the Company's condensed consolidated balance sheets as of September 30, 2017 (in thousands):

	Gross Amounts	Balance		Dalance	
		Sheet		Sheet (2)	
Assets:					
Designated as hedging instruments:					
Foreign currency forward contracts designated as cash flow hedges	\$5,441	\$	\$ 5,441	\$ (5,441) \$—
Not designated as hedging instruments:					
Embedded derivatives	5,096		5,096		5,096
Economic hedges of embedded derivatives	969		969	(278) 691
Foreign currency forward contracts	6,947		6,947	(1,973) 4,974
	13,012		13,012	(2,251) 10,761
Additional netting benefit		_		(3,680) (3,680)
•	\$18,453	\$	- \$ 18,453	\$ (11,372) \$7,081
Liabilities:					
Designated as hedging instruments					
Foreign currency forward and option contracts designated as cash flow hedges	\$29,762	\$	_\$ 29,762	\$ (5,441) \$24,321
Not designated as hedging instruments:					
Embedded derivatives	3,013	_	3,013		3,013
Economic hedges of embedded derivatives	278		278	(278) —
Foreign currency forward contracts	2,806		2,806	(1,973) 833
•	6,097	_	6,097	(2,251) 3,846
Additional netting benefit	_		_	(3,680) (3,680)
-	\$35,859	\$	-\$ 35,859	\$ (11,372	\$24,487

⁽¹⁾ As presented in the Company's condensed consolidated balance sheets within other current assets, other assets, other current liabilities and other liabilities.

⁽²⁾ The Company enters into master netting agreements with its counterparties for transactions other than embedded derivatives to mitigate credit risk exposure to any single counterparty. Master netting agreements allow for

individual derivative contracts with a single counterparty to offset in the event of default.

Table of Contents

EQUINIX, INC.

 $NOTES\ TO\ CONDENSED\ CONSOLIDATED\ FINANCIAL\ STATEMENTS-(Continued)$

(Unaudited)

The following table presents the fair value of derivative instruments recognized in the Company's condensed consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2016 (in thousands):

	Gross Amounts	Gross Amounts Offset in th Balance Sheet	e Net Amounts (1)	Gross Amounts no Offset in the Balance Sheet (2)	
Assets:					
Designated as hedging instruments:					
Cash flow hedges	. 44.570	ф	Φ 44.570	φ (1.01 . 7	A 40 755
Foreign currency forward and option contracts Net investment hedges	\$44,570	\$ -	 \$ 44,570	\$ (1,815	\$42,755
Foreign currency forward contracts	6,930		6,930	(3,310	3,620
	51,500	_	51,500	(5,125) 46,375
Not designated as hedging instruments:					
Embedded derivatives	9,745		9,745		9,745
Foreign currency forward contracts	8,734		8,734	(1,873) 6,861
	18,479	_	18,479	•) 16,606
Additional netting benefit	_			(-,) (2,436)
	\$69,979	\$ -	_\$ 69,979	\$ (9,434	\$60,545
Liabilities:					
Designated as hedging instruments:					
Cash flow hedges					
Foreign currency forward and option contracts Net investment hedges	\$1,815	\$ -	 \$ 1,815	\$ (1,815) \$—
Foreign currency forward contracts	3,525		3,525	(3,310) 215
	5,340	_	5,340	(5,125) 215
Not designated as hedging instruments:					
Embedded derivatives	1,525		1,525		1,525
Economic hedges of embedded derivatives	866	_	866		866
Foreign currency forward contracts	3,228		3,228) 1,355
	5,619	_	5,619	•	3,746
Additional netting benefit	_	_) (2,436)
	\$10,959	\$ -	_\$ 10,959	\$ (9,434	\$1,525

⁽¹⁾ As presented in the Company's condensed consolidated balance sheets within other current assets, other assets, other current liabilities and other liabilities.

The Company enters into master netting agreements with its counterparties for transactions other than embedded

⁽²⁾ derivatives to mitigate credit risk exposure to any single counterparty. Master netting agreements allow for individual derivative contracts with a single counterparty to offset in the event of default.

Table of Contents

EQUINIX, INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued)

(Unaudited)

7. Fair Value Measurements

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Investments. The fair value of the Company's investments in money market funds approximates their face value. Such instruments are included in cash equivalents. The Company's money market funds and publicly traded equity securities are classified within Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy because they are valued using quoted prices for identical instruments in active markets. The fair value of the Company's other investments, including certificates of deposit, approximates their face value. The fair value of these investments is priced based on the quoted market price for similar instruments or nonbinding market prices that are corroborated by observable market data. Such instruments are classified within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. The Company determines the fair values of its Level 2 investments by using inputs such as actual trade data, benchmark yields, broker/dealer quotes, and other similar data, which are obtained from quoted market prices, custody bank, third-party pricing vendors, or other sources. The Company uses such pricing data as the primary input to make its assessments and determinations as to the ultimate valuation of its investment portfolio and has not made, during the periods presented, any material adjustments to such inputs. The Company is responsible for its condensed consolidated financial statements and underlying estimates.

Derivative Assets and Liabilities. For derivatives, the Company uses forward contract and option models employing market observable inputs, such as spot currency rates and forward points with adjustments made to these values utilizing published credit default swap rates of its foreign exchange trading counterparties and other comparable companies. The Company has determined that the inputs used to value its derivatives fall within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy, therefore the derivatives are categorized as Level 2.

The Company's financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of September 30, 2017 were as follows (in thousands):

	Fair Value at	Fair Value	
	September 30,	Measuremen	nt Using
	2017	Level 1	Level 2
Assets:			
Cash	\$ 1,130,270	\$1,130,270	\$—
Money market and deposit accounts	469,718	469,718	_
Publicly traded equity securities	7,701	7,701	_
Certificates of deposit	32,756	_	32,756
Derivative instruments (1)	18,453	_	18,453
Total	\$ 1,658,898	\$1,607,689	\$51,209
Liabilities:			
Derivative instruments (1)	\$ 35,859	\$	\$35,859
Total	\$ 35,859	\$	\$35,859

Includes both foreign currency embedded derivatives and foreign currency forward and option contracts. Amounts are included within other current assets, other assets, others current liabilities and other liabilities in the Company's accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheet.

Table of Contents

EQUINIX, INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued)

(Unaudited)

The Company's financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2016 were as follows (in thousands):

	Fair Value at December 31,	Fair Value		
		Measurement		
	2016	Using		
	2010	Level 1	Level 2	
Assets:				
Cash	\$ 345,119	\$345,119	\$—	
Money market and deposit accounts	400,388	400,388		
Publicly traded equity securities	6,463	6,463		
Certificates of deposit	9,957		9,957	
Derivative instruments (1)	69,979		69,979	
Total	\$ 831,906	\$751,970	\$79,936	
Liabilities:				
Derivative instruments (1)	\$ 10,959	\$ —	\$10,959	
Total	\$ 10,959	\$ —	\$10,959	

Includes both foreign currency embedded derivatives and foreign currency forward and option contracts. Amounts (1) are included within other current assets, other assets, other current liabilities and other liabilities in the Company's accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheet.

The Company did not have any Level 3 financial assets or financial liabilities as of September 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016.

8. Leases

Capital Lease and Other Financing Obligations

Amsterdam 5 ("AM5") Data Center

In May 2017, the Company entered into an agreement to acquire the land and building for the AM5 IBX data center for cash consideration of €26.7 million or \$30.4 million at the exchange rate in effect on June 30, 2017. The Company had previously leased this IBX data center. As a result of the purchase, the prior lease was effectively terminated and the lease liability was settled in full. The Company settled the financing lease obligation of AM5 data center for €20.0 million or approximately \$22.8 million and recognized a loss on debt extinguishment of €7.2 million or approximately \$8.2 million. The fair value allocated to the ground lease was €6.7 million or \$7.6 million was recorded as other assets and will be amortized through December 2054.

Hong Kong 5 ("HK5") Data Center

In January 2017, the Company entered into an agreement for certain elements of the construction of Hong Kong 5 Data Center. The terms of the construction agreement triggered the Company to be, in substance, the owner of the asset during the construction phase. The Company has accounted for the construction and related agreements as a build-to-suit arrangement. As of September 30, 2017, the Company recorded a financing liability totaling approximately 565.2 million Hong Kong dollars, or \$72.4 million at the exchange rate in effect as of September 30, 2017.

EQUINIX, INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued)

(Unaudited)

Maturities of Capital Lease and Other Financing Obligations

The Company's capital lease and other financing obligations are summarized as follows (in thousands):

	Capital	Other	
	Lease	Financing	Total
	Obligations	Obligations (1)	
2017 (3 months remaining)	\$21,758	\$ 23,065	\$44,823
2018	93,791	100,966	194,757
2019	87,022	87,789	174,811
2020	87,170	87,636	174,806
2021	87,443	89,294	176,737
Thereafter	882,047	973,777	1,855,824
Total minimum lease payments	1,259,231	1,362,527	2,621,758
Plus amount representing residual property value		537,219	537,219
Less amount representing interest	(538,584)	(948,004)	(1,486,588)
Present value of net minimum lease payments	720,647	951,742	1,672,389
Less current portion	(30,043)	(30,158)	(60,201)
Total	\$690,604	\$ 921,584	\$1,612,188

⁽¹⁾ Other financing obligations are primarily build-to-suit lease obligations.

9. Debt Facilities

Mortgage and Loans Payable

As of September 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016, the Company's mortgage and loans payable consisted of the following (in thousands):

	September 30, December	
	2017	31, 2016
Term loans	\$ 2,619,646	\$1,413,582
Mortgage payable and loans payable	46,159	44,382
	2,665,805	1,457,964
Less amount representing unamortized debt discount and debt issuance cost	(31,876)	(22,811)
Add amount representing unamortized mortgage premium	2,036	1,862
	2,635,965	1,437,015
Less current portion	(84,455)	(67,928)
Total	\$2,551,510	\$1,369,087

Senior Credit Facility

On December 17, 2014, the Company entered into a credit agreement with a group of lenders for a \$1,500.0 million credit facility ("Senior Credit Facility"), comprised of a \$1,000.0 million multicurrency revolving credit facility ("Revolving Credit Facility") and a \$500.0 million multicurrency term loan facility ("Term Loan A Facility"). The Senior Credit Facility was amended on April 30, 2015 to convert outstanding U.S. dollar-denominated loans into equivalent amounts denominated in four foreign currencies. The Senior Credit Facility was further amended on December 8, 2015 to increase the Revolving Credit Facility to \$1,500.0 million and to receive commitments from the lenders for a \$250.0 million and £300.0 million seven-year Term B-1 Loans (the "Term B-1 Loan Facility").

Table of Contents

EQUINIX, INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued)

(Unaudited)

On December 22, 2016, the Company entered into a third amendment (the "Third Amendment") to the Senior Credit Facility. Pursuant to the Third Amendment, (i) the Company could borrow up to €1,000.0 million in additional term B loan (the "Term B-2 Loan"), (ii) the interest rate margin applicable to the existing Term B-1 Loan Facility in U.S. Dollars was reduced from 3.25% to 2.50% and the LIBOR floor applicable to such loans was reduced from 0.75% to zero and (iii) the interest rate margin applicable to the loans borrowed under the Term B-1 Loan Facility in Pounds Sterling was reduced from 3.75% to 3.00%, with no change to the existing LIBOR floor of 0.75% applicable to such loans.

On January 6, 2017, the Company borrowed the full amount of the Term B-2 Loan of €1,000.0 million, or approximately \$1,059.8 million, and recorded debt issuance costs of €13.0 million, or approximately \$13.8 million at the exchange rate in effect on January 6, 2017. The Term B-2 Loan bore interest at an index rate based on LIBOR plus a margin of 3.25%. The Term B-2 Loan was issued at par. The Term B-2 Loan must be repaid in equal quarterly installments of 0.25% of the original principal amount starting in the second quarter of 2017, with the remaining amount outstanding to be repaid in full on the seventh anniversary of the funding date of the Term B-2 Loan. As of September 30, 2017, the Company had a €995.0 million outstanding balance, or a total of approximately \$1,175.6 million at the exchange rate in effect on September 30, 2017, under the Term B-2 Loan. As of September 30, 2017, debt issuance costs related to the Term B-2 Loan, net of amortization, were €11.6 million, or \$12.2 million. On August 15, 2017, the Company entered into a fourth amendment (the "Fourth Amendment") to the Senior Credit Facility. Pursuant to the Fourth Amendment, (i) the interest rate margin applicable to loans borrowed under the Term B-1 Loan Facility in US Dollars was reduced from (a) 2.50% to 2.00% in the case of USD Term B-1 Loan Facility indexed to LIBOR and (b) 1.50% to 1.00% in the case of USD Term B-1 Loan Facility indexed to an alternate base rate, (ii) the LIBOR floor applicable to loans borrowed under the Term B-1 Loan Facility in Pounds Sterling was reduced from 0.75% to zero and (iii) the interest rate margin applicable to loans borrowed under the Term B-2 Loan in Euro was reduced from 3.25% to 2.50%.

Senior Notes

As of September 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016, the Company's senior notes consisted of the following (in thousands):

	September 30,	December
	2017	31, 2016
2.875% Euro Senior Notes due 2025 (1)	\$ 1,181,500	\$
4.875% Senior Notes due 2020		500,000
5.375% Senior Notes due 2022	750,000	750,000
5.375% Senior Notes due 2023	1,000,000	1,000,000
5.750% Senior Notes due 2025	500,000	500,000
5.875% Senior Notes due 2026	1,100,000	1,100,000
5.375% Senior Notes due 2027	1,250,000	_
	5,781,500	3,850,000
Less amount representing unamortized debt issuance cost	(64,224)	(39,230)
Total	\$5,717,276	\$3,810,770

⁽¹⁾ The 2.875% Euro Senior Notes are denominated in Euros with €1,000.0 million outstanding as of September 30, 2017.

Redemption of 2020 Senior Notes

On September 28, 2017, the Company redeemed the entire \$500.0 million principal amount of its 4.875% senior notes due 2020 at a redemption price of 102.438% of the principal amount of the notes plus accrued and unpaid interest. The Company recognized a loss on debt extinguishment of \$14.6 million related to the redemption of these notes

comprised of a \$12.2 million early redemption premium and write-off of unamortized debt issuance costs of \$2.4 million.

2025 Euro Senior Notes

On September 20, 2017, the Company issued epsilon1,000.0 million, or approximately \$1,199.7 million in U.S. dollars, at the exchange rate in effect on September 20, 2017, aggregate principal amount of 2.875% senior notes due October 1, 2025, which

Table of Contents

EQUINIX, INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued)

(Unaudited)

are referred to as the "2025 Euro Senior Notes." Interest on the notes is payable semi-annually in arrears on April 1 and October 1 of each year, commencing on April 1, 2018. Debt issuance costs related to the 2025 Euro Senior Notes were \$16.3 million.

2027 Senior Notes

In March 2017, the Company issued \$1,250.0 million aggregate principal amount of 5.375% senior notes due May 15, 2027, which are referred to as the "2027 Senior Notes." Interest on the notes is payable semi-annually in arrears on May 15 and November 15 of each year, commencing on May 15, 2017. Debt issuance costs related to the 2027 Senior Notes were \$16.8 million.

The 2025 Euro Senior Notes and 2027 Senior Notes are unsecured and rank equal in right of payment to the Company's existing or future senior indebtedness and senior in right of payment to the Company's existing and future subordinated indebtedness. The 2025 Euro Senior Notes and 2027 Senior Notes are effectively subordinated to all of the existing and future secured debt, including debt outstanding under any bank facility or secured by any mortgage, to the extent of the assets securing such debt. They are also structurally subordinated to any existing and future indebtedness and other liabilities (including trade payables) of any of the Company's subsidiaries.

The 2025 Euro Senior Notes and 2027 Senior Notes are governed by a supplemental indenture to the indenture between the Company and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee, that also governs the Company's 5.875% Senior Notes due 2026, 5.375% Senior Notes due 2022, and 5.750% Senior Notes due 2025 (collectively, the "Senior Notes"). The supplemental indenture contains covenants that limit the Company's ability and the ability of its subsidiaries to, among other things:

incur additional debt;

pay dividends or make other restricted payments;

purchase, redeem or retire capital stock or subordinated debt;

make asset sales:

enter into transactions with affiliates;

incur liens;

enter into sale-leaseback transactions;

provide subsidiary guarantees;

make investments; and

merge or consolidate with any other person.

If the Senior Notes are rated investment grade at any time by two or more of Standard & Poor's, Moody's and Fitch, most of the restrictive covenants contained in the supplemental indenture will be suspended. As of September 30, 2017, the Company was in compliance with all debt covenants.

The Company is not required to make any mandatory redemption with respect to the 2025 Euro Senior Notes or 2027 Senior Notes, however upon the event of a change in control, the Company will be required to offer to purchase the 2025 Euro Senior Notes and 2027 Senior Notes.

Optional Redemption Schedule

Senior Notes	Early Equity	First Scheduled	First Year	Second Year	Third Year	Fourth Year
	Redemption	Redemption	Redemption	Redemption	Redemption	Redemption
Description	Price	Date	Price	Price	Price	Price
5.375% Notes	105.375%	May 15, 2022	102.688%	101.792%	100.896%	100.000%
due 2027	100.07070	111111 10, 2022	102,000,0	101.77270	100.0000	100,000,0
2.875% Euro						
Notes due	102.875%	October 1, 2020	101.438%	100.719%	100.000%	_
2025						

The 2025 Euro Senior Notes and 2027 Senior Notes provide for optional redemption. Within 90 days of the closing of one or more equity offerings and at any time prior to the first scheduled redemption date listed in the optional

redemption schedule, the Company may redeem up to 35% of the aggregate principal amount of the Senior Notes outstanding at the early equity redemption price, plus accrued and unpaid interest, provided that at least 65% of the aggregate principal amount of the Senior Notes remain outstanding immediately after the occurrence of such redemption.

On or after the first scheduled redemption date listed in the optional redemption schedule, the Company may redeem all or a part of the 2025 Euro Senior Notes and 2027 Senior Notes, on any one or more occasions, at the redemption prices (expressed as percentages of principal amount) set forth in the optional redemption schedule plus accrued and unpaid interest thereon, if any, if

Table of Contents

EQUINIX, INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued)

(Unaudited)

redeemed during the twelve-month period beginning on the first scheduled redemption date and at declining redemption prices during the twelve-month periods beginning on the anniversaries of the first scheduled redemption date.

In addition, at any time prior to the respective first scheduled redemption date, the Company may also redeem all or a part of the Senior Notes at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of Senior Notes redeemed plus the applicable premium (the "Applicable Premium") as of the date of redemption, and accrued and unpaid interest, if any, subject to the rights of the holders of record of the Senior Notes on the relevant record date to receive interest due on the relevant interest payment date. The Applicable Premium is written to make investors whole through the first scheduled optional redemption date and is defined as the greater of:

4.0% of the principal amount of the Senior Notes; and

the excess of: (a) the present value at such redemption date of (i) the redemption price of the Senior Notes at the first scheduled redemption date, plus (ii) all required interest payments due on the Senior Notes through the first scheduled redemption date, computed using a discount rate equal to the treasury rate (or Bund rate for Euro Senior Notes) as of such redemption date plus 50 basis points; over (b) the principal amount of the Senior Notes, if greater.

In the event of any amendment to, or change in, the laws of a relevant tax jurisdiction, which would require the Company to pay additional amounts in respect to the 2025 Euro Senior Notes, the Company may redeem at any time the 2025 Euro Senior Notes in whole, but not in part, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the notes, plus accrued and unpaid interest.

As of September 30, 2017, unamortized debt issuance costs related to the 2025 Euro Senior Notes were €13.5 million or approximately \$16.0 million. Unamortized debt issuance costs related to 2027 Senior Notes were \$16.0 million. Maturities of Debt Facilities

The following table sets forth maturities of the Company's debt, including mortgage and loans payable, and senior notes, gross of debt issuance costs and debt discounts, as of September 30, 2017 (in thousands):

Years ending:

2017 (3 months remaining)	\$21,105
2018	84,478
2019	389,409
2020	44,027
2021	355,279
Thereafter	7,555,043
Total	\$8,449,341

Fair Value of Debt Facilities

The following table sets forth the estimated fair values of the Company's mortgage and loans payable and senior notes (gross of debt discount, premium and deferred issuance costs), including current maturities, as of (in thousands):

September 30, December 2017 31, 2016

Mortgage and loans payable \$ 2,668,249 \$ 1,461,954 Senior notes 6,106,055 4,033,985

The fair value of the mortgage and loans payable was estimated by considering the Company's credit rating, current rates available to the Company for debt of the same remaining maturities and terms of the debt (Level 2). The fair value of the senior notes was based on quoted market prices (Level 1).

Table of Contents

EQUINIX, INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued)

(Unaudited)

Interest Charges

Interest expense

The following table sets forth total interest costs incurred and total interest costs capitalized for the periods presented (in thousands):

Three Months Nine Months Ended Ended September 30, September 30, 2017 2016 2017 2016 \$121.828 \$92.200 \$352.554 \$293.395 Interest capitalized 6,174 3,234 20,573 9,479 Interest charges incurred \$128,002 \$95,434 \$373,127 \$302,874

Total interest paid, net of capitalized interest, during the three months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016 was \$122.8 million and \$107.9 million, respectively. Total interest paid, net of capitalized interest, during the nine months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016 was \$321.8 million and \$262.1 million, respectively.

10. Commitments and Contingencies

Purchase Commitments

Primarily as a result of the Company's various IBX data center expansion projects, as of September 30, 2017, the Company was contractually committed for \$336.8 million of unaccrued capital expenditures, primarily for IBX infrastructure equipment not yet delivered and labor not yet provided, in connection with the work necessary to open these IBX data centers and make them available to customers for installation. In addition, the Company had numerous other, non-capital purchase commitments in place as of September 30, 2017, such as commitments to purchase power in select locations through the remainder of 2017 and thereafter, and other open purchase orders for goods or services to be delivered or provided during the remainder of 2017 and thereafter. Such other miscellaneous purchase commitments totaled \$592.4 million as of September 30, 2017.

Contingent Liabilities

The Company estimates exposure on certain liabilities, such as indirect and property taxes, based on the best information available at the time of determination. With respect to real and personal property taxes, the Company records what it can reasonably estimate based on prior payment history, current landlord estimates or estimates based on current or changing fixed asset values in each specific municipality, as applicable. However, there are circumstances beyond the Company's control whereby the underlying value of the property or basis for which the tax is calculated on the property may change, such as a landlord selling the underlying property of one of the Company's IBX data center leases or a municipality changing the assessment value in a jurisdiction and, as a result, the Company's property tax obligations may vary from period to period. Based upon the most current facts and circumstances, the Company makes the necessary property tax accruals for each of its reporting periods. However, revisions in the Company's estimates of the potential or actual liability could materially impact its financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

The Company's indirect and property tax filings in various jurisdictions are subject to examination by local tax authorities. The outcome of any examinations cannot be predicted with certainty. The Company regularly assesses the likelihood of adverse outcomes resulting from these examinations that would affect the adequacy of its tax accruals for each of the reporting periods. If any issues arising from the tax examinations are resolved in a manner inconsistent with the Company's expectations, the revision of the estimates of the potential or actual liabilities could materially impact its financial position, results of operations, or cash flows.

Table of Contents

EQUINIX, INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued)

(Unaudited)

11. Stockholders' Equity

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

The changes in accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax, by components are as follows (in thousands):

			,	
	Balance as of	Net	Balance as o	f
	December 31,	Changa	September 3	0,
	2016	Change	2017	
Foreign currency translation adjustment ("CTA") gain (loss)	\$(1,031,129)	\$408,830	\$ (622,299)
Unrealized gain (loss) on cash flow hedges (1)	30,704	(52,468)	(21,764)
Unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale securities (2)	2,110	(85)	2,025	
Net investment hedge CTA gain (loss) (1)	49,989	(191,121)	(141,132)
Net actuarial gain (loss) on defined benefit plans (3)	(816)	39	(777)
Total	\$(949,142)	\$165,195	\$ (783,947)

- (1) Refer to Note 6 for a discussion of the amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) to net income (loss).
- No realized gains and losses were reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) to net income (loss) for the nine months ended September 30, 2017.
 - The Company has a defined benefit pension plan covering all employees in one country where such plan is mandated by law. The Company does not have any defined benefit plans in any other countries. The unamortized
- (3) gain (loss) on defined benefit plans includes gains or losses resulting from a change in the value of either the projected benefit obligation or the plan assets resulting from a change in an actuarial assumption, net of amortization.

Changes in foreign currency exchange rates can have a significant impact to the Company's condensed consolidated balance sheets (as evidenced above in the Company's foreign currency translation gain or loss), as well as its condensed consolidated results of operations, as amounts in foreign currencies generally translate into more U.S. dollars when the U.S. dollar weakens or less U.S. dollars when the U.S. dollar strengthens. As of September 30, 2017, the U.S. dollar was generally weaker relative to certain of the currencies of the foreign countries in which the Company operates as compared to December 31, 2016. This overall weakening of the U.S. dollar had an overall favorable impact on the Company's condensed consolidated financial position because the foreign denominations translated into more U.S. dollars as evidenced by an increase in foreign currency translation gain for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 as reflected in the above table. In future periods, the volatility of the U.S. dollar as compared to the other currencies in which the Company operates could have a significant impact on its condensed consolidated financial position and results of operations including the amount of revenue that the Company reports in future periods.

Common Stock

In August 2017, the Company entered into an equity distribution agreement with RBC Capital Market, LLC, Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated, Citigroup Global Markets Inc. and J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, establishing an "at the market" equity offering program, under which the Company may offer and sell from time to time up to an aggregate of \$750.0 million of its common stock in "at the market" transactions (the "ATM Program"). No sales have been made under the ATM Program to date.

In March 2017, the Company issued and sold 6,069,444 shares of its common stock in a public offering pursuant to a registration statement and a related prospectus and prospectus supplement, in each case filed with the SEC. The shares issued and sold included the full exercise of the underwriters' option to purchase 791,666 additional shares. The Company received net proceeds of approximately \$2,126.3 million, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions of \$57.9 million and offering expenses of \$0.8 million.

Table of Contents

EQUINIX, INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued)

(Unaudited)

Dividends

On August 2, 2017, the Company declared a quarterly cash dividend of \$2.00 per share, with a record date of August 23, 2017 and a payment date of September 20, 2017. During the three months ended September 30, 2017, the Company paid a total of \$159.5 million in dividends. In addition, the Company accrued an additional \$2.7 million in dividends payable for restricted stock units that have not yet vested.

On April 26, 2017, the Company declared a quarterly cash dividend of \$2.00 per share, with a record date of May 24, 2017 and a payment date of June 21, 2017. During the three months ended June 30, 2017, the Company paid a total of \$156.3 million in dividends. In addition, the Company accrued an additional \$2.7 million in dividends payable for restricted stock units that have not yet vested.

On February 15, 2017, the Company declared a quarterly cash dividend of \$2.00 per share, with a record date of February 27, 2017 and a payment date of March 22, 2017. During the three months ended March 31, 2017, the Company paid a total of \$148.1 million in dividends. In addition, the Company accrued an additional \$2.6 million in dividends payable for restricted stock units that have not yet vested.

Stock-Based Compensation

For the nine months ended September 30, 2017, the Compensation Committee and the Stock Award Committee of the Company's Board of Directors approved the issuance of an aggregate of 511,548 shares of restricted stock units to certain employees, including executive officers, pursuant to the 2000 Equity Incentive Plan, as part of the Company's annual refresh program. These equity awards are subject to vesting provisions and have a weighted-average grant date fair value of \$367.23 and a weighted-average requisite service period of 3.48 years. The valuation of restricted stock units with only a service condition or a service and performance condition requires no significant assumptions as the fair value for these types of equity awards is based solely on the fair value of the Company's stock price on the date of grant. The Company used revenues and adjusted funds from operations ("AFFO") as the performance measurements in the restricted stock units with both service and performance conditions that were granted in the first nine months ended September 30, 2017.

The Company uses a Monte Carlo simulation option-pricing model to determine the fair value of restricted stock units with a service and market condition. There were no significant changes in the assumptions used to determine the fair value of restricted stock units with a service and market condition that were granted in 2017 compared to the prior year.

The following table presents, by operating expense category, the Company's stock-based compensation expense recognized in the Company's condensed consolidated statements of operations (in thousands):

	Ended		Nine Months Ended September 30,		
	September 2017	er 30, 2016	2017 2016		
Cost of revenues	\$3,911	\$3,316	\$10,000	\$9,754	
Sales and marketing	13,847	11,702	38,245	32,187	
General and administrative	27,896	27,455	81,357	74,370	
Total	\$45,654	\$42,473	\$129,602	\$116,311	

EQUINIX, INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued) (Unaudited)

12. Segment Information

While the Company has a single line of business, which is the design, build-out and operation of IBX data centers, it has determined that it has three reportable segments comprised of its Americas, EMEA and Asia-Pacific geographic regions. The Company's chief operating decision-maker evaluates performance, makes operating decisions and allocates resources based on the Company's revenues and adjusted EBITDA performance both on a consolidated basis and based on these three reportable segments. The Company defines adjusted EBITDA as income from operations plus depreciation, amortization, accretion, stock-based compensation expense, restructuring charges, impairment charges, acquisition costs and gains on asset sales as presented below (in thousands):

Three Mon	ths Ended	Nine Months Ended		
September	30,	September 30,		
2017	2016	2017	2016	
\$292,101	\$202,131	\$748,871	\$581,619	
146,464	121,468	417,640	366,412	
111,754	96,443	320,690	272,952	
550,319	420,042	1,487,201	1,220,983	
(277,719)	(215,370)	(749,118)	(631,242)	
(45,654)	(42,473)	(129,602)	(116,311)	
(2,083)	(12,505)	(31,510)	(64,635)	
	(7,698)		(7,698)	
_	27,945		33,187	
\$224,863	\$169,941	\$576,971	\$434,284	
	September 2017 \$292,101 146,464 111,754 550,319 (277,719) (45,654) (2,083) —	\$292,101 \$202,131 146,464 121,468 111,754 96,443 550,319 420,042 (277,719) (215,370) (45,654) (42,473) (2,083) (12,505) — (7,698) — 27,945	September 30, September 2017 2017 2016 2017 \$292,101 \$202,131 \$748,871 146,464 121,468 417,640 111,754 96,443 320,690 550,319 420,042 1,487,201 (277,719) (215,370) (749,118) (45,654) (42,473) (129,602) (2,083) (12,505) (31,510) — (7,698) — 27,945 —	

The Company also provides the following additional segment disclosures (in thousands):

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended

	September 30,		September 3	30,	
	2017	2016	2017	2016	
Revenues:					
Americas	\$596,538	\$425,142	\$1,566,593	\$1,243,007	
EMEA	338,833	301,250	976,624	869,715	
Asia-Pacific	216,890	198,284	624,990	556,620	
Total	\$1,152,261	\$924,676	\$3,168,207	\$2,669,342	
Depreciation and amortization:					
Americas	\$151,072	\$81,724	\$363,341	\$236,385	
EMEA	75,276	79,292	230,406	237,846	
Asia-Pacific	52,063	53,809	156,456	153,179	
Total	\$278,411	\$214,825	\$750,203	\$627,410	
Capital expenditures:					
Americas	\$151,310	\$147,328	\$465,424	\$346,817	
EMEA	112,578	79,585	347,647	223,440	
Asia-Pacific	56,346	52,564	132,977	156,787	
Total	\$320,234	\$279,477	\$946,048	\$727,044	

Table of Contents

EQUINIX, INC.

 $NOTES\ TO\ CONDENSED\ CONSOLIDATED\ FINANCIAL\ STATEMENTS-(Continued)$

(Unaudited)

The Company's long-lived assets are located in the following geographic areas as of (in thousands):

	September 30,	December 31,
	2017	2016
Americas	\$ 4,399,846	\$ 3,339,518
EMEA	2,933,406	2,355,943
Asia-Pacific	1,672,919	1,503,749
Total long-lived assets	\$ 9,006,171	\$7,199,210

Revenue information on a services basis is as follows (in thousands):

	Three Mont	hs Ended	Nine Months Ended			
	September 3	30,	September 30,			
	2017	2016	2017	2016		
Colocation	\$842,680	\$678,959	\$2,316,433	\$1,958,582		
Interconnection	179,544	137,501	493,288	397,147		
Managed infrastructure	63,278	55,146	176,080	156,302		
Other	3,531	5,400	11,720	12,901		
Recurring revenues	1,089,033	877,006	2,997,521	2,524,932		
Non-recurring revenues	63,228	47,670	170,686	144,410		
Total	\$1,152,261	\$924,676	\$3,168,207	\$2,669,342		

No single customer accounted for 10% or greater of the Company's revenues for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016. No single customer accounted for 10% or greater of the Company's gross accounts receivable as of September 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016.

13. Subsequent Events

On November 1, 2017, the Company declared a quarterly cash dividend of \$2.00 per share, which is payable on December 13, 2017 to the Company's common stockholders of record as of the close of business on November 15, 2017.

On October 9, 2017, the Company completed the acquisition of Itconic for a cash purchase price of €215.0 million or \$252.6 million at the exchange rate in effect on October 9, 2017. Itconic is a data center provider in Spain and Portugal, and also includes CloudMas, an Itconic subsidiary which is focused on supporting enterprise adoption and use of cloud services. Itconic's operating results will be reported in the EMEA region following the date of acquisition. The acquisition of Itconic constitutes a business under the accounting standard for business combinations and therefore will be accounted for as a business combination using the acquisition method of accounting. The fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed are being appraised by the Company with the assistance of a third party and have not been finalized.

On October 6, 2017, the Company acquired a data center business from Zenium for a cash payment of approximately \$93.0 million. The acquired facility is located in Istanbul, Turkey, and will be renamed Istanbul 2 ("IS2") data center. IS2's operating results will be reported in the EMEA region following the date of acquisition. The acquisition of IS2 constitutes a business under the accounting standard for business combinations and therefore will be accounted for as a business combination using the acquisition method of accounting. The fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed are being appraised by the Company with the assistance of a third party and have not been finalized.

Table of Contents

Item 2.

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The information in this discussion contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Such statements are based upon current expectations that involve risks and uncertainties. Any statements contained herein that are not statements of historical fact may be deemed to be forward-looking statements. For example, the words "believes," "anticipates," "plans," "expects," "intends" and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. Our actual results and the timing of certain events may differ significantly from the results discussed in the forward-looking statements. Factors that might cause such a discrepancy include, but are not limited to, those discussed in "Liquidity and Capital Resources" below and "Risk Factors" in Item 1A of Part II of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. All forward-looking statements in this document are based on information available to us as of the date of this Report and we assume no obligation to update any such forward-looking statements. Our management's discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations is intended to assist readers in understanding our financial information from our management's perspective and is presented as follows:

Overview

Results of Operations

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Contractual Obligations and Off-Balance-Sheet Arrangements

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Overview

In October 2017, we acquired a data center business from Zenium in Istanbul for a cash purchase price of approximately \$93.0 million. The acquired data center will be renamed as Istanbul 2 (or "IS2") data center. The acquisition of IS2 will be accounted for using the acquisition method.

In September 2017, as more fully described in Note 9 of Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, we issued €1.0 billion or approximately \$1.2 billion in U.S. dollars, at the exchange rate in effect on September 20, 2017, aggregate principal amount of 2.875% senior notes due October 1, 2025 (the "2025 Euro Senior Notes") and recorded debt issuance costs of \$16.3 million. We used a portion of the net proceeds from the 2025 Euro Senior Notes to redeem our 4.875% senior notes with an aggregate principal amount of \$500.0 million in September 2017. As a result, we recognized a loss on debt extinguishment of \$14.6 million during the third quarter of 2017.

In September 2017, we entered into a purchase agreement to acquire Itconic with 5 data centers in Spain and Portugal for a cash purchase price of approximately €215.0 million or \$252.6 million at the exchange rate in effect on October 9, 2017 (the "Itconic Acquisition"). The Itconic Acquisition was completed in October 2017. The Itconic Acquisition will be accounted for using the acquisition method.

In August 2017, as more fully described in Note 11 of Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, we launched an "at the market" program (the "ATM program"), under which we may offer and sell shares of our common stock having an aggregate offering price of up to \$750.0 million from time to time through our sales agents. No sales have been made under the ATM Program to date.

In August 2017, as more fully described in Note 9 of Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, we entered into a fourth amendment (the "Fourth Amendment") to the senior secured credit facility, which is comprised of a multi-currency revolving credit facility, a multi-currency senior secured term A loan facility and a multi-currency senior secured term B loan facility (the "Term Loan B Facility"). Pursuant to the Fourth Amendment, we modified various terms of interest rates applicable to loans borrowed under the Term Loan B Facility.

In May 2017, as more fully described in Note 3 of Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, we completed the acquisition of certain colocation business from Verizon Communications Inc. ("Verizon") consisting of 29 data center buildings located in the United States, Brazil and Colombia (the "Selected Verizon Data Center Business"), for a cash purchase price of approximately \$3.6 billion (the "Verizon Data Center Acquisition"), which we funded with proceeds of debt and equity financings conducted in January and March 2017 as discussed below. The Verizon Data Center Acquisition was accounted for using the acquisition method. The fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed are currently being appraised by a third-party. The valuation and purchase accounting of this acquisition have not yet been finalized as of September 30, 2017.

In March 2017, as more fully described in Note 11 of Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, we issued and sold 6,069,444 shares of our common stock in a public offering. We received net proceeds of approximately \$2,126.3 million, after deducting underwriting discounts, commissions and offering expenses.

In March 2017, as more fully described in Note 9 of Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, we issued \$1,250.0 million aggregate principal amount of 5.375% senior notes due May 15, 2027 (the "2027 Senior Notes") and recorded debt issuance costs of \$16.8 million.

In February 2017, as more fully described in Note 3 of Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, we acquired IO UK's data center operating business in Slough, United Kingdom, for a cash payment of approximately \$36.3 million (the "IO Acquisition"). The acquired facility was renamed as London 10 ("LD10") data center. The IO Acquisition was accounted for using the acquisition method. The valuation and purchase accounting of this acquisition have not been finalized as of September 30, 2017.

In January 2017, as more fully described in Note 9 of Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, we borrowed the full amount of the Term B-2 Loan of €1.0 billion or approximately \$1.1 billion in U.S. dollars at the exchange rate in effect on January 6, 2017.

Equinix provides global data center offerings that protect and connect the world's most valued information assets. Global enterprises, financial services companies and content and network service providers rely upon Equinix's leading insight and data centers around the world for the safehousing of their critical IT equipment and the ability to directly connect to the networks that enable today's information-driven economy. The Verizon Data Center Acquisition along with the acquisitions of Itconic and IS2 expanded the Company's total global footprint to 190 IBX data centers across 48 markets around the world. Equinix offers the following solutions: (i) premium data center colocation, (ii) interconnection and (iii) exchange and outsourced IT infrastructure services. As of September 30, 2017, we operated or had partner International Business Exchange® ("IBX") data centers in the Atlanta, Culpeper, Bogota, Boston, Chicago, Dallas, Denver, Houston, Los Angeles, Miami, New York, Philadelphia, Rio De Janeiro, Sao Paulo, Seattle, Silicon Valley, Toronto and Washington, D.C. metro areas in the Americas region; Bulgaria, Finland, France, Germany, Ireland, Italy, the Netherlands, Poland, Sweden, Switzerland, Turkey, the United Arab Emirates and the United Kingdom in the Europe, Middle East and Africa ("EMEA") region; and Australia, China, Hong Kong, Indonesia, Japan and Singapore in the Asia-Pacific region.

Our data centers in 48 markets around the world are a global platform, which allows our customers to increase information and application delivery performance while significantly reducing costs. Based on our global platform and the quality of our IBX data centers, we believe we have established a critical mass of customers. As more customers locate in our IBX data centers, it benefits their suppliers and business partners to colocate as well, in order to gain the full economic and performance benefits of our offerings. These partners, in turn, pull in their business partners, creating a "marketplace" for their services. Our global platform enables scalable, reliable and cost-effective colocation, interconnection and traffic exchange that lowers overall cost and increases flexibility. Our focused business model is built on our critical mass of customers and the resulting "marketplace" effect. This global platform, combined with our strong financial position, continues to drive new customer growth and bookings.

Historically, our market has been served by large telecommunications carriers who have bundled telecommunications products and services with their colocation offerings. The data center market landscape has evolved to include cloud computing/utility providers, application hosting providers and systems integrators, managed infrastructure hosting

providers and colocation providers. More than 350 companies provide data center solutions in the U.S. alone. Each of these data center solutions providers can bundle various colocation, interconnection and network offerings, and outsourced IT infrastructure services. We are able to offer our customers a global platform that reaches 24 countries with proven operational reliability, improved application performance and network choice, and a highly scalable set of offerings.

Our utilization rates were approximately 78%, excluding the Verizon Data Center Acquisition, as of September 30, 2017 and 81%, excluding the acquisitions of TelecityGroup and Bit-isle, as of September 30, 2016. Excluding the impact of our IBX data center expansion projects that have opened during the last 12 months and acquisitions mentioned above, our utilization rate would have increased to approximately 83% as of September 30, 2017. Our utilization rate varies from market to market among our IBX

data centers across the Americas, EMEA and Asia-Pacific regions. We continue to monitor the available capacity in each of our selected markets. To the extent we have limited capacity available in a given market it may limit our ability for growth in that market. We perform demand studies on an ongoing basis to determine if future expansion is warranted in a market. In addition, power and cooling requirements for most customers are growing on a per unit basis. As a result, customers are consuming an increasing amount of power per cabinet. Although we generally do not control the amount of power our customers draw from installed circuits, we have negotiated power consumption limitations with certain of our high power demand customers. This increased power consumption has driven the requirement to build out our new IBX data centers to support power and cooling needs twice that of previous IBX data centers. We could face power limitations in our IBX data centers even though we may have additional physical cabinet capacity available within a specific IBX data center. This could have a negative impact on the available utilization capacity of a given IBX data center, which could have a negative impact on our ability to grow revenues, affecting our financial performance, operating results and cash flows.

Strategically, we will continue to look at attractive opportunities to grow our market share and selectively improve our footprint and offerings. As was the case with our recent expansions and acquisitions, our expansion criteria will be dependent on a number of factors, such as demand from new and existing customers, quality of the design, power capacity, access to networks, capacity availability in the current market location, amount of incremental investment required by us in the targeted property, lead-time to break even on a free cash flow basis, and in-place customers. Like our recent expansions and acquisitions, the right combination of these factors may be attractive to us. Depending on the circumstances, these transactions may require additional capital expenditures funded by upfront cash payments or through long-term financing arrangements in order to bring these properties up to Equinix standards. Property expansion may be in the form of purchases of real property, long-term leasing arrangements or acquisitions. Future purchases, construction or acquisitions may be completed by us or with partners or potential customers to minimize the outlay of cash, which can be significant.

Our business is based on a recurring revenue model comprised of colocation and related interconnection and managed infrastructure offerings. We consider these offerings recurring because our customers are generally billed on a fixed and recurring basis each month for the duration of their contract, which is generally one to three years in length. Our recurring revenues have comprised more than 90% of our total revenues during the past three years. In addition, during any given quarter of the past three years, more than half of our monthly recurring revenue bookings came from existing customers, contributing to our revenue growth. During the three months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016, our largest customer accounted for approximately 4% and 3%, respectively, of our recurring revenues. Our 50 largest customers accounted for approximately 37% and 36%, respectively, of our recurring revenues for the three months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016. During the nine months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016, our largest customer accounted for approximately 3% of our recurring revenues. Our 50 largest customers accounted for approximately 36% of our recurring revenues for both the nine months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016. Our non-recurring revenues are primarily comprised of installation services related to a customer's initial deployment and professional services that we perform. These services are considered to be non-recurring because they are billed typically once, upon completion of the installation or the professional services work performed. The majority of these non-recurring revenues are typically billed on the first invoice distributed to the customer in connection with their initial installation. However, revenues from installation services are deferred and recognized ratably over the expected life of the customer installation. Additionally, revenue from contract settlements, when a customer wishes to terminate their contract early, is recognized when no remaining performance obligations exist and collectability is reasonably assured, to the extent that the revenue has not previously been recognized. As a percentage of total revenues, we expect non-recurring revenues to represent less than 10% of total revenues for the foreseeable future. The largest components of our cost of revenues are depreciation, rental payments related to our leased IBX data centers, utility costs, including electricity and bandwidth, IBX data center employees' salaries and benefits, including stock-based compensation, repairs and maintenance, supplies and equipment and security services. A substantial majority of our cost of revenues is fixed in nature and should not vary significantly from period to period, unless we expand our existing IBX data centers or open or acquire new IBX data centers. However, there are certain costs which are considered more variable in nature, including utilities and supplies that are directly related to growth in our

existing and new customer base. We expect the cost of our utilities, specifically electricity, will generally increase in the future on a per-unit or fixed basis in addition to the variable increase related to the growth in consumption by our customers. In addition, the cost of electricity is generally higher in the summer months as compared to other times of the year. To the extent we incur increased utility costs, such increased costs could materially impact our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. Furthermore, to the extent we incur increased electricity costs as a result of either climate change policies or the physical effects of climate change, such increased costs could materially impact our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of compensation and related costs for sales and marketing personnel, including stock-based compensation, sales commissions, marketing programs, public relations, promotional materials and travel, as well as bad debt expense and amortization of customer contract intangible assets.

Table of Contents

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries and related expenses, including stock-based compensation, accounting, legal and other professional service fees, and other general corporate expenses such as our corporate regional headquarters office leases and some depreciation expense.

We expect our cost of revenues, sales and marketing expenses and general and administrative expenses to grow in absolute dollars in connection with our business growth. We may periodically see a higher cost of revenues as a percentage of revenues, when a large expansion project opens or is acquired, and before it starts generating any meaningful revenue. Furthermore, in relation to cost of revenues, we note that the Americas region has a lower cost of revenues as a percentage of revenues than either EMEA or Asia-Pacific. This is due to both the increased scale and maturity of the Americas region, compared to either the EMEA or Asia-Pacific region, as well as a higher cost structure outside of the Americas, particularly in EMEA. As a result, to the extent that revenue growth outside the Americas grows in greater proportion than revenue growth in the Americas, our overall cost of revenues as a percentage of revenues may increase in future periods. Sales and marketing expenses may periodically increase as a percentage of revenues as we continue to scale our operations to invest in sales and marketing initiatives to further increase our revenues, including the hiring of additional headcount and new product innovations. General and administrative expenses may also periodically increase as a percentage of revenues as we continue to scale our operations to support our growth.

Taxation as a REIT

We elected to be taxed as a real estate investment trust for U.S. federal income tax purposes ("REIT") beginning with our 2015 taxable year. As of September 30, 2017, our REIT structure includes all of our data center operations in the U.S., Canada, Japan and most of our data center operations in Europe. Our data center operations in other jurisdictions are operated as taxable REIT subsidiaries ("TRSs").

As a REIT, we generally are permitted to deduct from our U.S. federal taxable income the dividends we pay to our stockholders. The income represented by such dividend payments is not subject to U.S. federal income tax at the entity level but is taxed, if at all, at the stockholder level. Nevertheless, the income of our domestic TRSs is subject, as applicable, to federal and state corporate income tax. Likewise, our foreign subsidiaries continue to be subject to foreign income taxes in jurisdictions in which they hold assets or conduct operations, regardless of whether held or conducted through TRSs or through qualified REIT subsidiaries ("QRSs"). We are also subject to a separate corporate income tax on gain recognized from a sale of a REIT asset where our basis in the asset is determined by reference to the basis of the asset in the hands of a C corporation (such as (i) an asset that we held as of the effective date of our REIT election, that is, January 1, 2015, or (ii) an asset that we or a ORS hold following the liquidation or other conversion of a former TRS). This built-in-gains tax is generally applicable to any disposition of such an asset during the five-year period after the date we first owned the asset as a REIT asset (e.g. January 1, 2015 in the case of REIT assets we held at the time of our REIT conversion), to the extent of the built-in-gain based on the fair market value of such asset on the date we first held the asset as a REIT asset. If we fail to remain qualified for U.S. federal income taxation as a REIT, we will be subject to federal income tax at regular corporate tax rates. Even if we remain qualified for U.S. federal income taxation as a REIT, we may be subject to some federal, state, local and foreign taxes on our income and property in addition to taxes owed with respect to our TRSs' operations. In particular, while state income tax regimes often parallel the federal income tax regime for REITs, many states do not completely follow federal rules and some may not follow them at all.

On March 22, 2017, June 21, 2017, and September 20, 2017, we paid quarterly cash dividends of \$2.00 per share, and on November 1, 2017 we declared a quarterly cash dividend of \$2.00 per share, payable on December 13, 2017 to stockholders of record on November 15, 2017. We expect the amount of all 2017 quarterly distributions and other applicable and deemed distributions to equal or exceed the taxable income to be recognized in 2017.

We continue to monitor our REIT compliance in order to maintain our qualification for U.S. federal income taxation as a REIT. For this and other reasons, as necessary we may convert certain of our data center operations in additional countries into the REIT structure in future periods.

Results of Operations

Our results of operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017 include the results of operations of the Verizon Data Center Acquisition from May 1, 2017, the IO Acquisition from February 3, 2017 and the Paris IBX data center acquisition (the "Paris IBX Data Center Acquisition") from January 1, 2017. Our results of operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 include the results of operations of Telecity Group from January 15, 2016 and the Paris IBX Data Center Acquisition from August 1, 2016.

Discontinued Operations

We present the results of operations associated with the TelecityGroup data centers that were divested in July 2016 as discontinued operations in our condensed consolidated statement of operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016. We did not have any discontinued operations activity during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017.

Three Months Ended September 30, 2017 and 2016

Revenues. Our revenues for the three months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016 were generated from the following revenue classifications and geographic regions (dollars in thousands):

Three Months Ended September 30, % Change

								Con	stant
	2017	%		2016	%		Actua	a C ur	rency
								(1)	
Americas:									
Recurring revenues	\$566,036	49	%	\$404,462	44	%	40%	40	%
Non-recurring revenues	30,502	3	%	20,680	2	%	47%	47	%
	596,538	52	%	425,142	46	%	40%	40	%
EMEA:									
Recurring revenues	320,879	27	%	286,190	31	%	12%	9	%
Non-recurring revenues	17,954	2	%	15,060	2	%	19%	15	%
	338,833	29	%	301,250	33	%	12%	9	%
Asia-Pacific:									
Recurring revenues	202,118	18	%	186,354	20	%	8 %	11	%
Non-recurring revenues	14,772	1	%	11,930	1	%	24%	28	%
	216,890	19	%	198,284	21	%	9 %	12	%
Total:									
Recurring revenues	1,089,033	94	%	877,006	95	%	24%	23	%
Non-recurring revenues	63,228	6	%	47,670	5	%	33%	32	%
-	\$1,152,261	100	%	\$924,676	100	%	25%	24	%

⁽¹⁾ As defined in the "Non-GAAP Financial Measures" section in Item 2 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

Americas Revenues. Revenues for our Americas region for the three months ended September 30, 2017 included approximately \$137.0 million of revenues attributable to the Verizon Data Center Acquisition. Our revenues from the U.S., the largest revenue contributor in the Americas region for the period, represented approximately 91% and 92%, respectively, of the regional revenues during the three months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016. Excluding revenues attributable to the Verizon Data Center Acquisition, our Americas revenue growth was primarily due to (i) approximately \$17.5 million of revenues generated from our recently-opened IBX data centers or IBX data center expansions in the Chicago, Dallas, New York, Sao Paulo, Silicon Valley, Toronto and Washington, D.C. metro areas and (ii) an increase in orders from both our existing customers and new customers during the period. During the three months ended September 30, 2017, the impact of foreign currency fluctuations on our Americas revenues was not significant when compared to average exchange rates during the three months ended September 30, 2016. EMEA Revenues. Revenues for our EMEA region for the three months ended September 30, 2017 included approximately \$5.2 million of revenues attributable to the Paris IBX Data Center Acquisition, which closed in August 2016, and the IO Acquisition, which closed in February 2017. Our revenues from the UK, the largest revenue contributor in the EMEA region for the period, represented approximately 32% and 31%, respectively, of the regional revenues during the three months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016. Excluding revenues attributable to the Paris IBX Data Center Acquisition and the IO Acquisition, our EMEA revenue growth was primarily due to (i) approximately \$24.4 million of revenues from our recently-opened IBX data centers or IBX data center expansions in the Amsterdam, Dubai, Dublin, Frankfurt, Helsinki, Paris, and Zurich metro areas and (ii) an increase in orders from both our existing customers and new customers during the period. During the three months ended September 30, 2017, the impact of foreign currency fluctuations resulted in approximately \$10.4 million of net favorable foreign currency impact to our EMEA revenues primarily due to a generally weaker U.S. dollar relative to the Euro during the three months ended September 30, 2017 compared to the three months ended September 30, 2016. Asia-Pacific Revenues. Our revenues from Japan, the largest revenue contributor in the Asia-Pacific region for the period, represented approximately 34% and 36%, respectively, of the regional revenues during the three months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016. Our Asia-Pacific revenue growth was primarily due to (i) approximately \$8.3 million of revenue generated from our recently-opened IBX data center expansions in the Hong Kong, Osaka and Tokyo metro areas and (ii) an increase in orders from both our existing customers and new customers during the period. During the three months ended September 30, 2017, the impact of foreign currency fluctuations resulted in approximately \$5.3 million of net unfavorable foreign currency impact to our Asia-Pacific revenues primarily due to a generally stronger U.S. dollar relative to Japanese ven and Singapore dollar during the three months ended September 30, 2017 compared to the three months ended September 30, 2016.

Cost of Revenues. Our cost of revenues for the three months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016 were split among the following geographic regions (dollars in thousands):

	Three Mo	nths Er	ided Septei	nber	% Cha	inge	
	2017	%	2016	%	Actual	Cons Curr	
Americas	\$270,488	46 %	\$178,983	38 %	51 %	51	%
EMEA	190,046	33 %	167,189	36 %	14 %	10	%
Asia-Pacific	121,826	21 %	124,130	26 %	(2)%	1	%
Total	\$582,360	100%	\$470,302	100%	24 %	23	%
				-	Three Months Ended Septem 30, 2017 2	iber	

Cost of revenues as a percentage of revenues:

Americas	45 % 42 %
EMEA	56% 55%
Asia-Pacific	56% 63%
Total	51% 51%

Americas Cost of Revenues. Cost of revenues for our Americas region for the three months ended September 30, 2017 included approximately \$72.3 million attributable to the Verizon Data Center Acquisition. Excluding the impact from the Verizon Data Center Acquisition, our Americas cost of revenues for the three months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016 included \$70.2 million and \$61.3 million, respectively, of depreciation expense. The increase in depreciation expense was primarily due to our IBX data

center expansion activity. In addition to the increase in depreciation expense, the increase in our Americas cost of revenues for the three months ended September 30, 2017 compared to the three months ended September 30, 2016 was primarily due to (i) \$5.9 million of higher office expense, utilities, taxes, licenses, and insurance in support of our business growth and (ii) \$3.3 million of higher compensation costs, including general salaries, bonuses and stock-based compensation and higher headcount growth (1,090 Americas cost of revenues employees, excluding those from the Verizon Data Center Acquisition, as of September 30, 2017 versus 1,008 as of September 30, 2016). For the three months ended September 30, 2017, the impact of foreign currency fluctuations on our Americas cost of revenues was not significant when compared to average exchange rates of the three months ended September 30, 2016. We expect Americas cost of revenues to increase as we continue to grow our business, including results from the newly acquired business from the Verizon Data Center Acquisition.

EMEA Cost of Revenues. Cost of revenues for our EMEA region for the three months ended September 30, 2017 included approximately \$6.0 million attributable to the Paris IBX Data Center Acquisition and the IO Acquisition. Excluding the impacts from these acquisitions, the increase in our EMEA cost of revenues was primarily due to (i) \$7.4 million of higher utilities, taxes, licenses and insurance costs in support of our business growth, (ii) \$4.3 million of higher depreciation expense, and (iii) \$5.5 million of higher compensation costs, including general salaries and higher headcount growth (1,167 EMEA cost of revenues employees as of September 30, 2017 versus 1,003 as of September 30, 2016), partially offset by \$2.1 million of lower rent and facility costs. During the three months ended September 30, 2017, the impact of foreign currency fluctuations on our EMEA cost of revenues resulted in approximately \$5.6 million of net unfavorable foreign currency impact to our EMEA cost of revenues primarily due to a generally weaker U.S. dollar relative to Euro during the three months ended September 30, 2017 compared to the three months ended September 30, 2016. We expect EMEA cost of revenues to increase as we continue to grow our business.

Asia-Pacific Cost of Revenues. Our Asia-Pacific cost of revenues for the three months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016 included \$46.0 million and \$49.4 million, respectively, of depreciation expense. Our Asia-Pacific cost of revenues did not materially change during the three months ended September 30, 2017 compared to the three months ended September 30, 2016. During the three months ended September 30, 2017, the impact of foreign currency fluctuations resulted in approximately \$3.5 million of net favorable foreign currency impact to our Asia-Pacific cost of revenues primarily due to a generally stronger U.S. dollar relative to the Japanese yen and Singapore dollar during the three months ended September 30, 2017 compared to the three months ended September 30, 2016. We expect Asia-Pacific cost of revenues to increase as we continue to grow our business.

Sales and Marketing Expenses. Our sales and marketing expenses for the three months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016 were split among the following geographic regions (dollars in thousands):

	Three Mo: 30,	nths En	% Change			
	2017	%	2016	%	Actua Cons	tant ency
Americas	\$99,599	63 %	\$56,119	51 %	77% 77	%
EMEA	39,359	25 %	36,703	33 %	7 % 6	%
Asia-Pacific	18,661	12 %	18,114	16 %	3 % 5	%
Total	\$157,619	100%	\$110,936	100%	42% 42	%

Three Months Ended September 30, 2017 2016

Sales and marketing expenses as a percentage of revenues: Americas

17% 13%

EMEA	12	%	12	2%
Asia-Pacific	9	%	9	%
Total	14	%	12	2%

Americas Sales and Marketing Expenses. The increase in our Americas sales and marketing expenses for the three months ended September 30, 2017 was primarily due to (i) \$27.3 million of amortization of the acquired intangible assets in connection with the Verizon Data Center Acquisition, (ii) \$11.4 million of higher compensation costs, including sales compensation, general salaries and stock-based compensation and headcount growth (665 Americas sales and marketing employees, including those from the Verizon Data Center Acquisition, as of September 30, 2017 versus 545 as of September 30, 2016) and (iii) \$2.0 million of higher consulting expense to support our business growth. For the three months ended September 30, 2017, the impact of foreign currency fluctuations on our Americas sales and marketing expenses was not significant when compared to average exchange

rates of the three months ended September 30, 2016. Over the past several years, we have been investing in our Americas sales and marketing initiatives to further increase our revenues. These investments have included the hiring of additional headcount and new product innovation efforts. We anticipate that we will continue to invest in Americas sales and marketing initiatives. We expect our Americas sales and marketing expenses to continue to increase as we continue to grow our business, including impact from the Verizon Data Center Acquisition.

EMEA Sales and Marketing Expenses. The increase in sales and marketing expenses for our EMEA region for the three months ended September 30, 2017 was primarily due to \$4.0 million of higher compensation costs, including sales compensation, general salaries, bonuses, stock-based compensation and headcount growth (378 EMEA sales and marketing employees as of September 30, 2017 versus 332 as of September 30, 2016), partially offset by a decrease in amortization and bad debt expenses. For the three months ended September 30, 2017, the impact of foreign currency fluctuations on our EMEA sales and marketing expenses was not significant when compared to average exchange rates of the three months ended September 30, 2016. Over the past several years, we have been investing in our EMEA sales and marketing initiatives to further increase our revenues. These investments have included the hiring of additional headcount and new product innovation efforts. We expect our EMEA sales and marketing expenses to increase as we continue to grow our business.

Asia-Pacific Sales and Marketing Expenses. Our Asia-Pacific sales and marketing expenses did not materially change during the three months ended September 30, 2017 compared to the three months ended September 30, 2016. For the three months ended September 30, 2017, the impact of foreign currency fluctuations on our Asia-Pacific sales and marketing expenses was not significant when compared to average exchange rates of the three months ended September 30, 2016. Over the past several years, we have been investing in our Asia-Pacific sales and marketing initiatives to further increase our revenues. These investments have included the hiring of additional headcount and new product innovation efforts. We expect our Asia-Pacific sales and marketing expenses to increase as we continue to grow our business.

General and Administrative Expenses. Our general and administrative expenses for the three months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016 were split among the following geographic regions (dollars in thousands):

	Three Months Ended September 30,							% Change				
	2017	%		2016	%		Act	ual	Con	stant rency		
Americas	\$119,434	64	%	\$99,422	54	%	20	%	20	%		
EMEA	44,380	24	%	62,583	35	%	(29)%	(30)%		
Asia-Pacific	21,522	12	%	19,234	11	%	12	%	15	%		
Total	\$185 336	100	0%	\$181 239	100	%	2.	%	2.	%		

Three Months Ended September 30, 2017 2016

General and administrative expenses as a percentage of revenues:

 Americas
 20% 23%

 EMEA
 13% 21%

 Asia-Pacific
 10% 10%

 Total
 16% 20%

Americas General and Administrative Expenses. The increase in our Americas general and administrative expenses was primarily due to (i) \$8.9 million of higher compensation costs, including general salaries, bonuses, stock-based compensation, and headcount growth (1,088 Americas general and administrative employees, including those from the Verizon Data Center Acquisition, as of September 30, 2017 versus 919 as of September 30, 2016), (ii) \$4.5

million of higher office and consulting expenses in support of our business growth and (iii) \$5.1 million of higher depreciation expense associated with the implementation of certain systems, including revenue, data management and cloud exchange systems, to improve our quote to order and billing processes and to support the integration and growth of our business. During the three months ended September 30, 2017, the impact of foreign currency fluctuations on our Americas general and administrative expenses was not significant when compared to average exchange rates for the three months ended September 30, 2016. Going forward, although we are carefully monitoring our spending, we expect Americas general and administrative expenses to increase as we continue to further support our operations, including additional investments in our back office systems and maintaining our REIT qualification, and impact from the Verizon Data Center Acquisition.

EMEA General and Administrative Expenses. The decrease in our EMEA general and administrative expenses was primarily due to \$9.2 million of lower amortization expense as a result of fully amortizing the TelecityGroup trade names during the third quarter of 2017, \$4.9 million of lower consulting costs and \$2.2 million of lower compensation expenses largely due to the completion of TelecityGroup integration activities in the current quarter. For the three months ended September 30, 2017, the impact of foreign currency fluctuations on our EMEA general and administrative expenses was not significant when compared to average exchange rates for the three months ended September 30, 2016. Over the last several years, we have been investing in our EMEA general and administrative functions as a result of our ongoing efforts to scale this region effectively for growth. Going forward, although we are carefully monitoring our spending, we expect our EMEA general and administrative expenses to increase in future periods as we continue to further support our operations.

Asia-Pacific General and Administrative Expenses. Our Asia-Pacific general and administrative expenses did not materially change during the three months ended September 30, 2017 compared to the three months ended September 30, 2016. The impact of foreign currency fluctuations on our Asia-Pacific general and administrative expenses for the three months ended September 30, 2017 was not significant when compared to average exchange rates of the three months ended September 30, 2016. Going forward, although we are carefully monitoring our spending, we expect Asia-Pacific general and administrative expenses to increase as we continue to further support our operations. Acquisition Costs. During the three months ended September 30, 2017, we recorded acquisition costs totaling \$2.1 million primarily for the Verizon Data Center Acquisition in the Americas region. During the three months ended September 30, 2016, we recorded acquisition costs totaling \$12.5 million primarily in the EMEA region due to the Paris IBX Data Center Acquisition.

Impairment Charges. During the three months ended September 30, 2016, we recorded impairment charges totaling \$7.7 million in the Asia-Pacific region relating to assets held for sale. We did not have impairment charges during the three months ended September 30, 2017.

Gain on Asset Sales. During the three months ended September 30, 2016, we recorded a gain of \$27.9 million on the sale of the London 2 ("LD2") data center in the EMEA region. We did not have any asset sales during the three months ended September 30, 2017.

Income from Continuing Operations. Our income from continuing operations for the three months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016 was split among the following geographic regions (dollars in thousands):

	Three Mo 30,	% Change				
	2017	%	2016	%	Actua	Constant Currency
Americas	\$105,785	47 %	\$89,004	53 %	19%	19 %
EMEA	64,197	29 %	51,829	30 %	24%	16 %
Asia-Pacific	54,881	24 %	29,108	17 %	89%	91 %
Total	\$224,863	100%	\$169,941	100%	32%	30 %

Americas Income from Continuing Operations. The increase in our Americas income from continuing operations was primarily due to higher income generated from the Verizon Data Center Acquisition, higher revenues as a result of our IBX data center expansion activity and organic growth as described above and lower general and administration expenses as a percentage of revenues. The impact of foreign currency fluctuations on our Americas income from continuing operations for the three months ended September 30, 2017 was not significant when compared to average exchange rates of the three months ended September 30, 2016.

EMEA Income from Continuing Operations. Despite the impact of \$27.9 million gain on asset sales from LD2 during three months ended September 30, 2016, the increase in our EMEA income from continuing operations was primarily due to higher revenues as a result of our IBX data center expansion activity and acquisitions, as described above, as well as lower general and administration expenses as a percentage of revenues, which was primarily due to lower amortization costs as a result of fully amortizing the TelecityGroup trade names during the third quarter of 2017, and lower acquisition costs incurred for the three months ended September 30, 2017. We incurred \$0.9 million of acquisition costs, which was

primarily related to the Paris IBX Data Center Acquisition, during the three months ended September 30, 2016. The impact of foreign currency fluctuations on our EMEA income from continuing operations for the three months ended September 30, 2017 resulted in approximately \$3.9 million of net favorable foreign currency impact to our EMEA income from continuing operations primarily due to a generally weaker U.S. dollar relative to Euro during the three months ended September 30, 2017 compared to the three months ended September 30, 2016.

Asia-Pacific Income from Continuing Operations. The increase in our Asia-Pacific income from continuing operations was primarily due to higher revenues as a result of our IBX data center expansion activity and organic growth as described above and lower cost of revenues as a percentage of revenues. In addition, there was \$7.7 million of impairment charges relating to assets held for sale for the three months ended September 30, 2016 while there was no similar charge for three months ended September 30, 2017. The impact of foreign currency fluctuations on our Asia-Pacific income from continuing operations for the three months ended September 30, 2017 was not significant when compared to average exchange rates for the three months ended September 30, 2016.

Interest Income. Interest income was \$2.3 million and \$0.8 million, respectively, for the three months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016. The average annualized yield for the three months ended September 30, 2017 was 0.68% versus 0.41% for the three months ended September 30, 2016.

Interest Expense. Interest expense increased to \$121.8 million for the three months ended September 30, 2017 from \$92.2 million for the three months ended September 30, 2016. The increase in interest expense was primarily due to the Term B-2 Loan borrowings of €1.0 billion, or approximately \$1.1 billion at the exchange rate in effect at the time of borrowing in January 2017. Additionally, the increase was also attributable to our issuance of \$1.25 billion of 2027 Senior Notes in March 2017, as well as additional financings such as various capital lease and other financing obligations to support our expansion projects. The remaining increase was attributable to our issuance of €1.0 billion, or approximately \$1.2 billion at the exchange rate in effect at the time of borrowing in September 2017, of the 2025 Euro Senior Notes. During the three months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016, we capitalized \$6.2 million and \$3.2 million, respectively, of interest expense to construction in progress. We expect to incur higher interest expense going forward in connection with higher indebtedness that we incurred during 2017.

Other Income (Expense). We recorded net other expense of \$1.1 million and net other income of \$2.9 million, respectively, for the three months ended September 30, 2017 and September 30, 2016, which was primarily due to foreign currency exchange gains and losses during those periods.

Loss on debt extinguishment. We recorded a \$22.2 million net loss on debt extinguishment during the three months ended September 30, 2017. During the three months ended September 30, 2017, we recorded \$14.6 million loss on debt extinguishment in connection with the repayment of all of our 4.875% senior notes and \$7.6 million net loss on debt extinguishment as a result of an amendment of financing obligations for a data center in Santa Clara and other various lease modifications and terminations. During the three months ended September 30, 2016, we recorded a \$9.9 million loss on debt extinguishment as a result of the settlement of the financing obligations for our Paris 3 IBX data center.

Income Taxes. Effective January 1, 2015, we have operated as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes. As a REIT, we are generally not subject to federal income taxes on our taxable income distributed to our stockholders. We intend to distribute and have distributed the entire taxable income generated by the operations of the Company parent and its QRSs for the tax years ended December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, respectively. As such, no provision for U.S. income taxes for the REIT and its QRSs has been included in the accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements for the three months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016.

We have made TRS elections for some of our subsidiaries in and outside the U.S. In general, a TRS may provide services that would otherwise be considered impermissible for REITs to provide and may hold assets that REITs cannot hold directly. U.S. income taxes for the TRS entities located in the U.S. and foreign income taxes for our foreign operations regardless of whether the foreign operations are operated as a QRS or TRS have been accrued, as necessary, for the three months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016.

For the three months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016, we recorded \$2.2 million and \$22.8 million of income tax expense, respectively. Our effective tax rates were 2.7% and 31.8%, respectively, for the three months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016. The decrease in effective tax rate is primarily driven by the realization of unrecognized tax benefits in the current quarter related to the Company's tax positions as a result of the expiration of a statute of limitations.

Income from Discontinued Operations. Our net income from discontinued operations was \$2.7 million for the three months ended September 30, 2016. We did not have discontinued operations during the three months ended September 30, 2017.

Adjusted EBITDA is a key factor in how we assess the operating performance of our segments and develop regional growth strategies such as IBX data center expansion decisions. We define adjusted EBITDA as income or loss from operations plus depreciation, amortization, accretion, stock-based compensation expense, restructuring charges, impairment charges, acquisition costs and gain on asset sales. See "Non-GAAP Financial Measures" below for more information about adjusted EBITDA and a reconciliation of adjusted EBITDA to income or loss from operations. Our adjusted EBITDA for the three months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016 was split among the following geographic regions (dollars in thousands):

	Three Months Ended September 30,							
	2017	%	2016	%	Actua Constant Currency			
Americas	\$292,101	53 %	\$202,131	48 %	45% 44 %			
EMEA	146,464	27 %	121,468	29 %	21% 16 %			
Asia-Pacific	c111,754	20 %	96,443	23 %	16% 18 %			
Total	\$550,319	100%	\$420,042	100%	31% 30 %			

Americas Adjusted EBITDA. The increase in our Americas adjusted EBITDA was primarily due to the Verizon Data Center Acquisition and higher revenues as a result of our IBX data center expansion activity and organic growth as described above. The impact of foreign currency fluctuations on our Americas adjusted EBITDA for the three months ended September 30, 2017 was not significant when compared to average exchange rates of the three months ended September 30, 2016.

EMEA Adjusted EBITDA. The increase in our EMEA adjusted EBITDA was primarily due to higher revenues as a result of our IBX data center expansion activity and acquisitions, as described above, and lower integration costs relating to the TelecityGroup Acquisition in the current year compared to the same period in the prior year. During the three months ended September 30, 2017, currency fluctuations resulted in approximately \$5.7 million of net favorable foreign currency impact to our EMEA adjusted EBITDA primarily due to a generally weaker U.S. dollar relative to Euro during the three months ended September 30, 2017 compared to the three months ended September 30, 2016. Asia-Pacific Adjusted EBITDA. The increase in our Asia-Pacific adjusted EBITDA was primarily due to higher revenues as a result of our IBX data center expansion activity and organic growth as described above and lower cost of revenues as a percentage of revenues. During the three months ended September 30, 2017, the impact of foreign currency fluctuations resulted in approximately \$2.4 million of net unfavorable foreign currency impact to our Asia-Pacific adjusted EBITDA primarily due to a generally stronger U.S. dollar relative to Japanese yen and Singapore dollar during the three months ended September 30, 2017 compared to the three months ended September 30, 2016.

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2017 and 2016

Revenues. Our revenues for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016 were generated from the following revenue classifications and geographic regions (dollars in thousands):

	Nine Month	Nine Months Ended September 30,							% change		
	2017	%		2016	%		Actua	al	stant ency		
Americas:											
Recurring revenues	\$1,492,059	47	%	\$1,178,097	44	%	27%	26	%		
Non-recurring revenues	74,534	2	%	64,910	2	%	15%	14	%		
	1,566,593	49	%	1,243,007	46	%	26%	25	%		
EMEA:											
Recurring revenues	922,067	29	%	821,381	31	%	12%	16	%		
Non-recurring revenues	54,557	2	%	48,334	2	%	13%	16	%		
-	976,624	31	%	869,715	33	%	12%	16	%		
Asia-Pacific:											
Recurring revenues	583,395	19	%	525,454	20	%	11%	12	%		
Non-recurring revenues	41,595	1	%	31,166	1	%	33%	35	%		
· ·	624,990	20	%	556,620	21	%	12%	14	%		
Total:											
Recurring revenues	2,997,521	95	%	2,524,932	95	%	19%	20	%		
Non-recurring revenues	170,686	5	%	144,410	5	%	18%	20	%		
	\$3,168,207	100	%	\$2,669,342	100	%	19%	20	%		

Americas Revenues. Revenues for our Americas region for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 included approximately \$223.7 million of revenues attributable to the Verizon Data Center Acquisition. Our revenues from the U.S., the largest revenue

contributor in the Americas region for the period, represented approximately 91% and 93%, respectively, of the regional revenues during the nine months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016. Excluding revenues attributable to the Verizon Data Center Acquisition, growth in Americas revenues was primarily due to (i) approximately \$37.2 million of revenues generated from our recently-opened IBX data centers or IBX data center expansions in the Chicago, Dallas, New York, Sao Paulo, Silicon Valley, Toronto and Washington, D.C. metro areas and (ii) an increase in orders from both our existing customers and new customers during the period. During the nine months ended September 30, 2017, the U.S. dollar was generally weaker relative to the Brazilian real than during the nine months ended September 30, 2016, resulting in approximately \$10.3 million of net favorable foreign currency impact to our Americas revenues during the nine months ended September 30, 2016.

EMEA Revenues. Revenues for our EMEA region for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 include \$29.9 million of revenues attributable to the first 15 days of 2017 resulting from the acquisition of TelecityGroup that closed on January 15, 2016, the Paris IBX Data Center Acquisition, which closed in August 2016, and the IO Acquisition, which closed in February 2017. Our revenues from the UK, the largest revenue contributor in the EMEA region, represented approximately 30% of regional revenues for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 compared to 33% of regional revenues for the nine months ended September 30, 2016. Excluding the acquisitions, our EMEA revenue growth was primarily due to (i) approximately \$55.3 million of revenues from our recently-opened IBX data centers or IBX data center expansions in the Amsterdam, Dubai, Dublin, Frankfurt, Helsinki, Paris and Zurich metro areas and (ii) an increase in orders from both our existing customers and new customers during the period. During the nine months ended September 30, 2017, the impact of foreign currency fluctuations resulted in approximately \$29.7 million of net unfavorable foreign currency impact to our EMEA revenues primarily due to a generally stronger U.S. dollar relative to the Euro during the nine months ended September 30, 2016.

Asia-Pacific Revenues. Our revenues from Japan, our largest revenue contributor in the Asia-Pacific region, represented approximately 34% of regional revenues for both nine-month periods ended September 30, 2017 and 2016. Our Asia-Pacific revenue growth was primarily due to (i) approximately \$26.2 million of revenues generated from our recently-opened IBX data center expansions in the Hong Kong, Osaka and Tokyo metro areas and (ii) an increase in orders from both our existing customers and new customers during the period. During the nine months ended September 30, 2017, the U.S. dollar was generally stronger relative to the Japanese yen and Singapore dollar than during the nine months ended September 30, 2016, resulting in approximately \$7.4 million of net unfavorable foreign currency impact to our Asia-Pacific revenues during the nine months ended September 30, 2017 when compared to average exchange rates during the nine months ended September 30, 2016.

Cost of Revenues. Our cost of revenues for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016 were split among the following geographic regions (dollars in thousands):

	Nine Month	% change			
	2017	%	2016	%	Actual Constant currency
Americas	\$680,942	44 %	\$520,123	38 %	31% 30 %
EMEA	538,661	34 %	488,920	36 %	10% 13 %
Asia-Pacific	:353,921	22 %	345,906	26 %	2 % 4 %
Total	\$1,573,524	100%	\$1,354,949	100%	16% 17 %

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2017 2016

Cost of revenues as a percentage of revenues:

Americas	43 % 42 %
EMEA	55 % 56 %
Asia-Pacific	57 % 62 %
Total	50 % 51 %

Americas Cost of Revenues. Cost of revenues for our Americas region for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 included approximately \$109.4 million of cost of revenues attributable to the Verizon Data Center Acquisition. Excluding the impact from the Verizon Data Center Acquisition, depreciation expense was \$199.3 million and \$179.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016, respectively. The growth in depreciation expense was primarily due to our IBX expansion activity.

In addition to the \$19.8 million increase in depreciation expense, the remaining increase in our Americas cost of revenues for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2016 was primarily due to (i) \$18.2 million of higher utilities, repairs and maintenance, taxes, licenses, insurance, and other cost of sales in support of our business growth, and (ii) \$9.1 million of higher compensation costs, including sales compensation, general salaries, bonuses, stock-based compensation and higher headcount growth (1,090 Americas cost of revenues employees, excluding those from the Verizon Data Center Acquisition, as of September 30, 2017 versus 1,008 as of September 30, 2016). During the nine months ended September 30, 2017, the impact of foreign currency fluctuations resulted in approximately \$7.0 million of net unfavorable foreign currency impact to our Americas cost of revenues primarily due to a generally weaker U.S. dollar relative to the Brazilian real during the nine months ended September 30, 2016. We expect Americas cost of revenues to increase as we continue to grow our business, including results from the newly acquired business from the Verizon Data Center Acquisition.

EMEA Cost of Revenues. Cost of revenues for our EMEA region for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 included \$27.0 million of cost of revenues attributable to the first 15 days of 2017 resulting from the acquisition of TelecityGroup that closed on January 15, 2016, the Paris IBX Data Center Acquisition, which closed in August 2016, and the IO Acquisition, which closed in February 2017. Excluding cost of revenues attributable to these acquisitions, the increase in our EMEA cost of revenues was primarily due to \$17.3 million of other cost of sales, including third party and managed service expenses and \$14.3 million of higher utilities in support of our business growth, partially offset by \$6.8 million of lower depreciation and accretion expense resulting from real estate purchases and lease renewals and \$5.4 million of lower office expense, rent and repairs and maintenance expense. During the nine months ended September 30, 2017 the impact of foreign currency fluctuations on our EMEA cost of revenues resulted in approximately \$16.2 million of net favorable foreign currency impact to our EMEA cost of revenues primarily due to a generally weaker U.S. dollar relative to the British pound during the nine months ended September 30, 2017 compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2016. We expect EMEA cost of revenues to increase as we continue to grow our business.

Asia-Pacific Cost of Revenues. The increase in our Asia-Pacific cost of revenues was primarily due to (i) \$11.5 million higher consulting, utilities, bandwidth cost, managed service expense and other cost of sales to support our business growth and (ii) \$2.3 million of higher compensation costs, including sales compensation, general salaries, bonuses and stock-based compensation and headcount growth (818 Asia-Pacific cost of revenues employees as of September 30, 2017 versus 794 as of September 30, 2016), partially offset by \$5.9 million decrease in depreciation and accretion expenses. During the nine months ended September 30, 2017, the U.S. dollar was generally stronger relative to the Japanese yen and Singapore dollar than during the nine months ended September 30, 2016, resulting in approximately \$4.5 million of net favorable foreign currency impact to our Asia-Pacific cost of revenues during the nine months ended September 30, 2017 when compared to average exchange rates during the nine months ended September 30, 2016. We expect Asia-Pacific cost of revenues to increase as we continue to grow our business. Sales and Marketing Expenses. Our sales and marketing expenses for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016 were split among the following geographic regions (dollars in thousands):

	Nine Months Ended September 30,				% change			
	2017	%	2016	%	Actua	Constant currency		
Americas	\$251,988	59 %	\$171,128	52 %	47%	47 %		
EMEA	117,307	27 %	102,757	32 %	14%	20 %		
Asia-Pacific	58,817	14 %	51,473	16 %	14%	16 %		
Total	\$428,112	100%	\$325,358	100%	32%	33 %		

Nine Months Ended

September 30,

2017 2016

Sales and marketing expenses as a percentage of revenues:

Americas 16% 14% EMEA 12% 12% Asia-Pacific 9 % 9 % Total 14% 12%

Americas Sales and Marketing Expenses. The increase in our Americas sales and marketing expenses was primarily due to (i) \$47.3 million of amortization of the acquired intangible assets in connection with the Verizon Data Center Acquisition, (ii)

\$26.4 million of higher compensation costs, including sales compensation, general salaries, bonuses and stock-based compensation and headcount growth (665 Americas sales and marketing employees, including those from the Verizon Data Center Acquisition, as of September 30, 2017 versus 545 as of September 30, 2016) and (iii) \$3.9 million of higher consulting expenses to support our growth. During the nine months ended September 30, 2017, the impact of foreign currency fluctuations on our Americas sales and marketing expenses was not significant when compared to average exchange rates during the nine months ended September 30, 2016. We anticipate that we will continue to invest in Americas sales and marketing initiatives and expect our Americas sales and marketing expenses to continue to increase as we continue to grow our business, including impact from the Verizon Data Center Acquisition. EMEA Sales and Marketing Expenses. The increase in sales and marketing expenses for our EMEA region was primarily due to (i) \$9.0 million of higher compensation costs, including sales compensation, general salaries, bonuses, stock-based compensation and headcount growth (378 EMEA sales and marketing employees as of September 30, 2017 versus 332 as of September 30, 2016) and (ii) \$4.0 million of higher bad debt expenses. During the nine months ended September 30, 2017, the impact of foreign currency fluctuations on our EMEA sales and marketing expenses resulted in approximately \$5.9 million of net favorable foreign currency impact to our EMEA sales and marketing expenses primarily due to a generally stronger U.S. dollar relative to the British pound during the nine months ended September 30, 2017 compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2016. Over the past several years, we have been investing in our EMEA sales and marketing initiatives to further increase our revenues. These investments have included the hiring of additional headcount and new product innovation efforts. We expect our EMEA sales and marketing expenses to increase as we continue to grow our business.

Asia-Pacific Sales and Marketing Expenses. The increase in our Asia-Pacific sales and marketing expenses was primarily due to \$2.6 million of higher rent expense in support of our growth and \$5.5 million of higher compensation costs, including sales compensation, general salaries, bonuses, stock-based compensation and headcount growth (298 Asia-Pacific sales and marketing employees as of September 30, 2017 versus 277 as of September 30, 2016), partially offset by a decrease in bad debt expense. For the nine months ended September 30, 2017, the impact of foreign currency fluctuations on our Asia-Pacific sales and marketing expenses was not significant when compared to average exchange rates for the nine months ended September 30, 2016. Over the past several years, we have been investing in our Asia-Pacific sales and marketing initiatives to further increase our revenues. These investments have included the hiring of additional headcount and new product innovation efforts. We expect our Asia-Pacific sales and marketing expenses to increase as we continue to grow our business.

General and Administrative Expenses. Our general and administrative expenses for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016 were split among the following geographic regions (dollars in thousands):

	Nine Months Ended September 30,					% change				
	2017	%		2016	%		Act	ual	Cor	nstant rency
Americas	\$344,754	62	%	\$289,363	56	%	19	%	19	%
EMEA	152,016	27	%	171,031	33	%	(11)%	(6)%
Asia-Pacific	61,320	11	%	55,211	11	%	11	%	13	%
Total	\$558,090	100	%	\$515,605	100	%	8	%	10	%

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2017 2016

General and administrative expenses as a percentage of revenues:

Americas
EMEA

22% 23%

 $16\%\ 20\,\%$

Asia-Pacific 10% 10% Total 18% 19%

Americas General and Administrative Expenses. The increase in our Americas general and administrative expenses was primarily due to (i) \$23.0 million of higher compensation costs, including general salaries, bonuses, stock-based compensation, and headcount growth (1,088 Americas general and administrative employees, including those from the Verizon Data Center Acquisition, as of September 30, 2017 versus 919 as of September 30, 2016), (ii) \$16.8 million of higher depreciation expense associated with certain systems, including revenue, data management and cloud exchange systems, to improve our quote to order and billing processes and to support the integration and growth of our business and (iii) \$12.0 million of higher office expense

and consulting cost to support our growth. During the nine months ended September 30, 2017, the impact of foreign currency fluctuations on our Americas general and administrative expenses was not significant when compared to average exchange rates for the nine months ended September 30, 2016. Over the course of the past year, we have been investing in our Americas general and administrative functions to scale this region effectively for growth, which has included additional investments in improving our back office systems. We expect our current efforts to improve our back office systems will continue over the next several years. Going forward, although we are carefully monitoring our spending, we expect Americas general and administrative expenses to increase as we continue to further scale our operations to support our growth, including these investments in our back office systems and maintaining our REIT qualification. We also expect our Americas general and administrative expenses to increase as we continue to grow our business and as a result of the Verizon Data Center Acquisition.

EMEA General and Administrative Expenses. The decrease in our EMEA general and administrative expenses was primarily due to (i) \$11.4 million of lower depreciation and amortization expenses as a result of fully amortizing the TelecityGroup trade names during the third quarter of 2017, (ii) \$3.3 million of lower consulting expenses which was largely due to the completion of TelecityGroup integration activities in the current period and (iii) \$2.8 million of lower compensation costs. During the nine months ended September 30, 2017, the impact of foreign currency fluctuations on our EMEA general and administrative expenses resulted in approximately \$8.8 million of net favorable foreign currency impact to our EMEA general and administrative expenses primarily due to a generally stronger U.S. dollar relative to the British pound during the nine months ended September 30, 2017 compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2016. Over the course of the past year, we have been investing in our EMEA general and administrative functions as a result of our ongoing efforts to scale this region effectively for growth. Going forward, although we are carefully monitoring our spending, we expect our EMEA general and administrative expenses to increase in future periods as we continue to scale our operations to support our growth.

Asia-Pacific General and Administrative Expenses. The increase in our Asia-Pacific general and administrative expense was primarily due to \$4.9 million of higher depreciation expenses and \$2.7 million of higher compensation costs, including general salaries, bonuses, stock-based compensation and headcount growth (427 Asia-Pacific general and administrative employees as of September 30, 2017 versus 340 as of September 30, 2016), which partially offset by a decrease in rent, repair and maintenance expense. For the nine months ended September 30, 2017, the impact of foreign currency fluctuations on our Asia-Pacific general and administrative expenses was not significant when compared to average exchange rates of the nine months ended September 30, 2016. Going forward, although we are carefully monitoring our spending, we expect Asia-Pacific general and administrative expenses to increase as we continue to support our growth.

Acquisition Costs. During the nine months ended September 30, 2017, we recorded acquisition costs totaling \$31.5 million primarily in the Americas and EMEA regions. \$27.0 million of acquisition costs in Americas region was primarily related to the Verizon Data Center Acquisition during the nine months ended September 30, 2017. During the nine months ended September 30, 2016, we recorded acquisition costs totaling \$64.6 million primarily in the EMEA region due to the acquisitions of Telecity and the Paris IBX Data Center.

Impairment Charges. During the nine months ended September 30, 2016, we recorded impairment charges totaling \$7.7 million in the Asia-Pacific region relating to assets held for sale. We did not have impairment charges during the nine months ended September 30, 2017.

Gains on Asset Sales. During the nine months ended September 30, 2016, we recorded gains on asset sales of \$33.2 million relating to the sales of the LD2 data center in the EMEA region and the San Jose land parcel in the Americas region. We did not have any gain on asset sales during the nine months ended September 30, 2017.

Income from Continuing Operations. Our income from continuing operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016 was split among the following geographic regions (dollars in thousands):

EMEA	164,105	28 %	73,506	17	%	123	%	121	%
Asia-Pacific	:150,932	26 %	96,135	22	%	57	%	58	%
Total	\$576,971	100%	\$434,284	100	%	33	%	33	%

Americas Income from Continuing Operations. The decrease in our Americas income from continuing operations was primarily due to higher acquisition costs, increased depreciation and amortization of intangibles in connection with the Verizon Data Center Acquisition and higher operating costs as a percentage of revenues. During the nine months ended September 30, 2017, we incurred

\$27.0 million of acquisition costs, which was primarily related to the Verizon Data Center Acquisition and \$3.0 million of acquisition costs during the nine months ended September 30, 2016. Additionally, we incurred additional amortization of the acquired intangible assets resulted from the Verizon Data Center Acquisition, partially offset by higher revenues as result of our IBX data center expansion activity, organic growth and the Verizon Data Center Acquisition as described above. In addition, we recorded \$5.2 million gain on sale of San Jose land parcel during the nine months ended September 30, 2016. The impact of foreign currency fluctuations on our Americas income from continuing operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 was not significant when compared to average exchange rates of the nine months ended September 30, 2016.

EMEA Income from Continuing Operations. The increase in our EMEA income from continuing operations was primarily due to higher revenues as a result of our IBX data center expansion activity and acquisitions, as described above, as well as lower cost of revenues as a percentage of revenues, lower amortization costs as a result of fully amortizing the TelecityGroup trade names during the third quarter of 2017 and lower acquisition costs incurred for the nine months ended September 30, 2017. We incurred \$4.5 million of acquisition costs during the nine months ended September 30, 2017 and \$61.4 million of acquisition costs, which was primarily related to our acquisition of TelecityGroup, during the nine months ended September 30, 2016. Additionally, we recognized \$27.9 million gain on the sale of the LD2 data center during the nine months ended September 30, 2016 while there were no assets held for sale transactions occurred during the nine months ended September 30, 2017. During the nine months ended September 30, 2017, the impact of foreign currency fluctuations on our EMEA income from continuing operations was not significant when compared to average exchange rates of the nine months ended September 30, 2016. Asia-Pacific Income from Continuing Operations, The increase in our Asia-Pacific income from continuing operations was primarily due to higher revenues as result of our IBX data center expansion activity and organic growth as described above and lower cost of revenues as a percentage of revenues. During the nine months ended September 30, 2017, the impact of foreign currency fluctuations on our Asia-Pacific income from continuing operations was not significant when compared to average exchange rates of the nine months ended September 30, 2016. Interest Income. Interest income was \$9.8 million and \$2.5 million, respectively, for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016. The average annualized yield for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 was 0.57% versus 0.36% for the nine months ended September 30, 2016.

Interest Expense. Interest expense increased to \$352.6 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 from \$293.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2016. The increase in interest expense was primarily due to the Term B-2 Loan borrowings of €1.0 billion, or approximately \$1.1 billion at the exchange rate in effect at the time of borrowing in January 2017. Additionally, the increase was also attributable to our issuance of \$1.25 billion of 2027 Senior Notes in March 2017, as well as additional financings such as various capital lease and other financing obligations to support our expansion projects. The remaining increase was attributable to our issuance of €1.0 billion, or approximately \$1.2 billion at the exchange rate in effect at the time of borrowing in September 2017, of the 2025 Euro Senior Notes. During the nine months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016, we capitalized \$20.6 million and \$9.5 million, respectively, of interest expense to construction in progress. We expect to incur higher interest expense going forward in connection with higher indebtedness that we incurred during 2017.

Other Income (Expense). We recorded net other income of \$0.5 million and net expense of \$56.2 million, respectively, of other income (expense), for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016, primarily due to foreign currency exchange gains and losses during the periods, including \$63.5 million in foreign currency losses recognized in the first quarter of 2016 as a result of completing the acquisition of TelecityGroup.

Loss on debt extinguishment. We recorded \$42.1 million net loss on debt extinguishment during the nine months ended September 30, 2017 due to amendments of lease and financing obligations in Americas, Asia Pacific and EMEA regions and lease terminations in connection of real estate property purchases in Americas and EMEA regions. In addition, we recorded \$14.6 million loss on debt extinguishment in connection with the repayment of all of our 4.875% senior notes. During the nine months ended September 30, 2016, we recorded \$10.5 million loss on debt extinguishment as a result of the settlement of the financing obligations for our Paris 3 IBX data center as well as the prepayment and termination of our 2012 and 2013 Brazil financings.

Income Taxes. Effective January 1, 2015, we have operated as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes. As a REIT, we are generally not subject to federal income taxes on our taxable income distributed to our stockholders. We intend to distribute and have distributed the entire taxable income generated by the operations of the Company parent and its QRSs for the tax years ended December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, respectively. As such, no provision for U.S. income taxes for the REIT and its QRSs has been included in the accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016.

We have made TRS elections for some of our subsidiaries in and outside the U.S. In general, a TRS may provide services that would otherwise be considered impermissible for REITs to provide and may hold assets that REITs cannot hold directly. U.S. income taxes for the TRS entities located in the U.S. and foreign income taxes for our foreign operations regardless of whether

the foreign operations are operated as a QRS or TRS have been accrued, as necessary, for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016.

For the nine months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016, we recorded \$24.9 million and \$26.0 million of income tax expense, respectively. Our effective tax rates were 12.9% and 33.8%, respectively, for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016. The decrease in effective tax rates is primarily driven by the realization of unrecognized tax benefits in the current period related to the Company's tax positions as a result of the expiration of the statute of limitations.

Income from Discontinued Operations. We did not have discontinued operations during the nine months ended September 30, 2017. Our net income from discontinued operations was \$14.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2016.

Adjusted EBITDA is a key factor in how we assess the operating performance of our segments and develop regional growth strategies such as IBX data center expansion decisions. We define adjusted EBITDA as income or loss from operations plus depreciation, amortization, accretion, stock-based compensation expense, restructuring charges, impairment charges, acquisition costs and gains on asset sales. See "Non-GAAP Financial Measures" below for more information about adjusted EBITDA and a reconciliation of adjusted EBITDA to net income. Our adjusted EBITDA for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016 was split among the following geographic regions (dollars in thousands):

	Nine Month	% cha	ange				
	2017	%	2016	%	Actua	Cons	stan ency
Americas	\$748,871	50 %	\$581,619	48 %	29%	28	%
EMEA	417,640	28 %	366,412	30 %	14%	17	%
Asia-Pacific	320,690	22 %	272,952	22 %	17%	19	%
Total	\$1,487,201	100%	\$1,220,983	100%	22%	23	%

Americas Adjusted EBITDA. The increase in our Americas adjusted EBITDA was primarily due to the Verizon Data Center Acquisition, higher revenues as a result of our IBX data center expansion activity and organic growth as described above. During the nine months ended September 30, 2017, currency fluctuations resulted in approximately \$4.0 million of net favorable foreign currency impact on our Americas adjusted EBITDA primarily due to the generally weaker U.S. dollar relative to the Brazilian real during the nine months ended September 30, 2017 compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2016.

EMEA Adjusted EBITDA. The increase in our EMEA adjusted EBITDA was primarily due to higher revenues as a result of our IBX data center expansion activity and organic growth as described above and lower cost of revenues and general and administration expenses as a percentage of revenues. During the nine months ended September 30, 2017, currency fluctuations resulted in approximately \$10.0 million of net unfavorable foreign currency impact to our EMEA adjusted EBITDA primarily due to a generally stronger U.S. dollar relative to the British pound during the nine months ended September 30, 2017 compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2016.

Asia-Pacific Adjusted EBITDA. The increase in our Asia-Pacific adjusted EBITDA was primarily due to higher revenues as a result of our IBX data center expansion activity and organic growth as described above and lower cost of revenues as a percentage of revenues. During the nine months ended September 30, 2017, currency fluctuations resulted in approximately \$3.4 million of net unfavorable foreign currency impact to our Asia-Pacific adjusted EBITDA primarily due to a generally stronger U.S. dollar relative to Japanese yen and Singapore dollar during the nine months ended September 30, 2017 compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2016.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

We provide all information required in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America ("U.S. GAAP"), but we believe that evaluating our ongoing operating results may be difficult if limited to reviewing only U.S. GAAP financial measures. Accordingly, we use non-GAAP financial measures to evaluate our operations.

Non-GAAP financial measures are not a substitute for financial information prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Non-GAAP financial measures should not be considered in isolation, but should be considered together with the most

directly comparable U.S. GAAP financial measures and the reconciliation of the non-GAAP financial measures to the most directly comparable U.S. GAAP financial measures. We have presented such non-GAAP financial measures to provide investors with an additional tool to evaluate our operating results in a manner that focuses on what management believes to be our core, ongoing business operations. We believe that the inclusion of these non-GAAP financial measures provides consistency and comparability with past reports and provides a better understanding of the overall performance of the business and ability to perform in subsequent periods. We

Table of Contents

believe that if we did not provide such non-GAAP financial information, investors would not have all the necessary data to analyze Equinix effectively.

Investors should note that the non-GAAP financial measures used by us may not be the same non-GAAP financial measures, and may not be calculated in the same manner, as those of other companies. Investors should therefore exercise caution when comparing non-GAAP financial measures used by us to similarly titled non-GAAP financial measures of other companies.

Our primary non-GAAP financial measures are adjusted EBITDA and adjusted funds from operations ("AFFO"). Both measures exclude depreciation expense as these charges primarily relate to the initial construction costs of our IBX data centers and do not reflect our current or future cash spending levels to support our business. Our IBX data centers are long-lived assets and have an economic life greater than 10 years. The construction costs of an IBX data center do not recur with respect to such data center, although we may incur initial construction costs in future periods with respect to additional IBX data centers, and future capital expenditures remain minor relative to our initial investment. This is a trend we expect to continue. In addition, depreciation is also based on the estimated useful lives of our IBX data centers. These estimates could vary from actual performance of the asset, are based on historical costs incurred to build out our IBX data centers and are not indicative of current or expected future capital expenditures. Therefore, we exclude depreciation from our operating results when evaluating our operations.

In addition, in presenting adjusted EBITDA and AFFO, we exclude amortization expense related to acquired intangible assets. Amortization expense is significantly affected by the timing and magnitude of our acquisitions and these charges may vary in amount from period to period. We exclude amortization expense to facilitate a more meaningful evaluation of our current operating performance and comparisons to our prior periods. We exclude accretion expense (gain), both as it relates to asset retirement obligations as well as accrued restructuring charge liabilities, as these expenses represent costs which we believe are not meaningful in evaluating our current operations. We exclude stock-based compensation expense, as it can vary significantly from period to period based on share price, and the timing, size and nature of equity awards. As such, we, and many investors and analysts, exclude this stock-based compensation expense to compare our operating results with those of other companies. We also exclude restructuring charges. The restructuring charges relate to our decisions to exit leases for excess space adjacent to several of our IBX data centers, which we did not intend to build out, or our decision to reverse such restructuring charges. We also exclude impairment charges related to certain long-lived assets. The impairment charges are related to expense recognized whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of long-lived assets are not recoverable. We also exclude gains on asset sales as it represents profit that is not meaningful in evaluating our current or future operating performance. Finally, we exclude acquisition costs from AFFO and adjusted EBITDA to allow more comparable comparisons of our financial results to our historical operations. The acquisition costs relate to costs we incur in connection with business combinations. Such charges generally are not relevant to assessing long-term performance of the Company. In addition, the frequency and amount of such charges vary significantly based on the size and timing of the acquisitions. Management believes items such as restructuring charges, impairment charges, gain on asset sales and acquisition costs are non-core transactions; however, these types of costs may occur in future periods.

Adjusted EBITDA

We define adjusted EBITDA as income or loss from continuing operations excluding depreciation, amortization, accretion, stock-based compensation expense, restructuring charges, impairment charges, acquisition costs and gains or loss on asset sales as presented below (in thousands):

	Three Mo	nths Ended	Nine Months Ended		
	Septembe	r 30,	September 30,		
	2017	2016	2017	2016	
Income from continuing operations	\$224,863	\$169,941	\$576,971	\$434,284	
Depreciation, amortization, and accretion expense	277,719	215,370	749,118	631,242	
Stock-based compensation expense	45,654	42,473	129,602	116,311	
Acquisition costs	2,083	12,505	31,510	64,635	
Impairment charges	_	7,698		7,698	

Gains on asset sales		(27,945)		(33,187)
Adjusted EBITDA	\$550,319	\$420,042	\$1,487,201	\$1,220,983	

Our adjusted EBITDA results have improved each year and in each region in total dollars due to the improved operating results discussed earlier in "Results of Operations", as well as the nature of our business model consisting of a recurring revenue stream and a cost structure which has a large base that is fixed in nature also discussed earlier in "Overview."

Table of Contents

Funds from Operations ("FFO") and AFFO

We use FFO and AFFO, which are non-GAAP financial measures commonly used in the REIT industry. FFO is calculated in accordance with the standards established by the National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts. FFO represents net income (loss), excluding gain (loss) from the disposition of real estate assets, depreciation and amortization on real estate assets and adjustments for unconsolidated joint ventures' and non-controlling interests' share of these items.

We use AFFO to evaluate our performance on a consolidated basis and as a metric in the determination of employees' annual bonuses beginning in 2015 and vesting of restricted stock units that were granted beginning in 2015 and that have both service and performance conditions. In presenting AFFO, we exclude certain items that we believe are not good indicators of our current or future operating performance. AFFO represents FFO excluding depreciation and amortization expense on non-real estate assets, accretion, stock-based compensation, restructuring charges, impairment charges, acquisition costs, an installation revenue adjustment, a straight-line rent expense adjustment, amortization of deferred financing costs, gain (loss) on debt extinguishment, an income tax expense adjustment, recurring capital expenditures and adjustments for unconsolidated joint ventures' and non-controlling interests' share of these items, gain on asset sales and net income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax. The adjustments for both installation revenue and straight-line rent expense are intended to isolate the cash activity included within the straight-lined or amortized results in the consolidated statement of operations. We exclude the amortization of deferred financing costs as these expenses relate to the initial costs incurred in connection with debt financings that have no current or future cash obligations. We exclude gain (loss) on debt extinguishment since it generally represents the write-off of initial costs incurred in connection with debt financings or a cost that is incurred to reduce future interest costs and is not a good indicator of our current or future operating performance. We include an income tax expense adjustment, which represents the non-cash tax impact due to changes in valuation allowances, uncertain tax positions and deferred taxes that do not relate to current period's operations. We deduct recurring capital expenditures, which represent expenditures to extend the useful life of its IBX centers or other assets that are required to support current revenues. We also exclude net income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax, which represents results that may not recur and are not a good indicator of our current future operating performance.

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended

Table of Contents

Our FFO and AFFO for the three months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016 were as follows (in thousands):

		inis Liided	C 1 20		
	September		September 30,		
	2017	2016	2017	2016	
Net income	\$79,900	\$51,450	\$167,767	\$65,050	
Adjustments:					
Real estate depreciation	200,313	159,788	535,114	469,510	
(Gain) loss on disposition of real estate property	5,877	(23,436)	3,779	(29,424)	
Adjustments for FFO from unconsolidated joint ventures	29	29	85	85	
FFO	\$286,119	\$187,831	\$706,745	\$505,221	
	Three Mor	nths Ended	Nine Months	s Ended	
	September	30,	September 3	0,	
	2017	2016	2017	2016	
FFO	\$286,119	\$187,831	\$706,745	\$505,221	
Adjustments:					
Installation revenue adjustment	6,161	4,612	17,775	15,373	
Straight-line rent expense adjustment	2,297	2,686	5,721	5,714	
Amortization of deferred financing costs	4,390	2,687	20,100	13,438	
Stock-based compensation expense	45,654	42,474	129,602	116,312	
Non-real estate depreciation expense	29,205	22,108	87,021	64,516	
Amortization expense	48,893	32,929	128,068	93,384	
Accretion expense (gain)	(692)	545	(1,085)	3,832	
Recurring capital expenditures	(44,914)	(41,600)	(105,455)	(105,343)	
Loss on debt extinguishment	22,156	9,894	42,103	10,499	
Acquisition costs	2,083	12,505	31,510	64,635	
Impairment charges		7,698		7,698	
Income tax expense adjustment	(10,058)	2,501	(6,575)	3,612	
Adjustments for AFFO from unconsolidated joint ventures	(5)	(10)	(17)	(31)	
Net income from discontinued operations, net of tax		(2,681)		(14,306)	
AFFO	\$391,289	\$284,179	\$1,055,513	\$784,554	
One AEEO manufacture in the state of the immediate of the	4 14 .	. 11 1 .	11 1	14 C O	

Our AFFO results have improved due to the improved operating results discussed earlier in "Results of Operations," as well as due to the nature of our business model which consists of a recurring revenue stream and a cost structure which has a large base that is fixed in nature as discussed earlier in "Overview."

Constant Currency Presentation

Our revenues and certain operating expenses (cost of revenues, sales and marketing and general and administrative expenses) from our international operations have represented and will continue to represent a significant portion of our total revenues and certain operating expenses. As a result, our revenues and certain operating expenses have been and will continue to be affected by changes in the U.S. dollar against major international currencies such as the Euro, British pound, Japanese yen, Singapore dollar, Australian dollar and Brazilian real. In order to provide a framework for assessing how each of our business segments performed excluding the impact of foreign currency fluctuations, we present period-over-period percentage changes in our revenues and certain operating expenses on a constant currency basis in addition to the historical amounts as reported. Presenting constant currency results of operations is a non-GAAP financial measure and is not meant to be considered in isolation or as an alternative to U.S. GAAP results of operations. However, we have presented this non-GAAP financial measure to provide investors with an additional tool to evaluate our operating results. To present this information, our current and comparative prior period revenues and certain operating expenses from entities reporting in currencies other than the U.S. dollar are converted into U.S. dollars at constant exchange rates rather than the actual exchange rates in effect during the respective periods (i.e. average rates in effect

for the three months ended September 30, 2016 are used as exchange rates for the three months ended September 30, 2017 when comparing the three months ended September 30, 2017 with the three months ended September 30, 2016). Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of September 30, 2017, our total indebtedness was comprised of debt and financing obligations totaling \$10,120 million consisting of (a) \$5,782 million of principal from our senior notes, (b) approximately \$1,672 million from our capital lease and other financing obligations, and (c) \$2,666 million of principal from our mortgage and loans payable (gross of debt issuance cost, debt discount, plus debt premium).

We believe we have sufficient cash, coupled with anticipated cash generated from operating activities, to meet our operating requirements, including repayment of the current portion of our debt as it becomes due, payment of expenses related to our REIT integration activities, payment of regular dividends and completion of our publicly-announced expansion projects. As of September 30, 2017, we had \$1.6 billion of cash, cash equivalents and short-term and long-term investments, of which approximately \$1.1 billion was held in the U.S. We believe that our current expansion activities in the U.S. can be funded with our U.S.-based cash and cash equivalents and investments. Besides our cash and investment portfolio, we have additional liquidity available to us from the \$1.5 billion revolving credit facility. On May 1, 2017, we completed the acquisition of Verizon's colocation services business located in United States, Brazil and Colombia for a cash purchase price of approximately \$3.6 billion. The Verizon Data Center Acquisition was funded by the borrowing of our €1.0 billion Term B-2 Loan and proceeds from the issuance of our 2027 Senior Notes and of our common stock. During the three months ended March 31, 2017, we borrowed the full amount of our €1.0 billion Term B-2 Loan (see Note 9 of Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements), issued \$1.25 billion of 5.375% senior notes due 2027 (see Note 9 of Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements) and sold 6,069,444 shares of common stock in a public offering for net proceeds of \$2.1 billion (see Note 11 of Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements). During the three months ended September 30, 2017, we entered into an equity distribution agreement under which we can sell up to \$750.0 million of common stock in at the market ("ATM") offerings, issued €1.0 billion 2.875% Euro Senior Notes due 2025 and redeemed the entire \$500.0 million principal amount of our 4.875% Senior Notes due 2020. No sales have been made under the ATM program through September 30, 2017.

As of September 30, 2017, we had 39 irrevocable letters of credit totaling \$59.0 million issued and outstanding under the U.S. revolving credit line; as a result, we had a total of approximately \$1.4 billion of additional liquidity available to us under the revolving credit facility. Besides any further financing activities we may pursue, customer collections are our primary source of cash. While we believe we have a strong customer base, and have continued to experience relatively strong collections, if the current market conditions were to deteriorate, some of our customers may have difficulty paying us and we may experience increased churn in our customer base, including reductions in their commitments to us, all of which could have a material adverse effect on our liquidity. Additionally, we may pursue additional expansion opportunities, primarily the build out of new IBX data centers, in certain of our existing markets which are at or near capacity within the next year, as well as potential acquisitions. We are also now operating as a REIT and paying regular, recurring cash dividends. While we expect to fund these plans with our existing resources, additional financing, either debt or equity, may be required and if current market conditions were to deteriorate, we may be unable to secure additional financing or any such additional financing may only be available to us on unfavorable terms. An inability to pursue additional expansion opportunities will have a material adverse effect on our ability to maintain our desired level of revenue growth in future periods. Sources and Uses of Cash

> Nine Months Ended September 30, 2017 2016 (dollars in thousands)

\$944,354 \$718,735

Net cash provided by operating activities Net cash used in investing activities Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 4,508,974 (738,864)

(4,616,830 (1,684,132

Operating Activities. Our source of cash provided by our operations is generated by colocation, interconnection, managed infrastructure and other revenues. Our primary use of cash from our operating activities includes compensation and related costs, interest payments, other general corporate expenditures and taxes. Net cash provided by operating activities increased from the nine months ended September 30, 2016 to the nine months ended September 30, 2017 primarily due to improved operating results offset by timing of collections on our receivables and increases in cash paid for cost of revenues, operating expenses, interest expense and income taxes.

Investing Activities. The net cash used in investing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 was primarily due to business acquisitions of approximately \$3.6 billion, primarily the Verizon Data Center Acquisition, capital expenditures of \$946.0 million as a result of our expansion activity, and purchases of real estate of \$65.0 million, partially offset by proceeds from asset sales of \$47.8 million. The net cash used in investing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 was primarily due to \$1.8 billion for the acquisitions of TelecityGroup and the Paris IBX Data Center and the remaining amounts due for Bit-isle shares. These payments were partially offset by \$805.4 million net proceeds received from Digital Realty from the divestiture of certain data centers (see Notes 4 and 5 of Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-O). Other investing cash flows for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 included \$727.0 million of capital expenditures primarily related to our expansion activity, purchase of real estate for \$28.1 million and purchase of investments for \$31.7 million, partially offset by proceeds from the sale of assets of \$22.8 million and sales and maturities of investments for \$41.8 million.

Financing Activities. The net cash provided by financing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 was primarily due to borrowings under our €1.0 billion Term B-2 Loan, approximately \$1.1 billion at the exchange rate in effect on January 6, 2017, the issuance of \$1.25 billion of 5.375% senior notes due 2027, the issuance of €1.0 billion 2.875% Euro Senior Notes due 2025, approximately \$1.2 billion at the exchange rate on September 20, 2017, and the sale of 6,069,444 shares of common stock for net proceeds of \$2.1 billion. Other financing activities included repayment of the entire \$500.0 million principal amount of our 4.875% Senior Notes due 2020, dividend distributions of \$463.9 million, debt issuance costs of \$56.9 million, repayments of capital lease and other financing obligations of \$60.3 million, and repayments of mortgage and loans payable of \$63.5 million, partially offset by proceeds from employee awards of \$41.6 million. The net cash used in financing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 was primarily due to repayments of loans of \$986.5 million relating to loans assumed from TelecityGroup acquisition, our revolving credit facility and our Brazil financings facility, dividend distributions of \$374.2 million and repayments of \$100.9 million of capital lease and other financing obligations, partially offset by borrowings of \$710.4 million under our multicurrency Term B loan facility and bridge term loan, and proceeds from employee equity awards of \$34.1 million.

Contractual Obligations and Off-Balance-Sheet Arrangements

We lease a majority of our IBX data centers and certain equipment under non-cancellable lease agreements expiring through 2065. The following represents our debt maturities, financings, leases and other contractual commitments as of September 30, 2017 (in thousands):

	2017						
	(3	2018	2019	2020	2021	Thereafter	Total
	months)						
Term loans (1)	\$20,301	\$81,204	\$386,040	\$40,559	\$351,709	\$1,739,833	\$2,619,646
Senior notes (1)	_	_	_	_	_	5,781,500	5,781,500
Interest (2)	78,308	358,459	356,662	345,442	343,525	1,076,494	2,558,890
Capital lease and other financing obligations (3)	44,823	194,757	174,811	174,806	176,737	1,855,824	2,621,758
Operating leases (4)	41,508	166,498	159,074	149,190	139,796	1,222,207	1,878,273
Other contractual commitments (5)	594,240	126,255	53,148	15,245	12,359	127,941	929,188
Asset retirement obligations (6)	_	3,340	14,328	10,205	4,721	84,145	116,739
	\$779,180	\$930,513	\$1,144,063	\$735,447	\$1,028,847	\$11,887,944	\$16,505,994

- (1) Represents principal only.
- Represents interest on mortgage payable, loans payable, senior notes and term loans based on their approximate interest rates as of Section 1, 20, 2017 interest rates as of September 30, 2017.
- (3) Represents principal and interest.
- (4) Represents minimum operating lease payments, excluding potential lease renewals.

- (5) Represents off-balance sheet arrangements. Other contractual commitments are described below.
- (6) Represents liability, net of future accretion expense.

There are no other material changes in our commitments under mortgage and loans payable as disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016.

Table of Contents

In connection with certain of our leases and other contracts requiring deposits, we entered into 39 irrevocable letters of credit totaling \$59.0 million under the senior revolving credit line. These letters of credit were provided in lieu of cash deposits under the senior revolving credit line. If the landlords for these IBX leases decide to draw down on these letters of credit triggered by an event of default under the lease, we will be required to fund these letters of credit either through cash collateral or borrowing under the senior revolving credit line. These contingent commitments are not reflected in the table above.

We had accrued liabilities related to uncertain tax positions totaling approximately \$50.9 million as of September 30, 2017. These liabilities, which are reflected on our balance sheet, are not reflected in the table above since it is unclear when these liabilities will be paid.

Primarily as a result of our various IBX data center expansion projects, as of September 30, 2017, we were contractually committed for \$336.8 million of unaccrued capital expenditures, primarily for IBX equipment not yet delivered and labor not yet provided in connection with the work necessary to complete construction and open these IBX data centers prior to making them available to customers for installation. This amount, which is expected to be paid during the remainder of 2017 and thereafter, is reflected in the table above as "other contractual commitments." We had other non-capital purchase commitments in place as of September 30, 2017, such as commitments to purchase power in select locations and other open purchase orders, which contractually bind us for goods or services to be delivered or provided during 2017 and beyond. Such other purchase commitments as of September 30, 2017, which total \$592.4 million, are also reflected in the table above as "other contractual commitments."

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our condensed consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes are prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The preparation of our financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. On an ongoing basis, management evaluates the accounting policies, assumptions, estimates and judgments to ensure that our condensed consolidated financial statements are presented fairly and in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Management bases its assumptions, estimates and judgments on historical experience, current trends and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. However, because future events and their effects cannot be determined with certainty, actual results may differ from these assumptions and estimates, and such differences could be material. Critical accounting policies for Equinix that affect our more significant judgment and estimates used in the preparation of our condensed consolidated financial statements include accounting for income taxes, accounting for business combinations, accounting for impairment of goodwill and accounting for property, plant and equipment, which are discussed in more detail under the caption "Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates" in Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, set forth in Part II Item 7, of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016. We elected to be taxed as REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes beginning with our 2015 taxable year. As of September 30, 2017, our REIT structure includes all of our data center operations in the U.S., Canada, Japan and most of our data center operations in Europe. Our data center operations in other jurisdictions are operated as TRSs. We have made TRS elections for some of our subsidiaries in and outside the U.S. In general, a TRS may provide services that would otherwise be considered impermissible for REITs to provide and may hold assets that REITs cannot hold directly. U.S. income taxes for the TRS entities located in the country and foreign income taxes for our foreign operations were accrued, as necessary, for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 1 of Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Market Risk

There have been no significant changes in our market risk, investment portfolio risk, interest rate risk, foreign currency risk and commodity price risk exposures and procedures during the nine months ended September 30, 2017

as compared to the respective risk exposures and procedures disclosed in Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk, set forth in Part II Item 7A, of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016, other than factors discussed below.

Foreign Currency Risk

In January 2017, we borrowed Term B-2 Loan of €1,000.0 million. In September 2017, we issued €1,000.0 million of 2.875% senior notes due October 1, 2025 ("2025 Euro Senior Notes"). We designated 100% of Term B-2 loan and 54.5% of 2025 Euro Senior Notes as net investment hedges against our net investments in foreign subsidiaries that use the Euro as their function currency. For a net investment hedge, changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument designated as a net investment hedge, except the ineffective portion and forward points, are recorded as a component of other comprehensive income in the condensed consolidated balance sheets. We did not record any ineffectiveness during the nine months ended September 30, 2017. Any remaining change in the carrying value of the 2025 Euro Senior Notes is recognized in other income (expense) in our condensed consolidated statements of operations. Fluctuations in the exchange rates between the Euro and the U.S. Dollar will impact the amount of U.S. Dollars that we will require to settle the Term B-2 Loan and 2025 Euro Senior Notes at maturity. If the U.S. Dollar would have been weaker by 10% in comparison to the Euro as of September 30, 2017, we estimate our obligation to cash settle the principal portion of Term B-2 Loan and 2025 Euro Senior Notes in U.S. Dollars would have increased by approximately \$117.6 million and \$118.2 million, respectively. If the U.S. Dollar would have been stronger by 10% in comparison to the Euro as of September 30, 2017, we estimate our obligation to cash settle the principal portion of Term B-2 Loan and 2025 Euro Senior Notes in U.S. Dollars would have decreased by approximately \$117.6 million and \$118.2 million, respectively.

To help manage the exposure to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations, we have implemented a number of hedging programs, in particular (i) a cash flow hedging program to hedge the forecasted revenues and expenses in our EMEA region, (ii) a balance sheet hedging program to hedge the remeasurement of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, and (iii) a net investment hedging program to hedge the long term investments in our foreign subsidiaries. Our hedging programs reduce, but do not entirely eliminate, the impact of currency exchange rate movements and its impact on the consolidated statements of operations.

The U.S. dollar weakened relative to certain of the currencies of the foreign countries in which we operate during the nine months ended September 30, 2017. This has significantly impacted our condensed consolidated financial position and results of operations during this period, including the amount of revenues that we reported. Continued strengthening or weakening of the U.S. dollar will continue to have a significant impact to us in future periods. With the existing cash flow hedges in place, a hypothetical additional 10% strengthening of the U.S. dollar for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 would have resulted in a reduction of our revenues and operating expenses including depreciation and amortization expense for the quarter by approximately \$94.4 million and \$105.2 million, respectively.

With the existing cash flow hedges in place, a hypothetical additional 10% weakening of the U.S. dollar for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 would have resulted in an increase of our revenues and operating expenses including depreciation and amortization expense for the quarter by approximately \$92.2 million and \$104.0 million, respectively.

Interest Rate Risk

An immediate 10% increase or decrease in current interest rates from their position as of September 30, 2017 would not have a material impact on our interest expense due to the fixed nature of the majority of our debt obligations. However, the interest expense associated with our senior credit facility and term loans, which bear interest at variable rates, could be affected. For every 100 basis point change in interest rates, our annual interest expense could increase by a total of approximately \$20.8 million or decrease by a total of approximately \$4.3 million based on the total balance of our primary borrowings under the Term A loan facility, Term B-1 and B-2 loans, and the Japanese yen term loan as of September 30, 2017. As of September 30, 2017, we had not employed any interest rate derivative products against our debt obligations. However, we may enter into interest rate hedging agreements in the future to mitigate our exposure to interest rate risk.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures. Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, conducted an evaluation, pursuant to Rule 13a-15 promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), of the effectiveness of our "disclosure controls

and procedures" as of the end of the period covered by this quarterly report. Based on this evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the end of the period covered by this quarterly report.

Table of Contents

(b) Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting. We completed the acquisition of the selected Verizon Data Center Business in the second quarter of 2017. We are evaluating changes to processes and other components of internal controls over financial reporting of the Selected Verizon Data Center Business as part of the ongoing integration activities. There have not been any other changes in our internal control reporting that occurred during the quarter ended September 30, 2017 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

(c) Limitations on the Effectiveness of Controls. Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, believes that our disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting are designed and operated to be effective at the reasonable assurance level. However, our management does not expect that our disclosure controls and procedures or our internal control over financial reporting will prevent all errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, have been detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because of a simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people or by management override of the controls. The design of any system of controls also is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions; over time, controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or the degree of compliance with policies or procedures may deteriorate. Because of the inherent limitations in a cost effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.

Table of Contents

PART II - OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1.Legal Proceedings

None

Item 1A. Risk Factors

In addition to the other information contained in this report, the following risk factors should be considered carefully in evaluating our business and us:

Risks Related to the Integration of the Verizon Assets.

The anticipated benefits of the Verizon Data Center Acquisition may not be realized fully and may take longer to realize than expected and there will be numerous challenges associated with integration.

On May 1, 2017, we acquired Verizon's colocation business (the "Business"), for a cash purchase price of approximately \$3.6 billion (the "Verizon Data Center Acquisition"). The success of the Verizon Data Center Acquisition will depend, in part, on our ability to successfully integrate the Verizon assets into our business, and realize the anticipated benefits, including synergies and cost savings, from the Verizon Data Center Acquisition. If we are unable to achieve these objectives within the anticipated time frame, or at all, the anticipated benefits may not be realized fully or at all, or may take longer to realize than expected and the value of our common stock may be adversely affected.

We will incur significant transaction-related costs in connection with the integration process. We may encounter material challenges in connection with this integration process, including from, without limitation:

retaining relationships with key customers, landlords and suppliers of the acquired business, some of which may terminate their contracts with the Business as a result of the Verizon Data Center Acquisition or which may attempt to negotiate changes in their current or future business relationships with us;

expanding our relationships with U.S. government customers, which will subject us to complex regulatory and compliance requirements and risks with which we have limited experience;

integrating or migrating IT systems, which may create a risk of errors or performance problems and could affect our ability to meet customer service level obligations;

our reliance on transition services from Verizon to operate the Business, and our need to develop sustainable alternative arrangements upon expiration or interruption of those transition services;

the diversion of management's attention from ongoing business concerns and performance shortfalls at Equinix as a result of the devotion of management's attention to the Verizon Data Center Acquisition;

managing a larger company;

integrating two unique corporate cultures;

retaining key employees, who may experience uncertainty associated with the Verizon Data Center Acquisition and who may depart after the Verizon Data Center Acquisition because of issues relating to the uncertainty and difficulty of the integration or a desire not to remain with us following the Verizon Data Center Acquisition; and unforeseen expenses or delays associated with the Verizon Data Center Acquisition.

Many of these factors will be outside of our control and any one of them could result in increased costs, decreases in the amount of expected revenues and diversion of management's time and energy, which could materially impact our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We expect to incur significant integration costs in connection with the Verizon Data Center Acquisition
We expect to continue to incur significant costs in connection with integrating the Verizon assets into Equinix.
However, the actual costs incurred may exceed those estimated and there may be further unanticipated costs and the assumption of known and unknown liabilities. While we have assumed that we will incur integration expenses, there are factors beyond our control that could affect the total amount or the timing of such expenses. Many of the expenses that will be incurred, by their nature, are difficult to estimate accurately at the present time. In addition, Verizon has contributed specified assets and liabilities of the acquired business to newly formed entities, and we have acquired the equity interests of such entities. However, the contributed assets may not be sufficient to operate all aspects of the acquired business. Accordingly, we may have to use assets or resources from our existing business or acquire additional assets in order to operate the acquired business.

As a result, the integration expenses associated with the Verizon Data Center Acquisition could, particularly in the near term, exceed the cost savings that we expect to achieve from the streamlining of operations from the Verizon Data Center Acquisition.

Our business, financial condition and results of operations may be adversely affected by the Verizon Data Center Acquisition if we are not able to obtain requisite consents or enter into certain agreements.

Pursuant to the transaction agreement, Verizon has agreed to use its commercially reasonable efforts until 12 months following the consummation of the Verizon Data Center Acquisition to obtain any consents from customers, landlords, and other third parties that may be necessary in connection with the Verizon Data Center Acquisition, or to amend its agreements with such third parties so that we will be entitled to the rights and benefits currently enjoyed by Verizon under such agreements on substantially the same terms as then in effect. To the extent that we or Verizon are not able to obtain such consents, we may not be able to realize the anticipated benefits of the Verizon Data Center Acquisition.

We would incur adverse tax consequences if the Verizon Data Center Acquisition causes us to fail to qualify as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

We will integrate Verizon's assets and operations in a manner that will allow us to timely satisfy the REIT income, asset, and distribution tests applicable to us. However, if we fail to do so, we would jeopardize or lose our qualification for taxation as a REIT, particularly if we would not be ineligible to utilize relief provisions set forth in the Internal Revenue Code (the "Code").

Risks Related to Our Taxation as a REIT

We may not remain qualified for taxation as a REIT.

We have elected to be taxed as a REIT for federal income tax purposes beginning with our 2015 taxable year. We believe that our organization and method of operation comply with the rules and regulations promulgated under the Code such that we will continue to qualify for taxation as a REIT. However, we cannot assure you that we have qualified for taxation as a REIT or that we will remain so qualified. Qualification for taxation as a REIT involves the application of highly technical and complex provisions of the Code to our operations as well as various factual determinations concerning matters and circumstances not entirely within our control. There are also limited judicial or administrative interpretations of applicable REIT provisions.

If, in any taxable year, we fail to remain qualified for taxation as a REIT and are not entitled to relief under the Code: we will not be allowed a deduction for distributions to stockholders in computing our taxable income;

we will be subject to federal and state income tax, including any applicable alternative minimum tax, on our taxable income at regular corporate tax rates; and

we would not be eligible to elect REIT status again until the fifth taxable year that begins after the first year for which we failed to qualify as a REIT.

Any such corporate tax liability could be substantial and would reduce the amount of cash available for other purposes.

As a REIT, failure to make required distributions would subject us to federal corporate income tax.

We paid a quarterly distribution in September of 2017 and have declared a fourth quarterly distribution to be paid on December 13, 2017. The amount, timing and form of any future distributions will be determined, and will be subject to adjustment, by our Board of Directors. To remain qualified for taxation as a REIT, we are generally required to distribute at least 90% of our REIT taxable income (determined without regard to the dividends paid deduction and excluding net capital gain) each year, or in limited circumstances, the following year, to our stockholders. Generally, we expect to distribute all or substantially all of our REIT taxable income. If our cash available for distribution falls short of our estimates, we may be unable to maintain distributions that approximate our REIT taxable income and may fail to remain qualified for taxation as a REIT. In addition, our cash flows from operations may be insufficient to fund required distributions as a result of differences in timing between the actual receipt of income and the payment of expenses and the recognition of income and expenses for federal income tax purposes, or the effect of nondeductible expenditures, such as capital expenditures, payments of compensation for which Section 162(m) of the Code denies a deduction, the creation of reserves or required debt service or amortization payments.

To the extent that we satisfy the 90% distribution requirement but distribute less than 100% of our REIT taxable income, we will be subject to federal corporate income tax on our undistributed taxable income. In addition, we will be subject to a 4% nondeductible excise tax on our undistributed taxable income if the actual amount that we distribute to our stockholders for a calendar year is less than the minimum amount specified under the Code.

We may be required to borrow funds or raise equity to satisfy our REIT distribution requirements. Due to the size and timing of future distributions, including any distributions made to satisfy REIT distribution requirements, we may need to borrow funds or raise equity, even if the then-prevailing market conditions are not favorable for these borrowings or offerings.

Any insufficiency of our cash flows to cover our REIT distribution requirements could adversely impact our ability to raise short- and long-term debt or to offer equity securities in order to fund distributions required to maintain our qualification and taxation as a REIT. Furthermore, the REIT distribution requirements may increase the financing we need to fund capital expenditures, future growth and expansion initiatives. This would increase our indebtedness. A significant increase in our outstanding debt could lead to a downgrade of our credit rating. A downgrade of our credit rating could negatively impact our ability to access credit markets. Further, certain of our current debt instruments limit the amount of indebtedness we and our subsidiaries may incur. Significantly more financing, therefore, may be unavailable, more expensive or restricted by the terms of our outstanding indebtedness. For a discussion of risks related to our substantial level of indebtedness, see "Other Risks".

Whether we issue equity, at what price and the amount and other terms of any such issuances will depend on many factors, including alternative sources of capital, our then-existing leverage, our need for additional capital, market conditions and other factors beyond our control. If we raise additional funds through the issuance of equity securities or debt convertible into equity securities, the percentage of stock ownership by our existing stockholders may be reduced. In addition, new equity securities or convertible debt securities could have rights, preferences and privileges senior to those of our current stockholders, which could substantially decrease the value of our securities owned by them. Depending on the share price we are able to obtain, we may have to sell a significant number of shares in order to raise the capital we deem necessary to execute our long-term strategy, and our stockholders may experience dilution in the value of their shares as a result.

Legislative or other actions affecting REITs could have a negative effect on us or our stockholders. At any time, the federal income tax laws governing REITs or the administrative interpretations of those laws may be amended. Federal and state tax laws are constantly under review by persons involved in the legislative process, the IRS, the U.S. Department of the Treasury and state taxing authorities. Changes to the tax laws, regulations and administrative interpretations, which may have retroactive application, could adversely affect us. In addition, some of these changes could have a more significant impact on us as compared to other REITs due to the nature of our business and our substantial use of TRSs. We cannot predict with certainty whether, when, in what forms, or with what effective dates, the tax laws, regulations and administrative interpretations applicable to us may be changed. Complying with REIT requirements may limit our flexibility or cause us to forego otherwise attractive opportunities. To remain qualified for taxation as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes, we must satisfy tests concerning, among other things, the sources of our income, the nature and diversification of our assets and the amounts we distribute to our stockholders. For example, under the Code, no more than 25% (20% from and after our 2018 taxable year) of the value of the assets of a REIT may be represented by securities of one or more TRSs. Similar rules apply to other nonqualifying assets. These limitations may affect our ability to make large investments in other non-REIT qualifying operations or assets. In addition, in order to maintain our qualification for taxation as a REIT, we must distribute at least 90% of our REIT taxable income, determined without regard to the dividends paid deduction and excluding any net capital gains. Even if we maintain our qualification for taxation as a REIT, we will be subject to U.S. federal income tax at regular corporate tax rates for our undistributed REIT taxable income, as well as U.S. federal income tax at regular corporate tax rates for income recognized by our TRSs. Because of these distribution requirements, we will likely not be able to fund future capital needs and investments from operating cash flow. As such, compliance with REIT tests may hinder our ability to make certain attractive investments, including the purchase of significant nonqualifying assets and the material expansion of non-real estate activities. As a REIT, we are limited in our ability to fund distribution payments using cash generated through our TRSs. Our ability to receive distributions from our TRSs is limited by the rules with which we must comply to maintain our qualification for taxation as a REIT. In particular, at least 75% of our gross income for each taxable year as a REIT must be derived from real estate. Consequently, no more than 25% of our gross income may consist of dividend income from our TRSs and other nonqualifying types of income. Thus, our ability to receive distributions from our

TRSs may be limited, and may impact our ability to fund distributions to our stockholders using cash flows from our TRSs. Specifically, if our TRSs become highly profitable, we might become limited in our ability to receive net income from our TRSs in an amount required to fund distributions to our stockholders commensurate with that profitability.

In addition, a significant amount of our income and cash flows from our TRSs is generated from our international operations. In many cases, there are local withholding taxes and currency controls that may impact our ability or willingness to repatriate funds to the United States to help satisfy REIT distribution requirements.

Our extensive use of TRSs, including for certain of our international operations, may cause us to fail to remain qualified for taxation as a REIT.

The net income of our TRSs is not required to be distributed to us, and income that is not distributed to us generally is not subject to the REIT income distribution requirement. However, there may be limitations on our ability to accumulate earnings in our TRSs and the accumulation or reinvestment of significant earnings in our TRSs could result in adverse tax treatment. In particular, if the accumulation of cash in our TRSs causes the fair market value of our securities in our TRSs and other nonqualifying assets to exceed 25% of the fair market value of our assets, then we will fail to remain qualified for taxation as a REIT. Beginning with our 2018 taxable year, if the accumulation of cash in our TRSs causes (1) the fair market value of our securities in our TRSs to exceed 20% of the fair market value of our assets or (2) the fair market value of our securities in our TRSs and other nonqualifying assets to exceed 25% of the fair market value of our assets, then we will fail to remain qualified for taxation as a REIT. Further, a substantial portion of our TRSs are overseas, and a material change in foreign currency rates could also negatively impact our ability to remain qualified for taxation as a REIT.

Our cash distributions are not guaranteed and may fluctuate.

A REIT generally is required to distribute at least 90% of its REIT taxable income to its stockholders.

Our Board of Directors, in its sole discretion, will determine on a quarterly basis the amount of cash to be distributed to our stockholders based on a number of factors including, but not limited to, our results of operations, cash flow and capital requirements, economic conditions, tax considerations, borrowing capacity and other factors, including debt covenant restrictions that may impose limitations on cash payments, future acquisitions and divestitures and any stock repurchase program. Consequently, our distribution levels may fluctuate.

Even if we remain qualified for taxation as a REIT, some of our business activities are subject to corporate level income tax and foreign taxes, which will continue to reduce our cash flows, and we will have potential deferred and contingent tax liabilities.

Even if we remain qualified for taxation as a REIT, we may be subject to some federal, state, local and foreign taxes on our income and assets, including alternative minimum taxes, taxes on any undistributed income, and state, local or foreign income, franchise, property and transfer taxes. In addition, we could in certain circumstances be required to pay an excise or penalty tax, which could be significant in amount, in order to utilize one or more relief provisions under the Code to maintain our qualification for taxation as a REIT.

A portion of our business is conducted through wholly owned TRSs because certain of our business activities could generate nonqualifying REIT income as currently structured and operated. The income of our U.S. TRSs will continue to be subject to federal and state corporate income taxes. In addition, our international assets and operations will continue to be subject to taxation in the foreign jurisdictions where those assets are held or those operations are conducted. Any of these taxes would decrease our earnings and our available cash.

We will also be subject to a federal corporate level tax at the highest regular corporate tax rate (currently 35%) on gain recognized from a sale of a REIT asset where our basis in the asset is determined by reference to the basis of the asset in the hands of a C corporation (such as (i) an asset that we held as of the effective date of our REIT election, that is, January 1, 2015, or (ii) an asset that we or a QRS hold following the liquidation or other conversion of a former TRS). This 35% tax is generally applicable to any disposition of such an asset during the five-year period after the date we first owned the asset as a REIT asset (e.g., January 1, 2015 in the case of REIT assets we held at the time of our REIT conversion), to the extent of the built-in-gain based on the fair market value of such asset on the date we first held the asset as a REIT asset.

In addition, the IRS and any state or local tax authority may successfully assert liabilities against us for corporate income taxes for our pre-REIT period, in which case we will owe these taxes plus applicable interest and penalties, if any. Moreover, any increase in taxable income for these pre-REIT periods will likely result in an increase in pre-REIT accumulated earnings and profits, which could cause us to pay an additional taxable distribution to our stockholders and an interest penalty to the IRS after the relevant determination.

Restrictive loan covenants could prevent us from satisfying REIT distribution requirements. Restrictions in our credit facility and our indentures may prevent us from satisfying our REIT distribution requirements, and we could fail to remain qualified for taxation as a REIT. If these limits do not jeopardize our qualification for taxation as a REIT

but nevertheless prevent us from distributing 100% of our REIT taxable income, we would be subject to federal corporate income tax, and potentially a nondeductible excise tax, on the retained amounts. See "Other Risks" for further information on our restrictive loan covenants.

Complying with REIT requirements may limit our ability to hedge effectively and increase the cost of our hedging and may cause us to incur tax liabilities.

The REIT provisions of the Code limit our ability to hedge assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. Generally, income from hedging transactions that we enter into to manage risk of interest rate changes or fluctuations with respect to borrowings made or to be made by us to acquire or carry real estate assets and income from certain currency hedging transactions related to our non-U.S. operations, as well as income from qualifying counteracting hedges, do not constitute "gross income" for purposes of the REIT gross income tests. To the extent that we enter into other types of hedging transactions, the income from those transactions is likely to be treated as nonqualifying income for purposes of the REIT gross income tests. As a result of these rules, we may need to limit our use of advantageous hedging techniques or implement those hedges through our TRSs, which we presently do. This increases the cost of our hedging activities because our TRSs are subject to tax on income or gains resulting from hedges entered into by them and may expose us to greater risks associated with changes in interest rates or exchange rates than we would otherwise want to bear. In addition, hedging losses in any of our TRSs may not provide any tax benefit, except for being carried forward for possible use against future capital gain in the TRSs.

Distributions payable by REITs generally do not qualify for preferential tax rates.

Qualifying distributions payable by corporations to individuals, trusts and estates that are U.S. stockholders are currently eligible for federal income tax at preferential tax rates. Distributions payable by REITs, in contrast, generally are not eligible for the preferential tax rates. The preferential tax rates applicable to regular corporate distributions could cause investors that are individuals, trusts and estates to perceive investments in REITs to be relatively less attractive than investments in the stock of non-REIT corporations that pay distributions, which could adversely affect the value of the stock of REITs, including our common stock.

Our certificate of incorporation contains restrictions on the ownership and transfer of our stock, though they may not be successful in preserving our qualification for taxation as a REIT.

In order for us to remain qualified for taxation as a REIT, no more than 50% of the value of outstanding shares of our stock may be owned, beneficially or constructively, by five or fewer individuals at any time during the last half of each taxable year other than the first year for which we elect to be taxed as a REIT. In addition, rents from "affiliated tenants" will not qualify as qualifying REIT income if we own 10% or more by vote or value of the customer, whether directly or after application of attribution rules under the Code. Subject to certain exceptions, our certificate of incorporation prohibits any stockholder from owning, beneficially or constructively, more than (i) 9.8% in value of the outstanding shares of all classes or series of our capital stock or (ii) 9.8% in value or number, whichever is more restrictive, of the outstanding shares of any class or series of our capital stock. We refer to these restrictions collectively as the "ownership limits" and we included them in our certificate of incorporation to facilitate our compliance with REIT tax rules. The constructive ownership rules under the Code are complex and may cause the outstanding stock owned by a group of related individuals or entities to be deemed to be constructively owned by one individual or entity. As a result, the acquisition of less than 9.8% of our outstanding common stock (or the outstanding shares of any class or series of our stock) by an individual or entity could cause that individual or entity or another individual or entity to own constructively in excess of the relevant ownership limits. Any attempt to own or transfer shares of our common stock or of any of our other capital stock in violation of these restrictions may result in the shares being automatically transferred to a charitable trust or may be void. Even though our certificate of incorporation contains the ownership limits, there can be no assurance that these provisions will be effective to prevent our qualification for taxation as a REIT from being jeopardized, including under the affiliated tenant rule. Furthermore, there can be no assurance that we will be able to monitor and enforce the ownership limits. If the restrictions in our certificate of incorporation are not effective and as a result we fail to satisfy the REIT tax rules described above, then absent an applicable relief provision, we will fail to remain qualified for taxation as a REIT. Other Risks

Acquisitions present many risks, and we may not realize the financial or strategic goals that were contemplated at the time of any transaction.

Over the last several years, we have completed numerous acquisitions. We may make additional acquisitions in the future, which may include (i) acquisitions of businesses, products, services or technologies that we believe to be complementary, (ii) acquisitions of new IBX data centers or real estate for development of new IBX data centers or (iii) acquisitions through investments in local data center operators. We may pay for future acquisitions by using our existing cash resources (which may limit other potential uses of our cash), incurring additional debt (which may increase our interest expense, leverage and debt service

Table of Contents

requirements) and/or issuing shares (which may dilute our existing stockholders and have a negative effect on our earnings per share). Acquisitions expose us to potential risks, including:

the possible disruption of our ongoing business and diversion of management's attention by acquisition, transition and integration activities, particularly when multiple acquisitions and integrations are occurring at the same time;

our potential inability to successfully pursue or realize some or all of the anticipated revenue opportunities associated with an acquisition or investment;

the possibility that we may not be able to successfully integrate acquired businesses, or businesses in which we invest, or achieve anticipated operating efficiencies or cost savings;

the possibility that announced acquisitions may not be completed, due to failure to satisfy the conditions to closing or for other reasons;

the dilution of our existing stockholders as a result of our issuing stock in transactions, such as in connection with our acquisitions of Switch & Data Facilities Company, Inc. in 2010 and TelecityGroup in 2016;

the possibility of customer dissatisfaction if we are unable to achieve levels of quality and stability on par with past practices;

the potential deterioration to our ability to access credit markets due to increased leverage;

the possibility that our customers may not accept either the existing equipment infrastructure or the "look-and-feel" of a new or different IBX data center;

the possibility that additional capital expenditures may be required or that transaction expenses associated with acquisitions may be higher than anticipated;

the possibility that required financing to fund an acquisition may not be available on acceptable terms or at all; the possibility that we may be unable to obtain required approvals from governmental authorities under antitrust and competition laws on a timely basis or at all, which could, among other things, delay or prevent us from completing an acquisition, limit our ability to realize the expected financial or strategic benefits of an acquisition or have other adverse effects on our current business and operations;

the possible loss or reduction in value of acquired businesses;

the possibility that future acquisitions may present new complexities in deal structure, related complex accounting and coordination with new partners, particularly in light of our desire to maintain our qualification for taxation as a REIT; the possibility that future acquisitions may be in geographies and regulatory environments to which we are unaccustomed:

the possibility that carriers may find it cost-prohibitive or impractical to bring fiber and networks into a new IBX data center;

the possibility of litigation or other claims in connection with, or as a result of, an acquisition, including claims from terminated employees, customers, former stockholders or other third parties;

the possibility that asset divestments may be required in order to obtain regulatory clearance for a transaction; and the possibility of pre-existing undisclosed liabilities, including, but not limited to, lease or landlord related liability, environmental liability or asbestos liability, for which insurance coverage may be insufficient or unavailable, or other issues not discovered in the diligence process.

The occurrence of any of these risks could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition or cash flows.

We cannot assure that the price of any future acquisitions of IBX data centers will be similar to prior IBX data center acquisitions. In fact, we expect costs required to build or render new IBX data centers operational to increase in the future. If our revenue does not keep pace with these potential acquisition and expansion costs, we may not be able to maintain our current or expected margins as we absorb these additional expenses. There is no assurance we would successfully overcome these risks or any other problems encountered with these acquisitions.

Our substantial debt could adversely affect our cash flows and limit our flexibility to raise additional capital. We have a significant amount of debt and may need to incur additional debt to support our growth. Additional debt may also be incurred to fund future acquisitions, any future special distributions, regular distributions or the other cash outlays associated with maintaining qualification for taxation as a REIT. As of September 30, 2017, our total indebtedness (gross of debt issuance cost, debt discount, and debt premium) was approximately \$10.1 billion, our

stockholders' equity was \$6.5 billion and our cash, cash equivalents, and investments totaled \$1.6 billion. In addition, as of September 30, 2017, we had approximately \$1.4 billion of additional liquidity available to us from our \$1.5 billion revolving credit facility. Some of our debt contains covenants which may limit our operating flexibility. In addition to our substantial debt, we lease a majority of our IBX data centers and certain equipment under non-cancellable lease agreements, some of which are accounted for as operating leases. As of September 30, 2017, our total minimum operating lease commitments under those lease agreements, excluding potential lease renewals, was approximately \$1.9 billion, which represents off-balance sheet commitments.

Table of Contents

Our substantial amount of debt and related covenants, and our off-balance sheet commitments, could have important consequences. For example, they could:

require us to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to make interest and principal payments on our debt and in respect of other off-balance sheet arrangements, reducing the availability of our cash flow to fund future capital expenditures, working capital, execution of our expansion strategy and other general corporate requirements;

increase the likelihood of negative outlook from our rating agencies;

make it more difficult for us to satisfy our obligations under our various debt instruments;

increase our cost of borrowing and even limit our ability to access additional debt to fund future growth;

increase our vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions and adverse changes in governmental regulations;

limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and industry, which may place us at a competitive disadvantage compared with our competitors;

• limit our operating flexibility through covenants with which we must comply, such as limiting our ability to repurchase shares of our common stock;

limit our ability to borrow additional funds, even when necessary to maintain adequate liquidity, which would also limit our ability to further expand our business; and

make us more vulnerable to increases in interest rates because of the variable interest rates on some of our borrowings to the extent we have not entirely hedged such variable rate debt.

The occurrence of any of the foregoing factors could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

We may also need to refinance a portion of our outstanding debt as it matures. There is a risk that we may not be able to refinance existing debt or that the terms of any refinancing may not be as favorable as the terms of our existing debt. Furthermore, if prevailing interest rates or other factors at the time of refinancing result in higher interest rates upon refinancing, then the interest expense relating to that refinanced indebtedness would increase. These risks could materially adversely affect our financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.

Adverse global economic conditions and credit market uncertainty could adversely impact our business and financial condition.

Adverse global economic conditions and uncertain conditions in the credit markets have created, and in the future may create, uncertainty and unpredictability and add risk to our future outlook. An uncertain global economy could also result in churn in our customer base, reductions in revenues from our offerings, longer sales cycles, slower adoption of new technologies and increased price competition, adversely affecting our liquidity. The uncertain economic environment could also have an impact on our foreign exchange forward contracts if our counterparties' credit deteriorates or they are otherwise unable to perform their obligations. Finally, our ability to access the capital markets may be severely restricted at a time when we would like, or need, to do so which could have an impact on our flexibility to pursue additional expansion opportunities and maintain our desired level of revenue growth in the future. Recent political developments related to the U.K.'s referendum on membership in the EU could have a material adverse effect on our business.

We currently have IBX data centers and employees located in the UK and other European jurisdictions. A referendum was held on June 23, 2016 in the UK to determine whether it should remain in or leave the European Union (the "EU"), the outcome of which was a vote in favor of leaving the EU (the "Brexit"). The Brexit has resulted in political and economic instability throughout Europe. There is considerable uncertainty surrounding the exit process, the extent of the UK's future relationship with the EU, and the longer term impact of the Brexit on economic conditions in the UK and in the EU. The ongoing instability and uncertainty surrounding the Brexit in the near term, and the final terms reached regarding the Brexit, could have an adverse impact on our business and employees in EMEA and could adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

If we cannot effectively manage our international operations, and successfully implement our international expansion plans, our revenues may not increase and our business and results of operations would be harmed.

For the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, we recognized approximately 57%, 49% and 49%, respectively, of our revenues outside the U.S. We currently operate outside of the U.S. in Canada, Brazil, Colombia, EMEA and Asia-Pacific.

To date, the network neutrality of our IBX data centers and the variety of networks available to our customers has often been a competitive advantage for us. In certain of our acquired IBX data centers in the Asia-Pacific region the limited number of carriers available reduces that advantage. As a result, we may need to adapt our key revenue-generating offerings and pricing to be

competitive in those markets. In addition, we are currently undergoing expansions or evaluating expansion opportunities outside of the U.S. Undertaking and managing expansions in foreign jurisdictions may present unanticipated challenges to us.

Our international operations are generally subject to a number of additional risks, including:

the costs of customizing IBX data centers for foreign countries;

protectionist laws and business practices favoring local competition;

greater difficulty or delay in accounts receivable collection;

difficulties in staffing and managing foreign operations, including negotiating with foreign labor unions or workers' councils;

difficulties in managing across cultures and in foreign languages;

political and economic instability;

fluctuations in currency exchange rates;

difficulties in repatriating funds from certain countries;

our ability to obtain, transfer, or maintain licenses required by governmental entities with respect to our business; unexpected changes in regulatory, tax and political environments;

our ability to secure and maintain the necessary physical and telecommunications infrastructure;

compliance with anti-bribery and corruption laws;

compliance with economic and trade sanctions enforced by the Office of Foreign Assets Control of the U.S.

Department of Treasury; and

compliance with evolving governmental regulation with which we have little experience.

In addition, compliance with international and U.S. laws and regulations that apply to our international operations increases our cost of doing business in foreign jurisdictions. These laws and regulations include data privacy requirements, labor relations laws, tax laws, anti-competition regulations, import and trade restrictions, export requirements, economic and trade sanctions, U.S. laws such as the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and local laws which also prohibit corrupt payments to governmental officials. Violations of these laws and regulations could result in fines, criminal sanctions against us, our officers or our employees, and prohibitions on the conduct of our business. Any such violations could include prohibitions on our ability to offer our offerings in one or more countries, could delay or prevent potential acquisitions, and could also materially damage our reputation, our brand, our international expansion efforts, our ability to attract and retain employees, our business and our operating results. Our success depends, in part, on our ability to anticipate and address these risks and manage these difficulties.

Economic and political uncertainty in developing markets could adversely affect our revenue and earnings.

We conduct business and are contemplating expansion, in developing markets with economies and governments that tend to be more volatile than those in the U.S. and Western Europe. The risk of doing business in developing markets such as Brazil, China, Colombia, India, Indonesia, Russia, Turkey, the United Arab Emirates and other economically volatile areas could adversely affect our operations and earnings. Such risks include the financial instability among customers in these regions, political instability, such as the recent governmental unrest in Turkey, fraud or corruption and other non-economic factors such as irregular trade flows that need to be managed successfully with the help of the local governments. In addition, commercial laws in some developing countries can be vague, inconsistently administered and retroactively applied. If we are deemed not to be in compliance with applicable laws in developing countries where we conduct business, our prospects and business in those countries could be harmed, which could then have a material adverse impact on our results of operations and financial position. Our failure to successfully manage economic, political and other risks relating to doing business in developing countries and economically and politically volatile areas could adversely affect our business.

Table of Contents

Terrorist activity throughout the world and military action to counter terrorism could adversely impact our business. The continued threat of terrorist activity and other acts of war or hostility contribute to a climate of political and economic uncertainty. Due to existing or developing circumstances, we may need to incur additional costs in the future to provide enhanced security, including cyber security, which would have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations. These circumstances may also adversely affect our ability to attract and retain customers, our ability to raise capital and the operation and maintenance of our IBX data centers.

Sales or issuances of shares of our common stock may adversely affect the market price of our common stock. Future sales or issuances of common stock or other equity related securities may adversely affect the market price of our common stock, including any shares of our common stock issued to finance capital expenditures, finance acquisitions or repay debt. In August 2017, we established an "at-the-market" stock offering program ("ATM Program") through which we may, from time to time, issue and sell shares of our common stock having an aggregate gross sales price of up to \$750 million to or through sales agents. We have not made any sales of our common stock under the ATM Program to date.

The market price of our stock may continue to be highly volatile, and the value of an investment in our common stock may decline.

The market price of the shares of our common stock has been and may continue to be highly volatile. General economic and market conditions, and market conditions for telecommunications stocks in general, may affect the market price of our common stock.

Announcements by us or others, or speculations about our future plans, may also have a significant impact on the market price of our common stock. These may relate to:

our operating results or forecasts;

new issuances of equity, debt or convertible debt by us, including through our ATM Program;

increases in market interest rates and changes in other general market and economic conditions, including inflationary concerns;

changes to our capital allocation, tax planning or business strategy;

our qualification for taxation as a REIT and our declaration of distributions to our stockholders;

a stock repurchase program;

developments in our relationships with corporate customers;

announcements by our customers or competitors;

changes in regulatory policy or interpretation;

governmental investigations;

changes in the ratings of our debt or stock by rating agencies or securities analysts;

our purchase or development of real estate and/or additional IBX data centers;

our acquisitions of complementary businesses; or

the operational performance of our IBX data centers.

The stock market has from time to time experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations, which have particularly affected the market prices for telecommunications companies, and which have often been unrelated to their operating performance. These broad market fluctuations may adversely affect the market price of our common stock. One of the factors that investors may consider in deciding whether to buy or sell our common stock is our distribution rate as a percentage of our stock price relative to market interest rates. If market interest rates increase, prospective investors may demand a higher distribution rate or seek alternative investments paying higher dividends or interest. As a result, interest rate fluctuations and conditions in the capital markets may affect the market value of our common stock. Furthermore, companies that have experienced volatility in the market price of their stock have been subject to securities class action litigation. We may be the target of this type of litigation in the future. Securities litigation against us could result in substantial costs and/or damages, and divert management's attention from other business concerns, which could seriously harm our business.

If we are not able to generate sufficient operating cash flows or obtain external financing, our ability to fund incremental expansion plans may be limited.

Our capital expenditures, together with ongoing operating expenses, obligations to service our debt and the cash outlays associated with our REIT distribution requirements, are and will continue to be a substantial burden on our cash flow and may decrease our cash balances. Additional debt or equity financing may not be available when needed or, if available, may not be available on satisfactory terms. Our inability to obtain additional debt and/or equity financing or to generate sufficient cash from operations may require us to prioritize projects or curtail capital expenditures which could adversely affect our results of operations.

Fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates in the markets in which we operate internationally could harm our results of operations.

We may experience gains and losses resulting from fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. To date, the majority of revenues and costs in our international operations are denominated in foreign currencies. Where our prices are denominated in U.S. dollars, our sales and revenues could be adversely affected by declines in foreign currencies relative to the U.S. dollar, thereby making our offerings more expensive in local currencies. We are also exposed to risks resulting from fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates in connection with our international operations. To the extent we are paying contractors in foreign currencies, our operations could cost more than anticipated as a result of declines in the U.S. dollar relative to foreign currencies. In addition, fluctuating foreign currency exchange rates have a direct impact on how our international results of operations translate into U.S. dollars.

Although we currently undertake, and may decide in the future to further undertake, foreign exchange hedging transactions to reduce foreign currency transaction exposure, we do not currently intend to eliminate all foreign currency transaction exposure. In addition, REIT compliance rules may restrict our ability to enter into hedging transactions. Therefore, any weakness of the U.S. dollar may have a positive impact on our consolidated results of operations because the currencies in the foreign countries in which we operate may translate into more U.S. dollars. However, if the U.S. dollar strengthens relative to the currencies of the foreign countries in which we operate, our consolidated financial position and results of operations may be negatively impacted as amounts in foreign currencies will generally translate into fewer U.S. dollars. For additional information on foreign currency risk, refer to our discussion of foreign currency risk in "Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk" included in Item 3 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

Changes in U.S. or foreign tax laws, regulations, or interpretations thereof, including changes to tax rates, may adversely affect our financial statements and cash taxes.

We are a U.S. company with global subsidiaries and are subject to income taxes in the U.S. (although currently limited due to our taxation as a REIT) and many foreign jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required in determining our worldwide provision for income taxes. Although we believe that we have adequately assessed and accounted for our potential tax liabilities, and that our tax estimates are reasonable, there can be no certainty that additional taxes will not be due upon audit of our tax returns or as a result of changes to the tax laws and interpretations thereof. The U.S. government as well as the governments of many of the countries in which we operate are actively discussing changes to the corporate recognition and taxation of worldwide income. The nature and timing of any changes to each jurisdiction's tax laws and the impact on our future tax liabilities cannot be predicted with any accuracy but could materially and adversely impact our results of operations and financial position or cash flows.

We are continuing to invest in our expansion efforts but may not have sufficient customer demand in the future to realize expected returns on these investments.

We are considering the acquisition or lease of additional properties and the construction of new IBX data centers beyond those expansion projects already announced. We will be required to commit substantial operational and financial resources to these IBX data centers, generally 12 to 18 months in advance of securing customer contracts, and we may not have sufficient customer demand in those markets to support these centers once they are built. In addition, unanticipated technological changes could affect customer requirements for data centers, and we may not have built such requirements into our new IBX data centers. Either of these contingencies, if they were to occur, could make it difficult for us to realize expected or reasonable returns on these investments.

Our offerings have a long sales cycle that may harm our revenue and operating results.

A customer's decision to purchase our offerings typically involves a significant commitment of resources. In addition, some customers will be reluctant to commit to locating in our IBX data centers until they are confident that the IBX data center has adequate carrier connections. As a result, we have a long sales cycle. Furthermore, we may devote significant time and resources in pursuing a particular sale or customer that does not result in revenues. We have also significantly expanded our sales force in recent years, and it will take time for these new hires to become fully productive.

Delays due to the length of our sales cycle may materially and adversely affect our revenues and operating results, which could harm our ability to meet our forecasts and cause volatility in our stock price.

Any failure of our physical infrastructure or offerings, or damage to customer infrastructure within our IBX data centers, could lead to significant costs and disruptions that could reduce our revenue and harm our business reputation and financial results.

Our business depends on providing customers with highly reliable solutions. We must safehouse our customers' infrastructure and equipment located in our IBX data centers and ensure our IBX data centers and non-IBX offices remain operational. We own

Table of Contents

certain of our IBX data centers, but others are leased by us, and we rely on the landlord for basic maintenance of our leased IBX data centers and office buildings. If such landlord has not maintained a leased property sufficiently, we may be forced into an early exit from the center which could be disruptive to our business. Furthermore, we continue to acquire IBX data centers not built by us. If we discover that these buildings and their infrastructure assets are not in the condition we expected when they were acquired, we may be required to incur substantial additional costs to repair or upgrade the centers.

Our office buildings and IBX data centers are subject to failure resulting from, and infrastructure within such IBX data centers is at risk from, numerous factors, including:

human error:

equipment failure;

physical, electronic and cyber security breaches;

fire, earthquake, hurricane, flood, tornado and other natural disasters;

extreme temperatures;

water damage;

fiber cuts;

power loss;

terrorist acts;

sabotage and vandalism; and

failure of business partners who provide our resale products.

Problems at one or more of our IBX data centers, whether or not within our control, could result in service interruptions or significant equipment damage. We have service level commitment obligations to certain of our customers. As a result, service interruptions or significant equipment damage in our IBX data centers could result in difficulty maintaining service level commitments to these customers and potential claims related to such failures. Because our IBX data centers are critical to many of our customers' businesses, service interruptions or significant equipment damage in our IBX data centers could also result in lost profits or other indirect or consequential damages to our customers. We cannot guarantee that a court would enforce any contractual limitations on our liability in the event that one of our customers brings a lawsuit against us as a result of a problem at one of our IBX data centers and we may decide to reach settlements with affected customers irrespective of any such contractual limitations. Any such settlement may result in a reduction of revenue under U.S. GAAP. In addition, any loss of service, equipment damage or inability to meet our service level commitment obligations could reduce the confidence of our customers and could consequently impair our ability to obtain and retain customers, which would adversely affect both our ability to generate revenues and our operating results.

Furthermore, we are dependent upon internet service providers, telecommunications carriers and other website operators in the Americas, Asia-Pacific and EMEA regions and elsewhere, some of which have experienced significant system failures and electrical outages in the past. Our customers may in the future experience difficulties due to system failures unrelated to our systems and offerings. If, for any reason, these providers fail to provide the required services, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely impacted.

We are currently making significant investments in our back office information technology systems and processes. Difficulties from or disruptions to these efforts may interrupt our normal operations and adversely affect our business and operating results.

We have been investing heavily in our back office information technology systems and processes for a number of years and expect such investment to continue for the foreseeable future in support of our pursuit of global, scalable solutions across all geographies and functions that we operate in. These continuing investments include 1) ongoing improvements to the customer experience from initial quote to customer billing and our revenue recognition process; 2) integration of recently-acquired operations such as Bit-isle, TelecityGroup and the Business onto our various information technology systems; and 3) implementation of new tools and technologies to either further streamline and automate processes, such as our fixed asset procure to disposal process, or to support our compliance with evolving U.S. GAAP, such as the new revenue accounting and leasing standards. As a result of our continued work on these

projects, we may experience difficulties with our systems, management distraction and significant business disruptions. For example, difficulties with our systems may interrupt our ability to accept and deliver customer orders and may adversely impact our overall financial operations, including our accounts payable, accounts receivables, general ledger, fixed assets, revenue recognition, close processes, internal financial controls and our ability to otherwise run and track our business. We may need to expend significant attention, time and resources to correct problems or find alternative sources for performing these functions. All of these changes to our financial systems also create an increased risk of deficiencies in our internal controls over financial reporting until such systems are stabilized. Such significant investments in our back office systems may take longer to complete and cost more than originally planned. In addition, we may not realize the full benefits we hoped to achieve and there is a risk of an impairment charge if we decide that portions of these projects will not ultimately benefit the company or

are de-scoped. Finally, the collective impact of these changes to our business has placed significant demands on impacted employees across multiple functions, increasing the risk of errors and control deficiencies in our financial statements, distraction from the effective operation of our business and difficulty in attracting and retaining employees. Any such difficulties or disruptions may adversely affect our business and operating results. Inadequate external and internal information, including budget and planning data, could prove to be inaccurate and lead to inaccurate financial forecasts and inappropriate financial decisions.

Our financial forecasts are dependent on estimates and assumptions including budget and planning data, market growth, foreign exchange rates, our ability to remain qualified as a REIT, and our ability to generate sufficient cash flow to reinvest in the business, fund internal growth, make acquisitions, pay dividends, and meet our debt obligations. Our financial projections are based on historical experience and on various other assumptions that our management believes to be reasonable under the circumstances and at the time they are made. However, if our external and internal information is inadequate, our actual results may differ materially from our forecasts and cause us to make inappropriate financial decisions. Any material variation between our financial forecasts and our actual results may also adversely affect our future profitability, stock price and stockholder confidence.

The level of insurance coverage that we purchase may prove to be inadequate.

We carry liability, property, business interruption and other insurance policies to cover insurable risks to our company. We select the types of insurance, the limits and the deductibles based on our specific risk profile, the cost of the insurance coverage versus its perceived benefit and general industry standards. Our insurance policies contain industry standard exclusions for events such as war and nuclear reaction. We purchase minimal levels of earthquake insurance for certain of our IBX data centers, but for most of our data centers, including many in California, we have elected to self-insure. The earthquake and flood insurance that we do purchase would be subject to high deductibles. Any of the limits of insurance that we purchase, including those for cyber risks, could prove to be inadequate, which could materially and adversely impact our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our construction of additional new IBX data centers or IBX data center expansions could involve significant risks to our business.

In order to sustain our growth in certain of our existing and new markets, we must expand an existing data center, lease a new facility or acquire suitable land, with or without structures, to build new IBX data centers from the ground up. Expansions or new builds are currently underway, or being contemplated, in many of our markets. Any related construction requires us to carefully select and rely on the experience of one or more designers, general contractors, and associated subcontractors during the design and construction process. Should a designer, general contractor or significant subcontractor experience financial or other problems during the design or construction process, we could experience significant delays, increased costs to complete the project and/or other negative impacts to our expected returns.

Site selection is also a critical factor in our expansion plans. There may not be suitable properties available in our markets with the necessary combination of high power capacity and fiber connectivity, or selection may be limited. Thus, while we may prefer to locate new IBX data centers adjacent to our existing locations it may not always be possible. In the event we decide to build new IBX data centers separate from our existing IBX data centers, we may provide interconnection solutions to connect these two centers. Should these solutions not provide the necessary reliability to sustain connection, this could result in lower interconnection revenue and lower margins and could have a negative impact on customer retention over time.

Environmental regulations may impose upon us new or unexpected costs.

We are subject to various federal, state, local and international environmental and health and safety laws and regulations, including those relating to the generation, storage, handling and disposal of hazardous substances and wastes. Certain of these laws and regulations also impose joint and several liability, without regard to fault, for investigation and cleanup costs on current and former owners and operators of real property and persons who have disposed of or released hazardous substances into the environment. Our operations involve the use of hazardous substances and materials such as petroleum fuel for emergency generators, as well as batteries, cleaning solutions and other materials. In addition, we lease, own or operate real property at which hazardous substances and regulated

materials have been used in the past. At some of our locations, hazardous substances or regulated materials are known to be present in soil or groundwater, and there may be additional unknown hazardous substances or regulated materials present at sites we own, operate or lease. At some of our locations, there are land use restrictions in place relating to earlier environmental cleanups that do not materially limit our use of the sites. To the extent any hazardous substances or any other substance or material must be cleaned up or removed from our property, we may be responsible under applicable laws, regulations, judicial or administrative orders, or leases for the removal or cleanup of such substances or materials and the restoration of natural resources, the cost of which could be substantial.

Electricity is a material cost in connection with our business, and an increase in the cost of electricity could adversely affect us. The generators that provide electricity to our facilities are subject to environmental laws, regulations and permit requirements that are subject to material change, which could result in increases in generators' compliance costs that may be passed through to us. Regulations recently promulgated by the United States Environmental Protection Agency (the "U.S. EPA") could limit air emissions from power plants, restrict discharges of cooling water, and otherwise impose new operational restraints on conventional power plants that could increase costs of electricity. The heating, ventilation and air conditioning ("HVAC") and fire suppression systems at some of our facilities may include ozone-depleting substances that are subject to regulation by the U.S. EPA and the laws and regulations of non-U.S. jurisdictions. In addition, we are directly subject to environmental, health and safety laws regulating air emissions, storm water management and other issues arising in our business. For example, our emergency generators are subject to regulations and/or permits governing air pollutants, which could limit the operation of those generators or require the installation of new pollution control technologies. While environmental regulations do not normally impose material costs upon our operations, unexpected events, equipment malfunctions, human error and changes in law or regulations, among other factors, can lead to violations of environmental laws, regulations or permits, and to additional unexpected operational limitations or costs. Changes in law or our operations could require new permits or the renewal or amendment of permits, and it is possible that such changes would impose new limitations on our operations or new compliance costs, the extent of which cannot be estimated at this time.

Regulation of greenhouse gas ("GHG") emissions could increase the cost of electricity by reducing amounts of electricity generated from fossil fuels, by requiring the use of more expensive generating methods or by imposing taxes or fees upon electricity generation or use, or upon GHG emissions. The U.S. EPA published a regulation in October 2015, called the "Clean Power Plan," that is intended to reduce GHG emissions from existing fossil fuel-fired power plants by 32 percent from 2005 levels by 2030 through state programs that could increase the average costs of electricity generation. Numerous petitions for review were filed challenging the rule and, in February 2016, the U.S. Supreme Court stayed implementation of the Clean Power Plan until the litigation is resolved. On March 28, 2017, the U.S. EPA asked the U.S. Court of Appeals for the D.C. Circuit to hold in abeyance the challenges to the Clean Power Plan as a result of an Executive Order issued by President Trump on that day that requires the U.S. EPA to review the Clean Power Plan and other regulations to assess actions it could take to reduce regulatory burden on the oil, natural gas, coal, and nuclear industries. In response, on April 28, 2017, the D.C. Circuit Court issued an order holding the challenges to the Clean Power Plan in abeyance for 60 days, or until June 27, 2017. In light of potential revisions to the Clean Power Plan by the U.S. EPA and the unresolved status of litigation concerning the Clean Power Plan, it is not possible to assess the impact of the Clean Power Plan upon the electric generating sector or upon our costs of operation. While we do not expect these developments to materially increase our costs of electricity, the costs remain difficult to predict or estimate.

State regulations also have the potential to increase our costs of obtaining electricity. While GHG regulation at the federal level is unlikely in the near future, certain states, like California, also have issued or may enact environmental regulations that could materially affect our facilities and electricity costs. California has limited GHG emissions from new and existing conventional power plants by imposing regulatory caps and by selling or auctioning the rights to emission allowances. State programs have not had a material adverse effect on our electricity costs to date, but due to the market-driven nature of some of the programs, could do so in the future. Such laws and regulations are also subject to change at any time.

Aside from regulatory requirements, we have separately undertaken to procure energy from renewable energy projects in order to support new renewables development. The costs of procuring such energy may exceed the costs of procuring electricity from existing sources, such as existing utilities or electric service provided through conventional grids. These efforts to support and enhance renewable electricity generation may increase our costs of electricity above those that would be incurred through procurement of conventional electricity from existing sources. If we are unable to recruit or retain qualified personnel, our business could be harmed.

We must continue to identify, hire, train and retain IT professionals, technical engineers, operations employees, and sales, marketing, finance and senior management personnel who maintain relationships with our customers and who can provide the technical, strategic and marketing skills required for our company to grow. There is a shortage of

qualified personnel in these fields, and we compete with other companies for the limited pool of talent. The failure to recruit and retain necessary personnel, including, but not limited to, members of our executive team, could harm our business and our ability to grow our company.

We may not be able to compete successfully against current and future competitors.

We must continue to evolve our product strategy and be able to differentiate our IBX data centers and product offerings from those of our competitors. In addition to competing with other neutral colocation providers, we compete with traditional colocation providers, including telecommunications companies, carriers, internet service providers, managed services providers and large REITs who also operate in our market and may enjoy a cost advantage in providing offerings similar to those provided by our IBX data centers. We may experience competition from our landlords which could also reduce the amount of space available to

us for expansion in the future. Rather than leasing available space in our buildings to large single tenants, they may decide to convert the space instead to smaller square foot units designed for multi-tenant colocation use, blurring the line between retail and wholesale space. We may also face competition from existing competitors or new entrants to the market seeking to replicate our global IBX data center concept by building or acquiring data centers, offering colocation on neutral terms or by replicating our strategy and messaging. Finally, customers may also decide it is cost-effective for them to build out their own data centers. Once customers have an established data center footprint, either through a relationship with one of our competitors or through in-sourcing, it may be extremely difficult to convince them to relocate to our IBX data centers.

Some of our competitors may adopt aggressive pricing policies, especially if they are not highly leveraged or have lower return thresholds than we do. As a result, we may suffer from pricing pressure that would adversely affect our ability to generate revenues. Some of these competitors may also provide our target customers with additional benefits, including bundled communication services or cloud services, and may do so in a manner that is more attractive to our potential customers than obtaining space in our IBX data centers. Similarly, with growing acceptance of cloud-based technologies, we are at risk of losing customers that may decide to fully leverage cloud infrastructure offerings instead of managing their own. Competitors could also operate more successfully or form alliances to acquire significant market share.

Finally, as our customers evolve their IT strategies, we must remain flexible and evolve along with industry and market shifts. Ineffective planning and execution in our cloud strategy and product development lifecycle may cause difficulty in sustaining competitive advantage in our products and services.

Failure to compete successfully may materially adversely affect our financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.

Our business could be harmed by prolonged power outages or shortages, increased costs of energy or general lack of availability of electrical resources.

Our IBX data centers are susceptible to regional costs of power, power shortages, planned or unplanned power outages and limitations, especially internationally, on the availability of adequate power resources.

Power outages, such as those relating to large storms, earthquakes and tsunamis, could harm our customers and our business. We attempt to limit our exposure to system downtime by using backup generators and power supplies; however, we may not be able to limit our exposure entirely even with these protections in place. Some of our IBX data centers are located in leased buildings where, depending upon the lease requirements and number of tenants involved, we may or may not control some or all of the infrastructure including generators and fuel tanks. As a result, in the event of a power outage, we may be dependent upon the landlord, as well as the utility company, to restore the power. In addition, global fluctuations in the price of power can increase the cost of energy, and although contractual price increase clauses exist in the majority of our customer agreements, we may not always choose to pass these increased costs on to our customers.

In each of our markets, we rely on third parties to provide a sufficient amount of power for current and future customers. At the same time, power and cooling requirements are growing on a per unit basis. As a result, some customers are consuming an increasing amount of power per cabinet. We generally do not control the amount of power our customers draw from their installed circuits. This means that we could face power limitations in our IBX data centers. This could have a negative impact on the effective available capacity of a given center and limit our ability to grow our business, which could have a negative impact on our financial performance, operating results and cash flows.

We may also have difficulty obtaining sufficient power capacity for potential expansion sites in new or existing markets. We may experience significant delays and substantial increased costs demanded by the utilities to provide the level of electrical service required by our current IBX data center designs.

If our internal controls are found to be ineffective, our financial results or our stock price may be adversely affected. Our most recent evaluation of our controls resulted in our conclusion that, as of December 31, 2016, in compliance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, our internal controls over financial reporting were effective. Our ability to manage our operations and growth, through, for example, the integration of Bit-isle, TelecityGroup and the Verizon Data Center Acquisition, the adoption of new accounting principles and our overhaul of our back office

systems that support customer experience from initial quote to customer billing and our revenue recognition process, will require us to further develop our controls and reporting systems and implement or amend new or existing controls and reporting systems in those areas where the implementation and integration is still ongoing. All of these changes to our financial systems and the implementation and integration of acquisitions create an increased risk of deficiencies in our internal controls over financial reporting. If, in the future, our internal control over financial reporting is found to be ineffective, or if a material weakness is identified in our controls over financial reporting, our

Table of Contents

financial results may be adversely affected. Investors may also lose confidence in the reliability of our financial statements which could adversely affect our stock price.

The use of high power density equipment may limit our ability to fully utilize our older IBX data centers. Some customers have increased their use of high power density equipment, such as blade servers, in our IBX data centers which has increased the demand for power on a per cabinet basis. Because many of our IBX data centers were built a number of years ago, the current demand for power may exceed the designed electrical capacity in these centers. As power, not space, is a limiting factor in many of our IBX data centers, our ability to fully utilize those IBX data centers may be limited. The ability to increase the power capacity of an IBX data center, should we decide to, is dependent on several factors including, but not limited to, the local utility's ability to provide additional power; the length of time required to provide such power; and/or whether it is feasible to upgrade the electrical infrastructure of an IBX data center to deliver additional power to customers. Although we are currently designing and building to a higher power specification than that of many of our older IBX data centers, there is a risk that demand will continue to increase and our IBX data centers could become underutilized sooner than expected.

Our operating results may fluctuate.

We have experienced fluctuations in our results of operations on a quarterly and annual basis. The fluctuations in our operating results may cause the market price of our common stock to be volatile. We may experience significant fluctuations in our operating results in the foreseeable future due to a variety of factors, including, but not limited to:

fluctuations of foreign currencies in the markets in which we

the timing and magnitude of depreciation and interest expense or other expenses related to the acquisition, purchase or construction of additional IBX data centers or the upgrade of existing IBX data centers;

demand for space, power and services at our IBX data centers;

changes in general economic conditions, such as an economic downturn, or specific market conditions in the telecommunications and internet industries, both of which may have an impact on our customer base; charges to earnings resulting from past acquisitions due to, among other things, impairment of goodwill or intangible assets, reduction in the useful lives of intangible assets acquired, identification of additional assumed contingent liabilities or revised estimates to restructure an acquired company's operations;

the duration of the sales cycle for our offerings and our ability to ramp our newly-hired sales persons to full productivity within the time period we have forecasted;

restructuring charges or reversals of restructuring charges, which may be necessary due to revised sublease assumptions, changes in strategy or otherwise;

acquisitions or dispositions we may make;

the financial condition and credit risk of our customers;

the provision of customer discounts and credits;

the mix of current and proposed products and offerings and the gross margins associated with our products and offerings;

the timing required for new and future IBX data centers to open or become fully utilized;

competition in the markets in which we operate;

conditions related to international operations;

increasing repair and maintenance expenses in connection with aging IBX data centers;

lack of available capacity in our existing IBX data centers to generate new revenue or delays in opening new or acquired IBX data centers that delay our ability to generate new revenue in markets which have otherwise reached capacity;

changes in rent expense as we amend our IBX data center leases in connection with extending their lease terms when their initial lease term expiration dates approach or changes in shared operating costs in connection with our leases, which are commonly referred to as common area maintenance expenses;

the timing and magnitude of other operating expenses, including taxes, expenses related to the expansion of sales, marketing, operations and acquisitions, if any, of complementary businesses and assets;

the cost and availability of adequate public utilities, including power;

changes in employee stock-based compensation;

overall inflation;

increasing interest expense due to any increases in interest rates and/or potential additional debt financings;

changes in our tax planning strategies or failure to realize anticipated benefits from such strategies;

changes in income tax benefit or expense; and

changes in or new U.S. GAAP as periodically released by the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB"). Any of the foregoing factors, or other factors discussed elsewhere in this report, could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. Although we have experienced growth in revenues in recent quarters, this

growth rate is not necessarily indicative of future operating results. Prior to 2008, we had generated net losses every fiscal year since inception. It is possible that we may not be able to generate net income on a quarterly or annual basis in the future. In addition, a relatively large portion of our expenses are fixed in the short-term, particularly with respect to lease and personnel expenses, depreciation and amortization and interest expenses. Therefore, our results of operations are particularly sensitive to fluctuations in revenues. As such, comparisons to prior reporting periods should not be relied upon as indications of our future performance. In addition, our operating results in one or more future quarters may fail to meet the expectations of securities analysts or investors.

Our days sales outstanding ("DSO") may be negatively impacted by process and system upgrades and acquisitions. Our DSO may be negatively impacted by ongoing process and system upgrades which can impact our customer's experience in the short term, together with integrating recent acquisitions into our processes and systems which may have a negative impact on our operating cash flows, liquidity and financial performance.

Our reported financial results may be adversely affected by changes in U.S. GAAP.

We prepare our consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP. A change in these principles can have a significant effect on our reported financial position and financial results. In addition, the adoption of new or revised accounting principles may require that we make changes to our systems, processes and controls. For example, we are currently in the process of evaluating the newly issued accounting standards for revenue recognition and leasing, which could have a significant effect on our reported financial results, cause unexpected financial reporting fluctuations or require us to make costly changes to our operational processes and accounting systems upon the adoption of these standards. For additional information regarding the accounting standard updates, see "Accounting Standards Not Yet Adopted" and "Accounting Standards Adopted" sections of Note 1 of Notes in Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 1 of Part I of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

We may incur goodwill and other intangible asset impairment charges, or impairment charges to our property, plant and equipment, which could result in a significant reduction to our earnings.

In accordance with U.S. GAAP, we are required to assess our goodwill and other intangible assets annually, or more frequently whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate potential impairment, such as changing market conditions or any changes in key assumptions. If the testing performed indicates that an asset may not be recoverable, we are required to record a non-cash impairment charge for the difference between the carrying value of the goodwill or other intangible assets and the implied fair value of the goodwill or other intangible assets in the period the determination is made.

We also monitor the remaining net book values of our property, plant and equipment periodically, including at the individual IBX data center level. Although each individual IBX data center is currently performing in line with our expectations, the possibility that one or more IBX data centers could begin to under-perform relative to our expectations is possible and may also result in non-cash impairment charges.

These charges could be significant, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations or financial condition.

We have incurred substantial losses in the past and may incur additional losses in the future.

As of September 30, 2017, our retained earnings were \$187.5 million. Although we have generated net income for each fiscal year since 2008, except for the year ended December 31, 2014, we are also currently investing heavily in our future growth through the build out of multiple additional IBX data centers and IBX data center expansions as well as acquisitions of complementary businesses. As a result, we will incur higher depreciation and other operating expenses, as well as acquisition costs and interest expense, that may negatively impact our ability to sustain profitability in future periods unless and until these new IBX data centers generate enough revenue to exceed their operating costs and cover our additional overhead needed to scale our business for this anticipated growth. The current global financial uncertainty may also impact our ability to sustain profitability if we cannot generate sufficient revenue to offset the increased costs of our recently-opened IBX data centers or IBX data centers currently under construction. In addition, costs associated with the acquisition and integration of any acquired companies, as well as the additional interest expense associated with debt financing we have undertaken to fund our growth initiatives, may also negatively impact our ability to sustain profitability. Finally, given the competitive and evolving nature of the industry in which we operate, we may not be able to sustain or increase profitability on a quarterly or annual basis.

The failure to obtain favorable terms when we renew our IBX data center leases, or the failure to renew such leases, could harm our business and results of operations.

While we own certain of our IBX data centers, others are leased under long-term arrangements with lease terms expiring at various dates through 2065. These leased centers have all been subject to significant development by us in order to convert them from, in most cases, vacant buildings or warehouses into IBX data centers. Most of our IBX data center leases have renewal options

available to us. However, many of these renewal options provide for the rent to be set at then-prevailing market rates. To the extent that then-prevailing market rates or negotiated rates are higher than present rates, these higher costs may adversely impact our business and results of operations, or we may decide against renewing the lease. In the event that an IBX data center lease does not have a renewal option, or we fail to exercise a renewal option in a timely fashion and lose our right to renew the lease, we may not be successful in negotiating a renewal of the lease with the landlord. A failure to renew a lease could force us to exit a building prematurely, which could be disruptive to our business, harm our customer relationships, expose us to liability under our customer contracts, cause us to take impairment charges and negatively affect our operating results.

We depend on a number of third parties to provide internet connectivity to our IBX data centers; if connectivity is interrupted or terminated, our operating results and cash flow could be materially and adversely affected. The presence of diverse telecommunications carriers' fiber networks in our IBX data centers is critical to our ability to retain and attract new customers. We are not a telecommunications carrier, and as such, we rely on third parties to provide our customers with carrier services. We believe that the availability of carrier capacity will directly affect our ability to achieve our projected results. We rely primarily on revenue opportunities from the telecommunications carriers' customers to encourage them to invest the capital and operating resources required to connect from their centers to our IBX data centers. Carriers will likely evaluate the revenue opportunity of an IBX data center based on the assumption that the environment will be highly competitive. We cannot provide assurance that each and every carrier will elect to offer its services within our IBX data centers or that once a carrier has decided to provide internet connectivity to our IBX data centers that it will continue to do so for any period of time.

Our new IBX data centers require construction and operation of a sophisticated redundant fiber network. The construction required to connect multiple carrier facilities to our IBX data centers is complex and involves factors outside of our control, including regulatory processes and the availability of construction resources. Any hardware or fiber failures on this network may result in significant loss of connectivity to our new IBX data center expansions. This could affect our ability to attract new customers to these IBX data centers or retain existing customers. If the establishment of highly diverse internet connectivity to our IBX data centers does not occur, is materially delayed or is discontinued, or is subject to failure, our operating results and cash flow will be adversely affected. We may be vulnerable to security breaches which could disrupt our operations and have a material adverse effect on our financial performance and operating results.

We face risks associated with unauthorized access to our computer systems, loss or destruction of data, computer viruses, malware, distributed denial-of-service attacks, or other malicious activities. These threats may result from human error, equipment failure, or fraud or malice on the part of employees or third parties. A party who is able to compromise the security measures on our networks or the security of our infrastructure could misappropriate either our proprietary information or the personal information of our customers or our employees, or cause interruptions or malfunctions in our operations or our customers' operations. As we provide assurances to our customers that we provide a high level of security, such a compromise could be particularly harmful to our brand and reputation. We may be required to expend significant capital and resources to protect against such threats or to alleviate problems caused by breaches in security. As techniques used to breach security change frequently, and are generally not recognized until launched against a target, we may not be able to promptly detect that a cyber breach has occurred, or implement security measures in a timely manner or, if and when implemented, we may not be able to determine the extent to which these measures could be circumvented. Any breaches that may occur could expose us to increased risk of lawsuits, regulatory penalties, loss of existing or potential customers, damage relating to loss of proprietary information, harm to our reputation and increases in our security costs, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial performance and operating results. We maintain insurance coverage for cyber risks but such coverage may be unavailable or insufficient to cover our losses.

We offer professional services to our customers where we consult on data center solutions and assist with implementations. We also offer managed services in certain of our foreign jurisdictions outside of the U.S. where we manage the data center infrastructure for our customers. The access gained from these services to our clients' networks and data creates some risk that our clients' networks or data will be improperly accessed. We may also design our clients' cloud storage systems in such a way that exposes our clients to increased risk of data breach. If Equinix were

held to be responsible for any such a breach, it could result in a significant loss to Equinix, including damage to Equinix's client relationships, harm to our brand and reputation, and legal liability.

We have government customers, which subjects us to risks including early termination, audits, investigations, sanctions and penalties.

We derive revenues from contracts with the U.S. government, state and local governments and foreign governments. Some of these customers may terminate all or part of their contracts at any time, without cause. There is increased pressure for governments and their agencies, both domestically and internationally, to reduce spending. Some of our federal government contracts are subject

to the approval of appropriations being made by the U.S. Congress to fund the expenditures under these contracts. Similarly, some of our contracts at the state and local levels are subject to government funding authorizations. Additionally, government contracts are generally subject to audits and investigations which could result in various civil and criminal penalties and administrative sanctions, including termination of contracts, refund of a portion of fees received, forfeiture of profits, suspension of payments, fines and suspensions or debarment from future government business.

Because we depend on the development and growth of a balanced customer base, including key magnet customers, failure to attract, grow and retain this base of customers could harm our business and operating results. Our ability to maximize revenues depends on our ability to develop and grow a balanced customer base, consisting of a variety of companies, including enterprises, cloud, digital content and financial companies, and network service providers. We consider certain of these customers to be key magnets in that they draw in other customers. The more balanced the customer base within each IBX data center, the better we will be able to generate significant interconnection revenues, which in turn increases our overall revenues. Our ability to attract customers to our IBX data centers will depend on a variety of factors, including the presence of multiple carriers, the mix of our offerings, the overall mix of customers, the presence of key customers attracting business through vertical market ecosystems, the IBX data center's operating reliability and security and our ability to effectively market our offerings. However, some of our customers may face competitive pressures and may ultimately not be successful or may be consolidated through merger or acquisition. If these customers do not continue to use our IBX data centers it may be disruptive to our business. Finally, the uncertain global economic climate may harm our ability to attract and retain customers if customers slow spending, or delay decision-making, on our offerings, or if customers begin to have difficulty paying us and we experience increased churn in our customer base. Any of these factors may hinder the development, growth and retention of a balanced customer base and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We may be subject to securities class action and other litigation, which may harm our business and results of operations.

We may be subject to securities class action or other litigation. For example, securities class action litigation has often been brought against a company following periods of volatility in the market price of its securities. Litigation can be lengthy, expensive, and divert management's attention and resources. Results cannot be predicted with certainty and an adverse outcome in litigation could result in monetary damages or injunctive relief. Further, any payments made in settlement may directly reduce our revenue under U.S. GAAP and could negatively impact our operating results for the period. For all of these reasons, litigation could seriously harm our business, results of operations, financial condition or cash flows.

We may not be able to protect our intellectual property rights.

We cannot make assurances that the steps taken by us to protect our intellectual property rights will be adequate to deter misappropriation of proprietary information or that we will be able to detect unauthorized use and take appropriate steps to enforce our intellectual property rights. We also are subject to the risk of litigation alleging infringement of third-party intellectual property rights. Any such claims could require us to spend significant sums in litigation, pay damages, develop non-infringing intellectual property, or acquire licenses to the intellectual property that is the subject of the alleged infringement.

Government regulation may adversely affect our business.

Various laws and governmental regulations, both in the U.S. and abroad, governing internet related services, related communications services and information technologies remain largely unsettled, even in areas where there has been some legislative action. For example, the Federal Communications Commission ("FCC") adopted network neutrality rules that may result in material changes in the regulations and contribution regime affecting us and our customers. However, the new FCC leadership may seek to overturn the current rules thus making the future of network neutrality and its impact on Equinix uncertain. There may also be forthcoming regulation in the U.S. in the areas of cybersecurity, data privacy and data security, any of which could impact Equinix and our customers. Similarly, data privacy regulations outside of the U.S. continue to evolve and must be addressed by Equinix as a global company.

Likewise, as part of a review of the current equity market structure, the Securities and Exchange Commission and the Commodity Futures Trading Commission ("CFTC") have both sought comments regarding the regulation of independent data centers, such as us, which provide colocation for financial markets and exchanges. The CFTC is also considering regulation of companies that use automated and high-frequency trading systems. Any such regulation may ultimately affect our provision of offerings.

We remain focused on whether and how existing and changing laws, such as those governing intellectual property, privacy, libel, telecommunications services and taxation, apply to the internet and to related offerings such as ours, and substantial resources may be required to comply with regulations or bring any non-compliant business practices into compliance with such regulations.

Table of Contents

In addition, the continuing development of the market for online commerce and the displacement of traditional telephony service by the internet and related communications services may prompt an increased call for more stringent consumer protection laws or other regulation both in the U.S. and abroad that may impose additional burdens on companies conducting business online and their service providers.

The adoption, or modification of laws or regulations relating to the internet and our business, or interpretations of existing laws, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Industry consolidation may have a negative impact on our business model.

If customers combine businesses, they may require less colocation space, which could lead to churn in our customer base. Regional competitors may also consolidate to become a global competitor. Consolidation of our customers and/or our competitors may present a risk to our business model and have a negative impact on our revenues. We have various mechanisms in place that may discourage takeover attempts.

Certain provisions of our certificate of incorporation and bylaws may discourage, delay or prevent a third party from acquiring control of us in a merger, acquisition or similar transaction that a stockholder may consider favorable. Such provisions include:

• ownership limitations and transfer restrictions relating to our stock that are intended to facilitate our compliance with certain REIT rules relating to share ownership;

authorization for the issuance of "blank check" preferred stock;

the prohibition of cumulative voting in the election of directors;

4imits on the persons who may call special meetings of stockholders;

4imits on stockholder action by written consent; and

advance notice requirements for nominations to the Board of Directors or for proposing matters that can be acted on by stockholders at stockholder meetings.

In addition, Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which restricts certain business combinations with interested stockholders in certain situations, may also discourage, delay or prevent someone from acquiring or merging with us.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

None

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities

None.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosure

Not applicable.

Item 5. Other Information

None.

Item 6. Exhibits

		Incorporated by Reference		
Exhibit Numbe	Exhibit Description	Form	Filing Date/ Period End Date	
<u>2.1</u>	Rule 2.7 Announcement, dated as of May 29, 2015. Recommended Cash and Share Offer for Telecity Group plc by Equinix, Inc.	8-K	5/29/2015	2.1
2.2	Cooperation Agreement, dated as of May 29, 2015, by and between Equinix, Inc. and Telecity Group plc.	8-K	5/29/2015	2.2
2.3	Amendment to Cooperation Agreement, dated as of November 24, 2015, by and between Equinix, Inc. and Telecity Group plc.	10-K	12/31/2015	2.3
<u>2.4</u>	Transaction Agreement, dated as of December 6, 2016, by and between Verizon Communications Inc. and Equinix, Inc.	8-K	12/6/2016	2.1
<u>2.5</u>	Amendment No.1 to the Transaction Agreement, dated February 23, 2017, by and between Verizon communications Inc. and Equinix, Inc.	10-K	12/31/2016	2.5
2.6	Amendment No.2 to the Transaction Agreement, dated April 30, 2017, by and between Verizon Communications Inc. and Equinix, Inc.	8-K	5/1/2017	2.1
<u>3.1</u>	Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant, as amended to date.	10-K/A	12/31/2002	3.1
<u>3.2</u>	Certificate of Amendment to the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant	8-K	6/14/2011	3.1
3.3	Certificate of Amendment to the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant	8-K	6/11/2013	3.1
<u>3.4</u>	Certificate of Amendment to the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant	10-Q	6/30/2014	3.4
<u>3.5</u>	Certificate of Designation of Series A and Series A-1 Convertible Preferred Stock.	10-K/A	12/31/2002	3.3
<u>3.6</u>	Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant.	8-K	3/29/2016	3.1
<u>4.6</u>	Indenture, dated as of November 20, 2014, between Equinix, Inc. and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee	8-K	11/20/2014	4.1
4.16	Fifth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of September 20, 2017 among Equinix, Inc. and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee and	8-K	9/20/2017	4.2

Elavon Financial Services DAC, UK Branch, as paying agent

	Elavon Financial Services DAC, UK Branch, as paying agent	
4.17	Form of 2.875% Senior Notes due 2025 (see Exhibit 4.16)	
10.1	Fourth Amendment to Credit Agreement by and among Equinix, Inc., as borrower, the Guarantors (defined therein), the Lenders (defined therein) and Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent, dated August 15, 2017.	X
<u>31.1</u>	Chief Executive Officer Certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.	X
<u>31.2</u>	Chief Financial Officer Certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.	X
32.1	Chief Executive Officer Certification pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.	X
80		

Table of Contents

		Incorporated by Reference	
Exhibit Number	Exhibit Description	Filing Date/ Form Period End Date	Exhibit Filed Herewith
32.2	Chief Financial Officer Certification pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.		X
101.INS XBRL Instance Document.			X
101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.			X
101.CALXBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Document.			X
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Document.			X
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels Document.			X
101.PRE	EXBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Document.		X
81			

Table of Contents

EQUINIX, INC.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

EQUINIX, INC.

Date: November 3, 2017

By:/s/ KEITH D. TAYLOR
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Table of Contents

83

INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Exhibit Number Description of Document				
<u>10.1</u>	Fourth Amendment to Credit Agreement by and among Equinix, Inc., as borrower, the Guarantors (defined therein), the Lenders (defined therein) and Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent, dated August 15, 2017.			
31.1	Chief Executive Officer Certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.			
<u>31.2</u>	Chief Financial Officer Certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.			
<u>32.1</u>	Chief Executive Officer Certification pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.			
32.2	Chief Financial Officer Certification pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.			
101.INS XBRL Instance Document.				
101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.				
101.CALXBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Document.				
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Document.				
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels Document.				
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Document.				